Promotion of student engagement by online community college faculty

by

Alicia Vance Aguiar

A dissertation submitted to the graduate faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Education (Educational Leadership)

Program of Study Committee: Linda Serra Hagedorn, Major Professor Lorenzo Baber Ran Li Sarah Rodriguez Ann Marie VanDerZanden

The student author, whose presentation of the scholarship herein was approved by the program of study committee, is solely responsible for the content of this dissertation. The Graduate College will ensure this dissertation is globally accessible and will not permit alterations after a degree is conferred.

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

2017

Copyright © Alicia Vance Aguiar, 2017. All rights reserved.

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to the memory of my maternal grandmother, Julia Joyce Brashear (1902-1992), former Dean of Women at Hiram Scott Junior College, botanist, farmer, rancher, educator and lifelong learner in western Nebraska. Thank you for inspiring me to explore life with curiosity, challenge the establishment and let my voice be heard through education, teaching and singing.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF TABLES	vi
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vii
ABSTRACT	viii
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
Background of the Problem	2
Purpose of the Study	8
Research Questions.	9
Significance of the Study	10
Theoretical Framework	
Definition of Terms	14
Summary	
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	17
Reintroduction of the Problem/Selection of Literature	17
Evolution of Online Education	18
Perceptions of Online Education	20
Evolution of Online Faculty Roles	22
Online Faculty	
Adjunct Faculty	28
Online Faculty Training	
Characteristics of Online Students	32
Online Student Retention Problem	35
The Case for Student Engagement	37
Measuring Student Engagement in Higher Education	38
Online Student Engagement	
Measuring Online Student Engagement	
Faculty Definitions of Engagement	
Community of Inquiry Framework	
Framework Overview	
Researched Online Teaching Practices	51
Online Faculty Communication and Tools	
Summary	
CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY	59
Research Questions	59

Hypotheses	60
Research Design	61
Setting	61
Population and Sample	62
Survey Instrument	62
Pilot Study	64
Reliability and validity	65
Data Collection	65
Variables Used in the Study	66
Dependent variable	66
Independent Variables	67
Quantitative Data Analysis	69
Descriptive Analysis	70
Reliability Analysis	70
Independent sample <i>t</i> -test	70
Multiple Linear Regression	71
Qualitative Data Analysis	72
Limitations/Delimitations	72
Ethical Issues	
Significance of the Study	74
Summary	74
CHAPTER 4. FINDINGS	75
Missing Data Imputation	
Descriptive Analysis	
Reliability analysis	
Independent samples t-test	
Regression analysis	
Qualitative Analysis	
Summary	
•	
CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
Discussion	
Demographic Descriptive Analysis	
Teaching Demographic Descriptive Analysis	
Student Engagement Analysis	
Community of Inquiry Analysis	
Discussion of Independent <i>t</i> -tests	
Discussion of Regression Model	
Qualitative Summary Analysis	
Implications for Practice and Policy	107/

Recommendations for Future Research	110
Conclusion	112
REFERENCES	114
APPENDIX A. ONLINE STUDENT ENGAGEMENT SURVEY	136
APPENDIX B. SURVEY INTRODUCTION	140
APPENDIX C. SURVEY VARIABLE CODE BOOK	141
APPENDIX D IRB DOCUMENT	147

LIST OF TABLES

		Page
Table 2.1	Community of Inquiry Categories and Indicators	49
Table 3.1	Scales of the Demographic Characteristic Variables in this Study	67
Table 3.2	Scales of the Teaching Characteristic Variables in this Study	68
Table 4.1	Demographic Characteristics (n = 268)	76
Table 4.2	Teaching Characteristics (n = 268)	77
Table 4.3	Communication and Online Teaching Tools (n = 268)	78
Table 4.4	Means, Modes, Ranges and Standard Deviations of Teaching Demographic Variables (n = 268)	80
Table 4.5	Means and Standard Deviations of Engagement Variables (n = 256)	81
Table 4.6	Means and Standard Deviations Teaching Presence Variables (n = 260,	82
Table 4.7	Means and Standard Deviations Cognitive Presence Variables (n = 260,	83
Table 4.8	Means and Standard Deviations Social Presence Variables (n = 261,	84
Table 4.9	Summary of "Most Effective" Online Faculty Engagement Strategies (n = 212)	
Table 4.10	Reliability Analysis for Student Engagement Variable	86
Table 4.11	Reliability Analysis for Community of Inquiry Presence Variables	87
Table 4.12	Independent Sample t-test Results Comparing Teaching Variables an Online Student	
Table 4.13	Predictors of Online Student Engagement	90
Table 4.14	Summary of Faculty Definitions of Online Student Engagement (n = 211)	93

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my committee chair, Linda Serra Hagedorn and my committee members, Lorenzo Baber, Ran Li, Sarah Rodriguez, and Ann Marie VanDerZanden, for their guidance and support throughout the course of this research.

I express special gratitude to Todd Prusha, Executive Dean of Distance Education at Kirkwood Community College, and Larry Ebbers, who encouraged me to enter the Community College Leadership program and supported me every step of the way with sound advice and professional wisdom. I want to also offer my appreciation to those faculty and administrators who were willing to participate in my surveys and interviews, without whom, this dissertation would not have been possible.

Personally, I would also like to thank my friend Jason Fuemmeler for his ongoing support through this entire process. Finally, I express a special thanks to my children, Anica and Ayers, and my mother Nora Mae—all of whom sacrificed in ways never imagined. Thank you for believing that this could be accomplished. Dad, I wish you were here to see the completion of this life goal, but you never doubted for a moment that is was possible and I know you are proud.

ABSTRACT

Online higher education courses continue to attract students across the U.S. However, online student persistence, particularly in community colleges, continues to lag traditional delivery. It is well known that student engagement may lead to improved academic performance and persistence. Previous research has identified how faculty communication and teaching strategies promote student engagement, yet it is not always clear to what extent these strategies are implemented. In virtual education, faculty are often the primary connection online students have with the institution. Additional study was needed to determine to what extent online faculty implement strategies that promote student engagement and how faculty perceive and define online student engagement. This exploratory quantitative study sought to validate the Community of Inquiry framework, emphasizing online faculty teaching strategies that promote interactive teaching, cognitive and social presence. Using this framework, a survey instrument modified from previous publications was distributed to online faculty teaching in four community colleges in the Midwest. Survey responses provided data about faculty personal and teaching demographics, communication methods, and teaching strategies. In addition, definitions and perceptions of student engagement in their online courses were analyzed. There was high participation in the survey, a nearly 50% response rate. A large proportion of participants had received prior training in student engagement practices and consistently reported implementing strategies that promote teaching, cognitive and social presence. Teaching practices that promote social presence were found to be the most significant predictor of student engagement, yet these were least likely to have been implemented. This study affirms prior research connecting the

Community of Inquiry framework with perceived student engagement, but is the first to do so based on faculty data. Faculty definitions of online student engagement varied, but centered around active participation and interactions with faculty and other students. Implications from the study can be used to further hone teaching standards for online faculty that especially focus on social presence strategies. These efforts can contribute to improving online student performance and persistence through a consistent student engagement definition and distance education mission

Key Words: online students, online faculty, student engagement, online teaching, facultystudent communication, Community of Inquiry framework

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

"No generation has ever had to wait so little time for so much information" (Renard, 2005, p. 44). Access to information has completely transformed the role of faculty in education today. Online education is no longer a passing trend, but a mainstream education mode that has attracted higher education students in colleges and universities globally (Kentnor, 2015). Over the past twenty-five years, online education evolved from explosive growth in the for-profit education market into comprehensive inclusion in public and private institutions. It is estimated that more than 6 million higher education students in U.S. were enrolled in an at least one online course in 2015 (Allen & Seaman, 2017, p. 4) and two-thirds of degree-granting institutions offered distance learning options (Allen & Seaman, 2014). In 2013, 72.7% of students enrolled in currently active, degree-granting 2-year institutions were enrolled in some form of distance education; approximately 1.9 million students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2014). The growth of online courses in community colleges nationwide has continued and in some cases, enrollment online has outpaced the traditional classroom (Fisher, 2010, Allen & Seaman, 2017). With this growth, the approach to teaching and strategies utilized to achieve desirable student outcomes for online students has also shifted (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2009; Simpson, 2012).

According to John Sener (2012), author of *The Seven Futures of American Education: Improving Learning & Teaching in a Screen-Captured World*, the first era of online education was devoted to access, but the second era has the potential to improve education quality by shifting the way knowledge is "transmitted, preserved and generated" (Sener, 2012, p. 124). Unfortunately, student success and persistence in online courses continue to lag traditional course delivery (National Center for Education Statistics, 2014;

Allen & Seaman, 2015). The ultimate challenge for institutions is creating a virtual environment that best meets students' needs and promotes success, while providing a high-quality education in a cost-effective manner (Coates, James, & Baldwin, 2005). Understanding online faculty perceptions of student engagement and analyzing the extent to which student engagement strategies are implemented are critical to achieving this goal.

Background of the Problem

Globalization has provided opportunity for students worldwide to engage in flexible education delivery and this expansion has impacted higher education (Dabbagh, 2007). Public institutions have expanded the availability of courses delivered online both as a response to student demand and to increase enrollment (Allen & Seaman, 2015). The non-profit public sector has had the greatest recent growth in online higher education (Allen & Seaman, 2017). In 2015, 63% of higher education administrators predicted that online education would continue to be a significant part of their long-term strategic plan (Allen & Seaman, 2017; Allen, Seaman, Poulin, & Straut, 2016, p. 21). This expansion has increased competition for online students, and institutions are increasingly pressured to provide courses at an affordable rate and promote positive student outcomes, such as program completion and employment (Lorenzo, 2011; BestColleges.com, 2016).

As competition within the online higher education market increased, the quality of the online "student experience" has been promoted. Higher education experiences encompass how students feel about the quality of their institution, coursework, social experiences, and interaction with faculty and staff (Schindler, Puls-Elvidge, Welzant, & Crawford, 2015). Student experiences are an essential part of student engagement, which impacts persistence, satisfaction and overall learning (Kuh, Kinzie, Schuh, & Whitt, 2010; Stavredes & Herder, 2015). Decades of research studies have concluded that students' interactions during college

contribute more to learning than personal demographics or where they attend (Astin, 1975; Astin, 1984; Tinto, 1993; Kuh, 2003; Tinto, 2012). In the digital age, creating positive online experiences are equally important yet even more challenging and competitive (Rovai, 2003; Ludwig-Hardman & Dunlap, 2003). Online faculty play a key role in creating and managing the virtual student experience (Shelton & Saltsman, 2005; Simpson, 2012).

Community colleges serve a variety of students' education needs, including the provision of an affordable and flexible path toward a degree or technical career (Santos Laanan, Compton, & Friedel, 2006). Community colleges have embraced online education to meet the needs of large numbers of nontraditional students on career paths (Jaggars, Edgecombe, & Stacey, 2013). These students may choose this flexible option to accommodate multiple life roles while pursuing an education (Ludwig-Hardman & Dunlap, 2003; (Jaggars et al., 2013). Community colleges have an extensive history of providing distance education, yet institutional approaches to online education and faculty expectations may differ (Meyer, 2014). Community college faculty make up a significant portion of instructors teaching in distance education (Allen, Seaman, Lederman, & Jaschik, 2012).

Online courses attract an increasingly diverse set of learners (Dumais, Rizzuto, Cleary, & Dowden, 2013) with varied expectations about engagement and interaction with technology, academic coursework and faculty (Simpson, 2012). Increasingly, these students are "digital natives," where technology has been integrated into nearly every aspect of their lives. This means that these students think and process information and knowledge in fundamentally different ways than faculty teaching the courses (Prensky, 2001, p. 1). As a result, the ways faculty present information and manage an online course must be adjusted

(Meyer, 2014). At the same time, institutions must globally address the fast-paced changes to the virtual learning environment (Johnson & Berge, 2012; BestColleges.com, 2016).

Faculty in the United States are increasingly being required to teach online or in a hybrid setting to accommodate demand, but may be ill-equipped to do so (Otter et al., 2013; Allen & Seaman, 2015). There are compounding factors that may impact the ability of online faculty to provide the same quality of education as the traditional setting and effectively communicate and engage with students. These factors include inadequate faculty preparation (Batts, Pagliari, Mallett, & McFadden, 2010; Lichoro, 2015), disparate attitudes toward teaching online (Bolliger & Wasilik, 2009; Lloyd, Byrne, & McCoy, 2012; Allen & Seaman, 2015), and reliance on part-time faculty to teach online courses, especially in community colleges nationwide (Bedford, 2009; *The Condition of Education Indicator* Report, 2015; Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2014). Faculty may be trained in the technical aspects of the learning management system with less focus on successful teaching strategies (Lane, 2013). Faculty teaching online in community colleges may receive less training than those teaching in 4-year institutions (Meyer & Murrell, 2014).

Online faculty may lack the institutional support needed to create the optimal online experiences that promote learning and engagement (Batts, Pagliari, Mallett, & McFadden, 2010; Lloyd, Byrne, & McCoy, 2012.) Faculty and administrators report that online education practices have not been implemented consistently within institutions, nor has the approach been strategic (Lammers, Bryant, Michel, & Seaman, 2017). In fact, a recent Babson Research Survey report of higher education administrators indicated a decline in the inclusion of online education in the institution's strategic plan (Allen et al., 2016). In addition, in a survey of postsecondary online faculty and administrators, they reported that

while online faculty are key to successful online learning, they are "woefully undersupported" and resources are lacking (Lammers et al., 2017, p. 6)

Faculty perceptions about their preparedness to teach online and the ability to achieve successful student outcomes vary (Allen & Seaman, 2003; Haber & Mills, 2008; Lichoro, 2015). Allen at al. (2012) outlined two related misperceptions faculty have about online learning: quality cannot be controlled and learning cannot be assured. Online faulty have expressed concerns about student success and their ability to effectively communicate and achieve meaningful student learning outcomes (Lloyd, Byrne, & McCoy, 2012). Numerous studies indicate that faculty desire additional training (Bolliger & Wasilik, 2009; Batts et al., 2010; Lichoro, 2015; Lammers et al., 2017). Additionally, faculty have been found to be appreciative of training and support provided to enhance their skills and achieve success (Wingo, Ivankova, & Moss, 2017).

As more faculty are being asked to teach online, the virtual learning environment has introduced a new set of technical challenges (Brewer, DeJonge, & Stout, 2001). In early online education, the technological learning curve and use of the online learning management system was a considerable challenge for students (Brewer, DeJonge, & Stout, 2001), faculty (Wingo, Ivankova, & Moss, 2017) and institutions (Coates et al., 2005). Initially, online faculty spent considerable time supporting students' technical needs rather than providing academic support (Harasim, 2000). Technology has evolved and become integrated into day-to-day living (Prensky, 2001). However, students who utilize their smart phone for social media may not be adept with online learning systems (Stott, 2016). The role for online faculty has moved from one of information transmission (lecture-style pedagogy) to a supporting role in navigating through information presented in a variety of mediums

(Simpson, 2012). At the same time, some research findings indicate that online faculty have access to learning system tools but are not using the technological tools effectively (Revere & Kovach, 2011; Jaggars, Edgecombe, & Stacey, 2013).

Student retention is a complex problem that has been extensively studied (Hagedorn, 2012). Retention models are complex because they contain multiple variables. Online students face unique challenges that impact success and as a result, have a higher rate of stopping out than those attending face-to-face (Rovai, 2003; Simpson, 2012; Allen & Seaman, 2015; Bettinger & Loeb, 2017). Students are faced with multiple barriers to persistence in online courses – situational, institutional, dispositional and epistemological (Stanford-Bowers, 2008; Park & Choi, 2009). Data about student retention in online courses has been found to be determined by their enrollment – part-time, exclusively online, and enrollment in developmental courses (Jaggars et al., 2013; James, Swan, & Daston, 2016). Online students often feel isolated and have a more difficult time staying connected with the institution (LaPadula, 2003; Jaggars et al., 2013; Dixson, 2015). Online student success in community colleges poses unique challenges for these institutions and serves students already at high risk of stopping out. In many cases, these students simply fail to withdraw from the online course (Jaggars et al., 2013, p. 2). The fact that students drop out from online courses at any point in the semester or their learning program also contributes to the problem (Bawa, 2016).

Retention of online students has a substantial financial impact on the economic condition of the institution (Cuseo, 2010). As public funding continues to decline, institutions such as community colleges rely heavily on the tuition and financial aid income of students (Mitchell, Leachman, & Masterson, 2016). Administrators in higher education are

pressured to employ cost-effective course delivery modes by instructors that promote engagement and retention (Lorenzo, 2011). "Faculty are the key to improving student learning productivity that can, in turn, help address the financial crunch of less state resources and more students with more needs" (Meyer, 2014, p. 577).

Scholars have described student engagement using a variety of definitions (Coates, 2007, Kuh et al., 2010; Trowler, 2010; Quaye & Harper, 2015). "Student engagement pertains to the time and physical energy that students expend on activities in their academic experience" is one commonly cited definition (Kuh, 2003; Robinson & Hullinger, 2008, p. 101). Researchers make the case for promoting student engagement to improve learning (directly or indirectly), retain students, and promote equity and social justice. A plethora of empirical evidence has confirmed that it is worthwhile to measure and determine ways to promote student engagement, especially for those students who may be most vulnerable to stopping out (Quaye & Harper, 2015).

The Community of Inquiry learning framework has been used extensively in research to better understand the creation of higher order learning and student engagement in online education (Meyer, 2014; Garrison, 2016). The framework has been applied in hundreds of studies and validated by various instruments and research designs (Arbaugh et al., 2008; Garrison et al., 2009; Garrison, Cleveland-Innes, & Fung, 2010; Shea & Bidjerano, 2012; Meyer, 2014; Garrison, 2016; Garrison, 2017). This framework describes the virtual learning process by dividing it into three overlapping and interdependent senses of "presence": teaching presence, social presence and cognitive presence (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2000, p. 88). "The model proposes that engagement in learning as well as the learner itself is the result of a well-designed and facilitated online course (teaching presence), interaction

with the course content and other students focused on learning (social presence), and focused problem exploration and resolution (cognitive presence)" (Meyer, 2014, p. 17-18).

Most student engagement research has focused on students as the primary stakeholder, and rightfully so, as students are the primary "customer" in higher education. Previous researchers contend that in online education, faculty have a significant impact on the student experience and engagement (Jackson et al., 2010; Orso & Doolittle, 2011; Simpson, 2012). Therefore, it is important to understand how online faculty employ strategies to achieve and improve engagement. The Community of Inquiry framework provides a way to evaluate the quality of online education (Meyer, 2014). However, previous studies have primarily analyzed student data. In depth study is needed to determine how online faculty perceive student engagement and employ Community of Inquiry teaching practices to promote these outcomes (Tabata & Johnsrud, 2008; Meyer, 2014).

Purpose of the Study

An abundance of research has indicated that instructors in an online setting have a significant opportunity to promote student engagement and ultimately impact student success and retention (Simpson, 2004; Robinson & Hullinger, 2008; Allen, Seaman, Lederman, & Jaschik, 2012; Meyer, 2014). The purpose of this exploratory quantitative study was to measure online community college faculty perceptions of student engagement in their online courses, and determine to what extent online faculty report using teaching strategies that have been previously shown to promote online student engagement. These teaching strategies were derived from the Community of Inquiry model, categorizing aspects of teaching, cognitive and social presence introduced by Garrison, Anderson and Archer (2000) and expanded upon by many other researchers (Arbaugh et al., 2008; Nagel & Kotze, 2010; Richardson et al., 2012; Shea & Bidjerano, 2012). This study sought to identify faculty

perceptions of online student engagement in their own online courses, teaching strategies employed that are known to improve online engagement, and definitions of online student engagement.

Research Questions

This study answered the following research questions:

- RQ1: What are the demographic characteristics of community college faculty teaching online who participated in the survey?
- RQ2: Among survey participants, to what degree of engagement do community college faculty perceive for students in the online courses they teach?
- RQ3: Among survey participants, to what extent are community college faculty encouraging online student engagement through teaching practices supported by the Community of Inquiry framework?
- RQ4: 4a. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring online faculty perceptions of student engagement?
- 4b. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote teaching presence?
- 4c. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote cognitive presence?
- 4d. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote social presence?
- RQ5: Are there any significant differences among survey participants in reported student engagement based on full-time or part-time employment, highest degree attained, orientation to online teaching, or training in student engagement practices?

10

RQ6: Among survey participants, to what extent do the demographic characteristics and online teaching practices predict perceived online student engagement?

RQ7: How do online community college faculty define online student engagement in their courses?

Significance of the Study

This study is both significant and timely for multiple reasons. First, student retention in online courses continues to be a complex problem for students and institutions as community college students continue to enroll online in higher numbers (Allen & Seaman, 2017). Previous research indicates that online students, particularly in the community college setting, are struggling to be engaged with learning or the institution (Robinson & Hullinger, 2008; Lorenzo, 2011; Bawa, 2016). Institutional approaches for addressing online student engagement have not always been systematic (Lammers, Bryant, Michel, & Seaman, 2017). Best practices and expertise of successful online programs have not been consistently mainstreamed into institutional planning (Kunstler, 2007). This study answers important questions about the extent to which online faculty in multiple community colleges have implemented online student engagement strategies within their own courses and the factors that influenced perceptions of online student engagement.

Second, because much of previous research about online student engagement has focused on students, research is needed to understand how faculty perceive student engagement. Huber (1998) believed that community college faculty members are one of the most important groups to evaluate as "community college faculty stand out from many of their professional colleagues not only because of their size and diversity of their sector of higher education, but also because teaching ...is the heart of their profession (Huber, 1998, p. 12). It is unclear how faculty perceive the engagement problem and work toward

implementing strategies to improve even if they have been trained in best practices (Tirrell & Quick, 2012). A significant body of research has been published that support teaching and communication strategies found to promote engagement, particularly for online students (Meyer, 2014). Previous similar research determined that faculty surveyed about teaching were not consistently aware of research-supported practices (Tirrell & Quick, 2012). There is need to determine which teaching practices are in place in online courses, particularly in the community college setting since online courses continue be offered at an increasing rate (Fisher, 2010; Meyer, 2014; Allen, Seaman, Poulin, & Straut, 2016). These findings may assist online course designers and administrators in guiding course development and evaluation, as well as faculty professional development so practices can be implemented in a consistent manner.

In addition, as the offering of online courses continues to expand, faculty are increasingly being called upon to teach online (Lammers, Bryant, Michel, & Seaman, 2017). Faculty who teach online approach their positions with varied experiences and knowledge about teaching and engaging students (Tirrell & Quick, 2012). Some may be full-time faculty who teach exclusively online, while others may only teach one online course as adjunct faculty. In the community college setting, adjunct faculty are relied upon to provide online education yet may have less time and energy to focus on the endeavor (Bedford, 2009; Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2014). Understanding how online faculty demographics and experiences impact student engagement strategies will help community college administrators adapt professional development and orientation for all online faculty.

Finally, with dire funding situations for community colleges, efficient and effective administration of online courses becomes even more critical (Allen & Seaman, 2015).

Community colleges are faced with ongoing declines in state-supported funding, being asked to do more with less (Kahlenberg, 2015). Online enrollment provides a way to attract a variety of students beyond the physical campus, and retention of students becomes even more critical. Because more than a quarter of all community college students are enrolled in at least one online course, it is critical to promote success for students in these courses (Allen & Seaman, 2017). Due to increasing online course demand, an increasing number of community college faculty may be asked to teach online with little preparation for the job (Lammers et al., 2017). In addition, as faculty compensation has increased, this has offset the economic benefit of online courses from an institutional perspective (Lloyd, Byrne, & McCoy, 2012). Therefore, it becomes even more critical to understand online teaching practices to promote efficiency and effectiveness.

Theoretical Framework

When virtual education was in its infancy, Garrison, Anderson and Archer (2000) recognized the unique learning process for online learners and developed a conceptual framework to analyze and promote a successful higher education experience for online students. Their initial goal was to create a template for analyzing text-based communications within virtual courses to develop an educational community of inquiry and mediate critical reflection and discourse (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2000, p. 103). The Community of Inquiry model focused on teachers and students as joint participants in the educational experience. Interactions between teachers and students were grouped within three overlapping core elements – teaching presence, cognitive presence and social presence (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2000, p. 88). Within each of these elements, categories and

indicators were included that could be applied by faculty and institutions within their distance education courses to evaluate higher learning.

The Community of Inquiry framework was used to guide the variables (engagement activities) measured in this study. In this framework, the goal is to create a community of inquiry where students are fully engaged in collaboratively constructing meaningful and worthwhile knowledge (Garrison et al., 2000). Redmond and Lock (2006) applied the framework to describe faculty actions that promoted collaborative learning. These included being proactive, flexible in planning, anticipating challenges, and developing clear communications. (Redmond & Lock, 2006, p. 274). Because much of the prior research was qualitative, Arbaugh et al. (2008) developed and validated a survey instrument to measure students' perceptions of presence, which included online instructor behaviors, application of course content and perceptions of social interactions (Arbaugh et al., 2008). Some causal relationships have been determined indicating the interconnectedness of the three forms of presence and the impact on online student learning (Garrison, Cleveland-Innes, & Fung, 2010).

Garrison, Anderson and Archer (2009) published a retrospective summary of the first ten years' application of the Community of Inquiry framework in online higher education. This summary cited support for the model through validated instruments and the authors promoted continued use of the framework moving forward (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2009). While most studies about this framework have focused on student stakeholders, a small number have gathered data from online faculty (Shea & Bidjerano, 2012). Other research has focused on only one aspect of the model – cognitive, teaching or social presence. These studies have provided key insight into faculty behaviors and further support

the need for expanding research focused in this area on faculty and encompassing all aspects of presence.

This quantitative study evaluates the connection between the Community of Inquiry framework and faculty teaching strategies that have been found to achieve a higher level of learning for students and as a result, improve online student engagement.

Definition of Terms

Cognitive Presence: The process of both reflection and discourse in the initiation, construction and confirmation of meaningful learning outcomes (Garrison, 2003, p. 50). Community of Inquiry framework: Generic and coherent structure of a transaction educational experience whose core function is to manage and monitor the dynamic for thinking and learning collaboratively (Garrison, 2017, p. 24)

Distance education: The effort of providing access to learning to those who are physically distant (Moore, Dickson-Deane, & Galyen, 2011, p. 129).

Distance Learning: A mode of learning which is learner controlled; where the learner is in charge of their own learning and they monitor, and manage the cognitive and contextual aspects of their learning (Moore et al., 2011, p. 130)

E-learning: The utilization of electronically mediated asynchronous and synchronous communication for the purpose of thinking and learning collaboratively (Garrison, 2017, p. 2).

Face-to-face students: Students enrolled in a course that meets in person and less than 30% of the course content is delivered online (Allen & Seaman, 2015).

Online learning: Students enrolled at a school taking one, some, or all courses online (Allen & Seaman, 2003, p. 6).

Online students: Students enrolled in courses in which 80% or more of the content is delivered online (Allen & Seaman, 2015).

Persistence: The behavior of continuing action despite the presence of obstacles and the length of time an adult attends classes (Rovai, 2003, p. 1-2).

Social Presence: The ability of participants in the Community of Inquiry to project their personal characteristics into the community, thereby presenting themselves as 'real people' (Garrison et al., 2000, p. 89).

Student Engagement: The amount of time and effort students put into their studies and other activities that lead to the experiences and outcomes that constitute student success (Kuh, Kinzie, Schuh, & Whitt, 2010, p. 9).

Stopping out: Students who began with a plan of student, however, for some reason, withdraw and leave for a period of time, and then reenroll to complete their degrees (Simpson, 2012)

Teaching Presence: The instructional design and organization, facilitation of discourse, and direct instruction that online instructors "do" (Shea, Li, & Pickett, 2006, p. 176).

Summary

Chapter 1 outlined the purpose of this research, complexity of the student engagement problem, educational framework, and research questions addressed in this quantitative study. Chapter 2 will expand upon and summarize the literature that supports the background of the problem, the evolution of online teaching, the online student retention and engagement problem, the role of online faculty, and review how engagement has been measured. In addition, application of the Community of Inquiry model and literature citing online teaching and communication strategies that promote online engagement will be summarized. Chapter 3 will describe the setting, sample, survey instrument and quantitative methodology used, as

well as limitations of the study. Chapter 4 will describe the statistical findings from the survey results. Finally, Chapter 5 will include discussion of the descriptive, reliability, comparative, regression, and qualitative analysis, and conclude with suggestions for practical application and recommendations for further study.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Reintroduction of the Problem/Selection of Literature

Student engagement has long been studied and proven to impact positive student outcomes in academic performance, satisfaction and persistence (Astin, 1984; Tinto, 1987; Kuh, 2003). Online education poses a unique set of challenges for students and faculty. Students often rely entirely on online faculty as the key connection to the course and the institution (Harasim, 2000). Faculty teaching online may be poorly equipped to utilize teaching and communication strategies that promote student engagement (Peters, 2011; Tirrell & Quick, 2012). The research summarized below focuses on the history of these online education challenges, evolution of the role of online faculty, faculty perceptions about online teaching and engagement, and online faculty training. An overview of the student engagement problem, definitions and measures of student engagement will be presented. Finally, applications of the Community of Inquiry framework, as well as those teaching practices that promote student engagement will be compared. When possible, literature about fully online courses rather than blended courses was selected. In addition, studies focusing on community college faculty were included when available. In depth research about learning management systems was not included, as this was not central to this study's research questions.

Literature for this review was initiated by conducting searches in university databases, EBSCOhost, ERIC, and Google Scholar. Studies reviewed include both empirical and qualitative research areas. Search words and phrases for this literature review included online student engagement, distance education, online faculty, faculty-student communication, faculty perceptions, Community of Inquiry framework, teaching presence,

cognitive presence, social presence, and online teaching. Resources were selected primarily from the years 2005 and more recent except for those that provided a historic and theoretical background of the problem.

Evolution of Online Education

A better understanding of the current state of online education, the role of the instructor, and online student engagement can be gained by briefly delving into the history and evolution of online education, enrollment and teaching. This section provides a historical background of several key issues pertinent to this research: 1) history and challenges posed by online education, 2) perceptions of online education from an institutional perspective, 3) evolution of online faculty roles.

Several authors have published descriptions of the evolution of online education and its challenges. The ability of students and instructors to communicate and interact via distance education has evolved significantly (Wallace, 2003). The first completely online undergraduate course originated in 1984, and the first online degree program in 1986 (Harasim, 2000). Since that time, considerable transformations in online learning have taken place (Harasim, 2000; Wallace, 2003; Kentnor, 2015). Prior to online education, two of the most common forms of distance education were correspondence courses and television broadcasts. These courses included written exchanges between instructor and student but provided limited feedback and interaction opportunities (Kentnor, 2015). The virtual learning evolution led to new opportunities for interaction between the students and the student and instructor (Harasim, 2000; Garrison et al., 2000). Expansion into online education posed new questions about the interactive role of the teaching and responsive communication aspects of the online classroom (Wallace, 2003)

Harasim (2000) outlined the paradigm shift of attitudes toward online learning, focusing on the very nature of learning in distance education. She explained that both distance and online learning were conducted anytime, any place and were largely text-based. However, the key distinction for online courses was the group communication phenomenon, more like the dynamic created in the traditional classroom. The evolution of online education introduced entirely new modes of educational delivery, learning domains and principles, learning processes and outcomes, and new educational roles and entities (Harasim, p. 45). Initially, the traditional learning model was based on transmission of information and less on collaborative learning and interaction. According to Harasim (2000), the weakness of this model soon became evident and further exploration expanded beyond information transmission into online pedagogy.

Wallace's (2003) literature review of online education delved into the complex nature of online teaching and aspects of student engagement, identified as a factor in student success and retention. Student engagement in distance education was initially measured by student interactions with the instructor, other students, and the learning management system (Wallace, 2003). However, focusing on interactions provided a limited view of student engagement and failed to address student learning. Wallace (2003) summarized several impacts on student learning and satisfaction. First, instructors in online courses fulfilled multiple roles and these included moderating discussions, managing the course flow, and responding to students. Two critical aspects that impacted learning and student satisfaction were an instructor's sense of presence and immediacy (Wallace, 2003, p. 271). Second, substantial evidence supported the combination of social presence, student interaction, teacher presence, and online community to create an optimal environment for student

learning and satisfaction (Wallace, 2003). This summary further supported the Community of Inquiry framework (Garrison et al., 2000) used extensively to evaluate online learning.

Perceptions of Online Education

Allen and Seaman (2003 - 2017) have published annual reports about the condition of online learning in U.S. higher education through quantitative data collected and analyzed by the Babson Research Group. Their data on online enrollment, activities and attitudes are based on survey responses from academic leaders representing more than 2,500 U.S. colleges and universities. In 2012, this research group incorporated the Department of Education's Integrated Postsecondary Education Survey (IPEDS) data when this was added to the Department's statistics. Their publications provide a long-term annual snapshot of how online enrollment has grown and how faculty and administrators have embraced online education (Babson Research Group Website, 2017).

Initially the analysis of online education data focused on embracing the new technology and path toward learning. In their initial 2003 report, Allen and Seaman measured how students, faculty and institutions embraced online learning. The quality of online learning and whether outcomes would match that of traditional instruction were questioned by stakeholders (Allen & Seaman, 2003). Continued growth in online education in both the non-profit and profit institutions was predicted. One fifth of administrators perceived that the quality of online courses would surpass traditional instruction over the next three years. However, administrators' perceptions of faculty attitudes about the quality of online education were low and findings about faculty varied, depending on the extent of online offerings in that institutions (Allen & Seaman, 2003).

Perceptions of online education only improved slightly as online education exploded. Five years after the initial online summary report, Allen and Seaman (2008) found that online

enrollment had more than doubled, with a 12% increase in the previous year alone. They attributed this increase to higher fuel costs and rising unemployment because of the U.S. economic recession. With this explosive growth, Allen and Seaman (2008) analyzed data about administrators' attitudes and faculty motivations for teaching online. Both administrators and faculty agreed that meeting the needs of the students who were demanding this teaching mode was the highest motivator for online education (Allen & Seaman, 2008). They found that faculty who were required to teach online were the least motivated and were also most concerned about student-centered issues with success. Even by 2011, faculty acceptance about the legitimacy and value of online education had only improved by only six percentage points between 2002 and 2009.

Even today, as online enrollment continues to increase, challenges with perceptions and attitudes about online education still exist. In their most recent summary, Allen and Seaman (2017) provided an update about enrollment and faculty acceptance of online education. Enrollment in online courses at colleges and universities has continued to increase, with 29.7% of all higher education students enrolled in at least one online course in 2015 (p. 11). There continues to be considerable online growth for public institutions, while for-profit enrollment has declined (Allen, et al., 2017, p.4). For public 2-year institutions, enrollment was consistent from 2012 – 2015 (p. 16). In evaluating institutional perceptions, only 29.4% of chief academic officers in higher education institutions believed their faculty accepted the value of online education, and this was a decline since 2004 (p. 6). One third of these administrators cited faculty as a significant obstacle to success (p. 27). This report further affirms the timeliness and importance of this research study: uncovering faculty perceptions and practices in teaching online.

Evolution of Online Faculty Roles

Through the evolution of online education, distinct challenges for faculty have been identified as they face their teaching roles. Initially, there was a failure on the part of educators and administrators to recognize the distinct difference between the online and traditional teaching and the learning environment. Shelton and Saltsman (2005) reported that the most common complaints from online faculty were a lack of understanding of online teaching methods, lack of institutional support, and skepticism about the quality of education (Shelton & Saltsman, 2005). In addition, perceived burdens were placed on online faculty to manage course tasks beyond the context of direct instruction, with considerable administrative, organizational, technical, and pedagogical challenges (Harasim, 2000).

Often, faculty were faced with helping students manage information overload and evaluating the quality of information provided as they navigated through the vast new virtual learning world (Harasim, 2000).

Over time, the identity of the "virtual professor" was formed. Harasim (2000) described the virtual professor as "an educator who chose to teach online or in addition to teaching traditional classes" (Harasim, 2000, p. 57). Her studies indicated that virtual professors had to learn how to facilitate and engage rather than simply lecture and present information. She found that the instructor took on the role of participant and more ownership was placed on the student (Harasim, 2000, p. 58). Key roles of faculty included course moderation, mediation and facilitation, with the goal of creating "courses that are constructional or conversational, and discourse and teamwork created a sense of commitment" (Harasim, 2000, p. 53).

The role of the online instructors evolved from content facilitator to a focused effort toward higher learning and engagement (Wallace, 2003). Early views of online teaching

focused on instructors as facilitating or moderating coursework. The term "facilitating" implied that instructor knowledge of subject matter was limited and Harasim (2000) argued that subject matter knowledge was just as important in effective teaching. Wallace (2003) emphasized the critical nature of faculty interactions with students, beyond the flow of content within the course. He also named a key problem with online student learning, which was failure to move students toward true knowledge building. Solutions proposed in this summary of early research included the promotion of social presence, student interaction, teaching presence and sense of community (Wallace, 2003).

Expansion of access to information through technology impacted faculty roles in online teaching. Students' 24-hour course access changed demands students had about receiving answers to questions and feedback from instructors (Young, 2006; Dennen, Durabi, & Smith, 2007; Orso & Doolittle, 2011; Stott, 2016). In addition, access to nearly unlimited resources required the online instructor to help students' process and make sense of information beyond the virtual classroom and the textbook (Harasim, 2000). Text-based communication led to large volumes of text to read, increasing the time involved with online teaching (Conceicao, 2006; Stott, 2016). Positively, the computer-mediated environment allowed instructors to create customizable learning environments best suited to their topic (Harasim, 2000).

Learning management systems are essential to the delivery of online courses, and faculty interaction and acceptance of technology has been studied (Coates et al., 2005).

Wingo, Ivankova and Moss (2017) conducted a literature review about faculty acceptance of technology in online education over a twenty-year span (1995-2015). Using the Technology Acceptance Model, they focused on perceptions of ease of use, usefulness, image as an

online instructor, job relevance and output quality. Primary concerns identified over this time-span were effective communication, technical proficiency, legitimate achievement of learning outcomes and uncertainly about expectations and evaluation of online teaching.

Positive outcomes were that technology allowed faculty to have flexible teaching schedules and location, professional growth in learning new technology and access to training.

Finally, they summarized that as faculty gained more experience, they could better adapt to technology changes, and perceptions of mastery of technology and the learning management system improved teaching satisfaction (Wingo, Ivankova, & Moss, 2017).

Online Faculty

The evolution of online education has transformed online faculty employment, characteristics, perceptions, and satisfaction (Conciecao, 2006; Bolliger & Wasilik, 2009; BestColleges, 2016). This summary of literature provides insight about the online faculty population and origins of online teaching expectations.

Employment of faculty teaching online has changed over the past two decades. Initially, faculty were asked to teach online courses in addition to traditional courses and adapt accordingly (Harasim, 2000). Then, exclusively online institutions led to creation of full-time online faculty positions (Allen & Seaman, 2014; Stewart, Goodson, & Miertschin, 2010; Mitchell, Leachman, & Masterson, 2016). Over the past decade, the hiring of part-time faculty to teach online has continued to increase to meet course delivery demands in a cost-effective manner. Continued reliance on more part-time faculty to teach online is predicted (BestColleges, 2016; Allen & Seaman, 2017).

Two phenomenological case studies have provided further insight about the characteristics of the online teaching experiences (Conceicao, 2006; Stewart et al., 2010). Conciecao (2006) described the changing teaching role and work intensity. Faculty in her

study described the time involved in organizing the course, meeting different learning styles, providing material in advance and especially, the time required to communicate effectively and provided feedback. Faculty thought about their online roles differently – as a partnership. "Knowledge becomes an activity shared by the online learning community. Expertise is part of a collective effort between learners and the instructor" (p. 44.) Stewart et al. (2010) also emphasized the importance of online faculty characteristics as being good time managers and avoiding procrastination. Other successful qualities included being adaptive, technologically literate, able to work without social reinforcement, and having an independent working style (Stewart et al., p. 189).

Barriers about online education and teaching have been measured and analyzed.

Lloyd, Byrne and McCoy (2012) identified perceived online education barriers in one public

4-year institution in the southwest U.S. In their sample of 75 faculty (90% full-time), 78%

had completed a mandated statewide online training course called "Facilitated Online

Learning" (Lloyd, Byrne, & McCoy, 2012, p. 3). Barriers were classified into institutional, training and technology, interpersonal and cost/benefit analysis. Consistent with their literature review, those faculty with the least experience in online education perceived greater barriers, as did faculty who were older. Overall, the time commitment of teaching online was the most frequently cited and highly rated barrier to teaching online (Lloyd et al., 2012).

Mitchell, Parlamis and Claiborne (2015) summarized literature about faculty avoidance of online education applying the Transtheoretical Model of Change. "Faculty, who are both the recipients and agents of change, must be open to online education to increase the likelihood of its successful implementation" (p. 354). They emphasized recognizing sources of faculty resistance including cultural assumptions, fear of the

unknown, fear of disruption in personal relationships and concerns about the external impact of change (p. 357). Based on their analysis, Mitchell et al., (2015) made six recommendations moving through the precontemplation and preparation stages of change. These included being clear about online faculty roles, validating fears, encouraging faculty to express their opinions, providing meaningful data about online outcomes, and finally, revising training and support (Mitchell et al., 2015).

Windes and Lesht (2014) studied the motivating and inhibitive factors that may draw or drive away faculty from online teaching. Previous literature identified motivators such as teaching with innovative technology, the ability to respond to student demands, flexible schedules, support in instructional design and additional income. Inhibiting factors included concerns with the quality of online education, the time involved and potential loss of contact with students (Windes & Lesht, 2014). They surveyed faculty (n=342) teaching in two-year, four-year, public and private institutions about their experience and factors that influenced their choice of online teaching. They discovered that experience teaching online led to improved perceptions about online education overall. Primary motivators of online faculty in all institutions were first, meeting the needs of students and second, market demand for online courses to remain competitive in higher education. Inhibitors included losing contact with students and lack of release time to teach online. Of interest was the finding that community college faculty expressed a negative shift in institutional attitude toward online teaching (Windes & Lesht, 2014).

Stott (2016) painted a portrait of the online faculty in his reflections of a "lonely, brave, and rather exposed" online instructor (p.51). He described ongoing challenges of online teaching in a review of previous literature. Comparing student engagement and

conclusions about his own online course, his findings concurred with Windes & Lesht (2014), Conceicao (2006) and Otter (2013). The time involved in online teaching was extensive and underestimated (Stott, 2016). In addition, Stott (2016) expressed concerns that poor student engagement posed risks not only to the student, but also the instructor. Poorly engaged students rated instructor effectiveness as low. Students taking traditional courses and online courses simultaneously consistently rated online courses lower. Lagging student success and negative feedback may impact faculty perceptions of recognition and reward associated with teaching and lead to higher burnout (Stott, 2016). At the same time, students wanted faculty to teach and provide information rather than take ownership over their own learning (Stott, 2016).

Technology has also shaped perceptions of online education, as previously reviewed by Wingo, Ivankova and Moss (2017). Tabata and Jonsrud (2008) measured faculty use and attitudes about technology in a 10-campus public university system. Faculty with higher technological proficiency, viewed technology as relevant and meaningful. These faculty were more likely to participate in and encourage distance education and perceived their instructional skills as being higher than those in traditional education delivery alone (Tabata & Johnsrud, 2008). These findings are consistent with published research of Liaw, Huang, and Chen (2007) and Otter et al. (2013). Liaw et al. (2007) reported high perceived enjoyment, usefulness and self-efficacy toward e-learning among online faculty overall. Otter et al. (2013) compared faculty and student perceptions of online and traditional course delivery. Faculty with more favorable perceptions of advanced technology also had more favorable perceptions of online course effectiveness and technology ease of use (Otter et al., 2013).

Online faculty satisfaction is one of the five pillars of the Online Learning

Consortium's Quality Framework, promoting quality online education nationwide

(www.onlinelearningconsortium.org). Bolliger & Wasilik (2009) discovered in their survey

research of 102 online faculty that student-related factors were more important to satisfaction
than instructor or institutional-related factors. Student success was important to faculty, and

"The majority of faculty believed that their online students are actively involved in their

learning, participate at a good level, and communicate actively with course instructors."

(p.113). The impact of student success on faculty satisfaction concurs with Stott (2016) as

previously noted.

Adjunct Faculty

Utilization of adjunct faculty online is extensive and impacted by increasing course demand and financial constraints within institutions. Full-time faculty are not always able to fill the gap in course demand (Mandernach, Register & O'Donnell, 2015). Use of adjunct faculty increased as institutions faced challenges in meeting the employment guidelines of the Affordable Care Act and the number of hours assigned to adjunct faculty were limited (Mandernach et al., 2015). Over the past decade, fewer adjunct faculty are working in the private sector and are instead employed at more than one academic institution (BestColleges.com, 2016). In community colleges, the dramatic growth of online education has created a challenge for institutions to have adequate faculty to meet course demand (Allen & Seaman, 2013; BestColleges, 2016).

There is debate about whether adjunct faculty can provide the quality of online education as full-time faculty (Shelton & Saltzman, 2005; Mueller, Mandernach, & Sanderson, 2013). For example, one such study compared the outcomes of online students enrolled in 396 sections of an introductory course taught by both full-time and adjunct

faculty. Those students taught by full-time faculty had improved success rate, lower withdrawal rate and slightly higher mean course grades (Mueller et al., 2013, p. 344). In a special report from the Center for Community College Student Engagement (CCCSE) (2014), their survey of community college faculty indicated that part-time faculty spent less time providing feedback to students and preparing for class, and referred fewer students to support services (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2014).

Bedford (2009) has provided a thorough description of the "professional adjunct" in her qualitative study investigating the motivations and demographics of online faculty who are employed part-time in multiple institutions. She defined full-time adjunct faculty as a "third group of instructor" (p. 2) who do not fall within the traditional full-time and adjunct categories and complicates the faculty-institution relationship. Her findings indicated that those faculty teaching full-time in multiple institutions did so because online teaching fit into their teaching style. In addition, they reported adequate preparation for online teaching to fill this niche and were committed to online quality instruction (Bedford, 2009).

Increased use of part-time faculty also supports the need for consistent online institutional policies and teaching practices (Harasim, 2000; Mueller et al., 2013). Peters et al. (2011) identified that adjunct faculty, particularly those teaching in technical programs, lacked training on pedagogical/andragogic teaching strategies. Mueller et al. (2013) recommended that institutional policies be developed to encourage adjunct faculty to be invested in in the resources beyond the contracted online teaching expectations. In addition, they recommended that additional training focused on adjunct faculty include clear expectations for teaching practices (Mueller et al., 2013).

Online Faculty Training

This study does not focus specifically on the extent or quality of training online faculty have received but does inquire about whether participants have received trained about teaching practices that promote student engagement. Therefore, it is of value to expand briefly on how training for online faculty has evolved and examples of the degree to which it has been implemented within institutions, particularly community colleges.

Since the inception of online education, prevalence of faculty training and perceptions of preparedness for teaching have varied (Haber & Mills, 2008; Meyer & Murrell, 2014). In their annual institutional survey of online education (public, private, 4-year and 2-year institutions), Allen and Seaman (2011) found that although the approach to training online faculty for teaching was inconsistent, there was considerable improvement in the number of institutions offering online faculty training (Allen & Seaman, 2011). Most institutions reported providing internal training courses (72%) and online mentoring (58%). Larger institutions and those with exclusively online programs were much more likely to have training programs in place than those without them (Allen & Seaman, 2011, p. 21).

The focus of training for online faculty has shifted since online education has expanded. Technical training on the learning management system has long been the primary focus in preparing faculty for online teaching (Wolf, 2006). Since the inception of online education, efforts have moved toward utilizing the tools within the learning management system in ways that engage students, such as allowing students to see, hear and get to know their teacher despite the distance between them (Jaggars et al., 2013, p. 3). Meyer and Murrell (2014) found the degree of emphasis on teaching pedagogies versus online teaching tools was dependent on the type of institution and emphasis on online pedagogies surpassed teaching tools.

Meyer and Murrell (2014) reported variability in the approach to training, but consistency in the content of online faculty training in their study of 39 higher education institutions during the 2011-2012 academic year. Nearly all institutions reported that online faculty training included assessment of student learning, creation of online community, accommodation of different student learning styles, optimal instructional design and effective use of the learning management system (Meyer & Murrell, 2014, p. 8). This list is consistent with the training areas that Batts et al. (2010) reported for community college faculty in a statewide system.

Findings about training for faculty teaching online in community colleges have been reported. Meyer and Murrell (2014) found that 2-year institutions offered training less frequently than 4-year institutions. Batts et al. (2010) reported that 58% of community college faculty had not received off-campus training for online teaching in the past year. Consistent with Allen and Seaman (2012), Batts et al., (2010) reported that faculty expressed the need for enhanced or additional training for online teaching. Lichoro (2015) conducted a qualitative study of online community college faculty to describe their experiences in transitioning to online teaching. In his unpublished findings, faculty concurred that as they transitioned to teaching online, they felt ill prepared to teach in this setting (p. ix). Meyer (2014) found in her qualitative study that the online community college faculty wanted additional training about using online tools more effectively with diverse students.

Studies have been conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of online faculty training programs by measuring faculty perceptions and student engagement outcomes (Covington et al., 2005; Bigatel & Williams, 2015). Covington et al. (2005) studied a professional development pilot program for training online faculty for professional writing courses

transitioned to online delivery. Comparing faculty surveys before and after the training, participants reported a positive attitude shift about teaching online and an improvement in perceived confidence after participating in the training (Covington et al, 2005). Bigatel and Williams (2015) found that online students reported higher engagement in courses taught by faculty who had received professional development on student engagement practices. However, they concluded that it was too difficult to determine from their survey instrument whether student engagement was impacted by the professional development faculty had received, the innate qualities of the faculty's teaching abilities, or the course design (Bigatel & Williams, 2015). They recommended continued in depth study of student outcomes because of training.

Some online faculty receive training from an external source rather than within the institution. Online quality assurance programs such as Quality Matters have evolved to provide standards and training for online faculty worldwide (Quality Matters, 2017). Quality Matters is a nonprofit organization whose organizers have developed online course rubrics using a peer-review setting to evaluation online course quality and organization. This group provides training to faculty on course evaluation and overall improvement in online course quality. More than 1300 colleges and universities have subscribed to the program, and 52,000 educational professionals have been trained in this program (Quality Matters, 2017).

Characteristics of Online Students

Online education has shifted the focus of instruction from faculty-driven to studentdriven, so an understanding of online students is needed. Characteristics of online students have evolved now that online education is considered mainstream. This literature review section will include characteristics online students, explanations of why students choose online course delivery, and findings about successful online student characteristics. For the first time, students are entering higher education institutions with an entire lifetime of experience interacting in a virtual world. According to Marc Prensky (2001) in his article regarding the thinking process of the current generation of students, he defines digital natives as those "native speakers" of the digital language of computers, video games and the Internet (Prensky, 2001, p. 1). He expounded on the differences in brain processing for students who have grown up interacting with computers and video throughout their lives. This poses unique challenges for instructors, who typically fall into the digital immigrant category. Higher education instructors must modify courses to meet the language and learning style needs of these students. As in Prensky's (2001) publication, community college students include both digital natives and digital immigrants, and the faculty serving these students must adjust accordingly.

Characteristics of students who choose online courses and programs have been identified. Online students are more life-centered, experience-based, skill seeking, solution-driven and both internally and externally motivated (Trowler, 2010). Dabbagh (2007) identified changing demographics of online students as online education evolved. Early online learners were described as self-motivated, autonomous adult learners with competing work, family and social commitments (Dabbagh, 2007). A more recent profile of online learners has been described as diverse, dynamic, tentative, younger, and responsive to technological changes (Dabbagh, 2007). Dabbagh (2007) concluded that successful online students possess strong academic self-concept, fluency with technology, exhibit interpersonal and communication skills, understand and value collaborative learning, possess an internal locus of control, and exhibit self-directed learning and need for affiliation (Dabbagh, 2007, p. 220).

There are numerous reasons why community college students may be attracted to online course delivery. Swan and Daston (2016) suggested that online learning was implemented in community colleges primarily to provide access for underserved students, not able to attend courses in person due to time or location constraints. These courses offer flexible schedule options and independence for self-directed learners (Johnson & Berge, 2012). Student limitations may include geographic location, location of the educational program, competing work schedules, and family commitments (Ludwig-Hardman & Dunlap, 2003). A study of North Carolina community college systems indicated that students chose online courses based on whether they believed the subject was suited to online context, perceived difficulty of the subject matter presented, and how interested they were in the subject matter (Jaggars et al., 2013, p. 2).

Johnson and Berge (2012) described characteristics of a successful online community college student and mirrored those characteristics described by Dabbagh (2007). They also concluded that adult students were more autonomous, self-directed and goal-oriented (Johnson & Berge, 2012). Johnson and Berge (2012) questioned whether some community college students have made the transition to being adult learners and recommended students be encouraged to complete a self-assessment of their readiness to enroll in online coursework. Their review cited varying findings about poor online student academic performance and higher drop-out rates, a perpetual problem in online education, and the challenge in trying to reach such a diverse student population (Johnson & Berge, 2012). As noted by Stott (2016), students wanted the instructor to provide the information, rather than take ownership over their own learning.

Online Student Retention Problem

The perpetual question about why higher education students are not retained is still elusive. Hagedorn et al. (2012) provided an overview of the challenge in defining student retention within higher education. Low student retention impacts students and higher education institutions in multiple ways. These include students failing to achieve their educational goals, negative financial impacts and failures of programs and institutions in carrying out their missions (Tinto, 2012). For online students, retention typically refers to that student's decision to remain and achieve success in the online course (Bawa, 2016) rather than students who remain enrolled in the institution from fall to fall terms (Noel Levitz Retention Codifications, 2008).

Online students introduce a unique set of persistence challenges for colleges and institutions. The latest data about student retention, particularly in online courses in 2-year institutions, indicates little progress has been made (Allen et al., 2016). Online retention trends are not limited to a specific period or level of graduation. Students stop out of online courses at any point in the semester and at any point in the learning process (Bawa, 2016). For example, Jaggars, (2011) reports that online students are more likely to drop midsemester than those students in traditional delivery courses. The fact that students can drop out an any point creates additional challenges for faculty and institutions not only for retention but tracking students in the system (Bawa, 2016).

External, internal and contextual factors can influence students' decision to drop out and contributes to the complexity of the situation (Croxton, 2014). Cochran et al., (2014) found that a higher cumulative GPA and having senior status positively correlated with improved online course retention, and other impacting factors such as previous withdrawal

from an online course, receipt of loans, age and ethnicity varied by major (Cochran, Campbell, Baker, & Leeds, 2014). James, Swan and Daston (2016) determined that online student retention in community colleges was positively impacted by dual enrollment in online and traditional courses, and being an adult student. Park and Choi (2009) found that family and institutional support as well as students' satisfaction and attitudes toward course relevance were most predictive of positive online student retention (Park & Choi, 2009). Coates (2004) and Jaggars (2011) concluded that students with poor academic preparation were more likely to drop out of online courses and less like to return in subsequent semesters.

Faculty in higher education are known to have in impact on students at high risk of dropping out (Croxton, 2014). High-risk students are more likely to benefit from increased interaction with faculty (Lundberg, 2003). Schreiner et al. (2011) identified attitudes and behaviors of faculty in traditional course settings that contributed to higher student persistence. To improve retention, creating a connection and building relationships between students and faculty was the most common positive factor described by students, faculty and staff. The most influential faculty approached teaching "with a sense of mission and calling" and expressed that it was their responsibility to connect with and impact students (Schreiner et al. 2011). Unique to 2-year institutions, community college faculty reported that they took more time to explain concepts, provide positive feedback, convey confidence, and serve as role models (Schreiner, Noel, Anderson, & Cantwell, 2011, p. 331). In addition, community college faculty and students reported the importance of respect, both for students' abilities and strengths as well as respect for their life situations and responsibilities (Schreiner et al., 2011).

The Case for Student Engagement

Achieving student engagement, like student retention, is an equally complex problem within higher education (Kuh, 2003; Stanford-Bowers, 2008; Dixson, 2015; Quaye & Harper, 2015). Student engagement has been studied for decades and continues to be a focus in higher education across the U.S. In review of the published work of Astin (1975), Tinto (1987, 1993, 2012), Kuh et al. (2003, 2008, 2010) and others, their theories and research findings support student engagement as a key factor in improving student persistence. For decades, George Kuh has been making the case for student engagement to measure and improve the quality of education for the increasing diverse set of higher education students (Kuh, 2003). Kuh's engagement premise claims 1) the more students study, the more they learn 2) the more practice and feedback they receive, the more skilled they become in that area and 3) being engaged is and of itself contributes to key life skills for the future (Kuh, 2003).

There are a myriad of definitions and measures of student engagement described in the literature. Differences exist in determining with whom students should be engaged, and whether the focus of engagement is on student learning, student identity, or the structure and processes in place (Trowler, 2010). For example, Cole and Chan (1994) defined student engagement as "the extent of students' involvement and active participation in learning activities" (p. 259). Kuh defined student engagement as "the time and energy students devote to educationally sound activities" (Kuh, 2003, p. 25). In a summary of student engagement literature, Trowler (2010) compiled definitions to broadly describe student engagement as "concerned with the interaction between the time, effort, and other relevant resources invested by both students and their institutions, intended to optimize the student

experience and enhance the learning outcomes and development of students and the performance, and reputation of the institution" (Trowler, 2010, p. 3).

Decades of studies have uncovered numerous factors impacting student engagement and have affirmed the complexity of the student engagement problem (Carini, Kuh, & Klein, 2006; Kuh et al., 2007; Trowler, 2010; Meyer, 2014). In 2007, Kuh et al. and others identified key student characteristics that can negatively impact engagement (Kuh, Kinzie, Buckley, Bridges, & Hayek, 2007; Johnson & Berge, 2012). These included poor academic preparation, first generation college attendees, taking time off before attending college, working more than 30 hours per week, part-time enrollment, financially independent and managing life roles such as being a single parent and having children at home. He concluded that as these characteristics compounded, the less likely the student was to succeed and persist (Kuh et al., 2007). Other variables impacting engagement included the type of institution (Kuh, 2003; Carini et al., 2006), engagement with technology (Laird & Kuh, 2005), quality and rigor of course content (Gonyea, 2006), and demographic factors of race, gender, first-year enrollment, and first-generation students (Quaye & Harper, 2015). Perhaps most importantly for community colleges, Carini, Kuh and Klein (2006) found that those students with the lowest academic ability benefited the most from engagement activities. These finding are of importance in this study because many students enrolled in online community college courses have these characteristics and may be academically at-risk (Johnson & Berge, 2012).

Measuring Student Engagement in Higher Education

Nearly two decades ago, a need for better data to evaluate quality in higher education and an effort to address the student engagement problem led to the development of the

National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE) (National Survey of Student Engagement, 2017). Through these efforts, a widely-used definition and description of activities that promote student engagement were developed for the survey instrument. The NSSE components of engagement include active learning, participating in challenging academic activities, quality communication with faculty and staff, enriching educational experiences, and perceived support by the higher education institution (National Survey of Student Engagement, 2017). In 2013, the benchmarks were revised into themes, which included engagement indicators and high impact practices (NSSE: From benchmarks to engagement indicators and high-impact practices, 2014). NSSE data are based on the collective experience of users and used to promote student engagement and improve education policy and practice. In 2015, 587 colleges and universities participated in the NSSE survey and incorporated engagement into their institutional assessment plan. (National Survey of Student Engagement, 2017).

Community college engagement differs from other higher education institutions.

Community College Survey of Student Engagement (CCSSE) data have indicated that engagement has consistently been lower in community colleges than four-year institutions.

In a 2009 CCSSE summary report, an estimated 62% (as high as 90% in some colleges) of community college students were considered underprepared for college-level courses and required remedial education. Positively, according to the CCSSE benchmarks, eleven years of data show that overall student engagement improved from 2004-2014 (Center for Community College Student Engagement [CCCSE], 2015, p. 1). However, student engagement for exclusively online students has been found to lower than students enrolled in blended instruction and those online students enrolled part-time are even less likely to be

engaged (Jaggars et al., 2013). With the growth of online education, remedial courses were increasingly being offered online in community colleges. Faculty reported that even in the "Net Generation", it could not be assumed that students were able to successfully use technology in their online courses. Additional research was recommended to determine the efficacy of online developmental education (CCSSE, 2009, p. 9).

Online Student Engagement

Online students pose unique challenges in achieving engagement with learning, the course and the institution. First, online students are increasingly diverse, as previously noted, with competing life roles and barriers to learning (Dabbagh, 2007). Online courses attract traditional, non-traditional students and students in dual-enrollment high school programs. Engagement strategies for online students must expand beyond understanding demographics to focusing on social psychology of students (Palloff, 2005, p. 4). Second, despite the expanse of technology into daily living and use of smart phones, students have technical issues with learning management systems and lack appropriate access to the Internet, a computer, or software needed to access the assignments (Haber & Mills, 2008; CCSSE, 2009; Simpson, 2012; Baker, Bernard, & Dumez-Feroc, 2012). Third, online faculty have reported that students are resistant to interacting with the instructor and one another, despite efforts to encourage social interaction (Haber & Mills, 2008). "I think they (students) take online courses sometimes so they don't have to interact. They want to do the work, turn it in, and that's the end of it" (Haber & Mills, 2008, p. 275). Finally, online students in community colleges may be less prepared for the rigor of college-level courses and often require remediation (CCSSE, 2009).

Measuring Online Student Engagement

Student engagement research has concluded that engagement principles and strategies implemented for the traditional classroom can be applied to online learners (Kuh, 2003; Coates, 2007; Robinson & Hullinger, 2008; Meyer, 2014). Hundreds of studies have sought to answer research questions about student, faculty and institutional actions that impact online student engagement. This section summarizes measures of online student engagement and faculty definitions.

Online student engagement scales have been developed to measure student perceptions and online engagement activities (Coates, 2007; Dixson, 2010; Pittaway, 2012; Dixson, 2015). Coates (2007) focused on the impacts of the learning management system on learning and student engagement. Through a Student Engagement Questionnaire (SEQ), he developed a statistical model evaluating student engagement of on-campus students also using online learning systems. The SEQ provided direct measures of the extent to which students were engaging with activities and conditions that were likely to promote learning within the learning management system. Students' responses were classified based on different (transient) states of engagement as intense, collaborative, independent, or passive. These states of engagement impacted students' likelihood to engage in social, cognitive or collaborative online activities. Coates' (2007) model did not assess engagement of entirely online students.

Pittaway (2012) developed a student engagement program for Faculty of Education in an Australian university. In her Engagement Framework, student engagement is based on four key principles: staff engagement, development of respectful and supportive relationships, student responsibility for their own learning, and student development of knowledge, understandings, skills and capacities. Pittaway (2012) theorized that engagement

42

occurs when learning is scaffolded, high standards are set, and expectations are clearly communicated (p.40). Based on these principles, she developed an engagement framework with interacting elements which included academic, personal, intellectual, professional and social. Pittaway's (2012) model was not tested, only described in her published work.

At least one student engagement scale has been developed based on the Community of Inquiry framework. Dixson (2010) developed her own online student engagement scale by combining three previously-tested engagement instruments focusing on engagement and interaction within online courses. The original instruments were based on Social Constructivism, the Community of Inquiry framework and additional research about engaging online teaching strategies. A focus group of online instructors assisted with adapting the survey items for online application. Engagement behaviors in the survey instrument were divided into skills (e.g. studying, note-taking), emotion (e.g. putting forth effort, applying the information), participation (e.g. interacting and engaging with others) and performance (e.g. grades and test performance). Reliability for the pilot instrument was tested with 31 online students, which produced two global items within the course and two global items of social presence (getting to know other students and your instructor). For her research, 186 undergraduate students in 38 online courses from six campuses at a large, Midwest university completed the survey. From the analysis of this data, Dixson (2010) concluded that no one single online activity produced higher online engagement but that the overall measure of engagement warranted further validation. She concluded that multiple communication channels may be correlated with student-student and student-instructor interaction and recommended continued testing of the instrument (Dixson, 2010).

Dixson (2015) conducted further research using the online student engagement scale. She compared online student engagement survey data of 34 online students with their interactivity in their online courses, analyzing observational and application learning behaviors. Observational learning behaviors included interaction with course content, such as reading and watching lectures. Application learning behaviors included taking a quiz or responding to a discussion post. Dixson (2015) predicted that both types of behaviors would be correlated with higher engagement but found that only application learning behaviors significantly correlated with higher engagement using her scale. Dixson (2015) concluded that perhaps activities such as reading course material, e-mail and posts weren't simply enough to be "engaged" (p. 9).

Faculty Definitions of Engagement

Minimal research has been conducted about how online faculty define student engagement and how engaged they perceive their students to be based on these definitions. In the unpublished study of Berger (2014), this researcher obtained input from online faculty and students in a private, not-for-profit institution about which definition of student engagement they could most closely relate and whether their online courses were engaging. Online faculty chose between the Kearsley and Schneiderman (1999), Kuh (2009a), and Coates (2007)/NSSE (2003) definitions. Faculty and students overwhelmingly (70%) chose the Coates (2007)/NSSE (2003) definition, which is defined as "a broad construct intended to encompass...academic as well as...non-academic aspects of the student experience, including active and collaborative learning; participation in challenging academic activities; formative communication with academic staff; involvement in enriching educational experiences; and feeling legitimated and supported by university learning communities" (Berger, 2014, p. 113). Berger (2014) concluded that this preference was possibly due to the

definitions' inclusivity of multiple concepts on student engagement. She also reported that more than three-fourths of students and faculty found online courses to be engaging based on this definition (Berger, 2014).

Community of Inquiry Framework

"Theories explain what happens and why it happens, and learning theories generate educational practices and the improvement of practice. Learning theories underpin how traditional face-to-face and online courses are designed and therefore indicate how online learning can improve in the future" (Meyer, 2014, p. 14). The Community of Inquiry framework is one of the most prominent frameworks used in understanding student learning (Meyer, 2014). The Community of Inquiry authors contend that strategies developed to impact student engagement are effective because they focus on active learning, such as collaborative and experiential learning (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2000). This portion of the literature review will provide an explanation of the development of the Community of Inquiry framework and a chronological summary of key research findings supporting teaching strategies within the framework.

Framework Overview

The Community of Inquiry framework is a "process model, incorporating three forms of presence, intended to capture the dynamics of the educational experience" (Garrison et al., 2009, p. 6). It is based on several fundamental assumptions and perspectives for understanding the applications of e-learning (now referred to online learning). This perspective is based on the historical work of John Dewey, who pioneered the concept of action-based education and transactional communication (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2009; Garrison, 2017). It is based on the belief that "there is an inseparable relationship between the social environment and personal meaning making. Collaboration and

constructivism correspond respectively to the teaching and learning responsibilities of an educational experience" (Garrison, 2017, p. 9). Recognizing these concepts is key to understanding the Community of Inquiry framework and ultimately applying via online teaching approaches that enhance learning and engagement.

One key assumption of the framework is that a student never learns in isolation (Garrison et al. 2000). Therefore, the Community of Inquiry describes a collaborative approach to thinking and learning, brought together by electronic technologies used to deliver education. Even though learners must be self-directed, they are continually impacted by their environment. Electronic communication has led to new transaction opportunities that allow for connection and collaboration to occur (Redmond & Lock, 2006). Garrison (2017) declared that it is human nature to be social, collaborate and recognize the strength of a group. Unfortunately, conventional educational approaches have focused on learning as an individual activity (Garrison, 2017).

To develop the Community of Inquiry framework, computer-mediated transcripts were reviewed to identify categories and specific transactional indicators within each element of presence (Garrison et al., 2000). The authors believed cognitive presence was the most basic to success because the meaning of information is constructed through sustained communication. Social presence was defined as "the ability of participants in the Community of Inquiry to project their personal characteristics into the community, thereby presenting themselves as 'real people'" (Garrison et al., 2000, p. 89). Teaching presence focused first on the course design, then facilitation by both instructor and students, and was meant to enhance cognitive and social presence. According to the developers, teaching

presence was developed when faculty designed the cognitive and social elements for educational purposes (Garrison et al., 2000). See Figure 1.



Figure 1. Community of Inquiry Framework (Garrison, Anderson and Archer. 2000 p. 88).

Each form of presence within the framework plays a critical role in promoting higher learning and engagement (Garrison et al., 2000). First, cognitive presence is directly related to how communication is restricted or encouraged, and is likely the most difficult for students to develop in online courses (Garrison & Arbaugh, 2007). Garrison et al. (2000) found there was need for valid indicators in comparing the extent of meaningful facilitation when comparing face to face learning with computer conferencing. They believed that cognitive presence could stand alone and must be reinforced by a broader social environment, which included high-order thinking skills and collaborative work. "Cognitive presence is operationalized by the Practical Inquiry (PI) model that consists of four phases of inquiry – triggering event, exploration, integration and resolution" (Garrison, 2017, p. 26).

The work of Garrison and others determined that students struggle to achieve the integration and resolutions phases, in part because of low expectations of students in online education (Garrison et al., 2009).

Second, social presence is needed to promote sustained cognitive presence through collaboration (Garrison et al., 2000). Their theory is that collaboration draws learners into shared experiences for the purposes of constructing and confirming meaning. Collaboration helps students create a qualitative dimension to the meaning of content. They reported that familiarity, skills, motivation, organizational commitment, learning activities, and length of time using the learning media directly impacted social presence (Garrison et al., 2000). For online faculty, the challenge is creating social presence using text communication. With text communication, the lack of immediacy may hinder personal relationships and be limiting for critical discourse (Garrison, 2017).

Finally, teaching presence binds cognitive and social presence together and coordinates learning activities. The presence of a teacher provides the appropriate facilitation, leadership and direction within the online course. Accomplishing this in a virtual setting can be challenging (Garrison et al., 2000). A teacher's presence can be felt when student's contributions are acknowledged and guidance is provided (Garrison et al., 2009). Teachers are needed to regulate the amount of content included, moderate discussions, determine group sizes, assess understanding, and ensure the best medium of communication. For example, Garrison et al. (2009) recommended that a small group discussions focus on a topic for only a week or two. Students would have time to reflect and contribute after formulating their thoughts and avoid losing focus and connectivity.

Focusing on teaching presence, Shea et al., (2006) developed an evaluation scale specifically for measuring teaching presence. This instrument incorporated student perceptions of community based on Rovai's (2002) classroom community instrument. The three areas of teaching presence included design, direction and facilitation. Following data collection, they concluded that the order of the teaching process was not distinct yet still important (Shea et al., 2006). This study identified a positive correlation between online instructor behaviors that supported teaching presence with improved perceptions of community. They discovered that activities classified as "directed facilitation" contributed more to the equation than effective course design or instruction (Shea et al., 2006, p. 185). Examples of directed facilitation behaviors included drawing in participants, creating an open learning environment, keeping students on schedule, diagnosing misconceptions, facilitating areas of student disagreement, reinforcing student contributions, injecting their own knowledge, and confirming student understanding. Effective instruction behaviors included clear communication about assignment instructions, deadlines, goals, key topics and how to navigate the course (Shea et al., 2006, p. 185).

Garrison and Arbaugh (2007) recommended quantitative studies to identify moderating factors about the relationship between the three Community of Inquiry factors. They sought to determine if the three core elements really captured the core dynamics of the Community of Inquiry. Arbaugh et al. (2008) tested a 34-item survey instrument in a multi-institutional sample to better understand the relationship between Community of Inquiry variables and student outcomes (Arbaugh et al., 2008). Their findings indicated that the instrument was a valid measure of teaching, social and cognitive presence. See categories and indicators in Table 2.1. Their data analysis also produced a possible fourth factor, which

was inconclusive. They surmised that teaching presence might be divided into pre-course (design and organization) and in-course activities (facilitation and direct instruction) (p. 135).

 Table 2.1
 Community of Inquiry Categories and Indicators

Elements	Categories	Indicators (examples only)
Social Presence	Personal/affective	Self-projection/ expressing emotion
	Open communication	Learning climate/ risk-free expression
	Group cohesion	Group identify/collaboration
Cognitive Presence	Triggering event	Sense of puzzlement
	Exploration	Information exchange
	Integration	Connecting ideas
	Resolution	Applying new ideas
Teaching Presence	Design and organization	Setting curriculum and methods
	Facilitating discourse	Shaping constructive exchange
	Direct instruction	Focusing and resolving
		issues

From Garrison, D.R., *E-learning in the 21st Century*, New York, NY, Routledge, (2016) p. 28)

Garrison et al. (2009) summarized the first ten years' application of the Community of Inquiry framework in online education. According to Garrison et al., (2009) the evolution of teaching presence was most significant over the first ten years. These original authors discussed the methodological challenges in developing the Community of Inquiry framework, particularly with the subjectivity of transcript review and choosing units of analysis. They reported that these early qualitative studies were plagued by reliability issues with subjective coding methods. For example, there was initial skepticism about the ability to establish online social presence, and the importance of social presence being combined with other portions of the model. Garrison et al. (2009) emphasized the importance of making a connection to the teaching and learning elements. This area focused on a shared social identity rather than personal identity, and included open communication and group

cohesion. Later studies have confirmed that social presence is a mediating variable between teaching and cognitive presence (Garrison et al., 2009; Garrison et al., 2010; Shea et al., 2010).

Garrison, Cleveland-Innes and Fung (2010) sought to identify the causal relationships of the Community of Inquiry using the Arbaugh et al. (2008) survey instrument. Findings from their structural equation model supported the theoretical predictions of the framework in that teaching presence was the core of establishing cognitive and social presence. The interconnectedness was illustrated through students' perceptions that teaching presence influenced cognitive and social presence. Social presence predicted cognitive presence and social presence was the mediating variable (Garrison, Cleveland-Innes & Fung, 2010).

Shea, Hayes, Vickers, Gozza-Cohen, Uzuner, Mehta, Valchova, Rangan (2010) identified the need to study all parts of Community of Inquiry framework in more than one online course. They wanted to delve into the role of the faculty social presence on student social presence. "Analysis of online course content interactions indicated that social presence may be contingent on the instructor and students working in concert" (Shea et al., 2010, p. 17). A complex relationship was identified and a strong correlation was found between a high instructor teaching presence and student social presence. Focusing on social presence, they recommended further study of open communication and group work (Shea et al., 2010).

Some researchers have proposed additional elements such as "learner presence," to the Community of Inquiry model (Shea & Bidjerano, 2012). In a large quantitative study of online students in multiple institutions, the previously developed Community of Inquiry instrument developed by Arbaugh et al., (2008) was used to analyzed students' perceptions

of each form of presence (Arbaugh et al., 2008). This was compared with an online self-regulated learning (OSRL) questionnaire about students' "learning presence" (Shea & Bidjerano, 2012, p. 324). They concluded that learning presence moderated the other aspects of Community of Inquiry and that teaching and social presence were predictors of students' ability to achieve cognitive presence (Shea & Bidjerano, 2012). Garrison (2017) argued that adding the learning presence construct was unnecessary for two reasons: first, this aspect is already incorporated into the original model and second, the concept of learning presence violates the collaborative fundamental principle of the model. Therefore, an evaluation of learning presence was not included in this study.

The Community of Inquiry has been applied in program-specific settings and illustrates how program-specific characteristics may influence students' perceptions. Carlon (2012) used Community of Inquiry instrument developed by Shea (2003) and Shea and Bidjerano (2009) to research student populations in three online healthcare professions. Data from nursing and allied health students validated the three-factor model of each form of presence but also produced two factors within the social presence (social comfort and social experience.) They also found differences between nursing students as compared to other health professions in social and cognitive presence (Carlon, 2012).

Researched Online Teaching Practices

"All teaching is undertaken within an environment, or context. Teaching staff are responsible for the environment they construct, whether that environment is online or on campus" (Pittaway, 2012, p. 39). Conclusions from previous literature strongly support faculty impact on online student engagement (Robinson & Hullinger, 2008; Trowler, 2010). In general, faculty characteristics and practices that promote online student engagement have been identified. These can be divided into two broad categories – faculty-student

interactions and specific teaching practices employed within the course. Over the years, researched teaching practices have been established that promote effective online teaching (Chickering & Gamson, 1987).

Like the traditional classroom, effective faculty teaching practices have been identified that promote online student engagement (Robinson & Hullinger, 2008; Gaytan, 2013; Meyer, 2014). In general, it is the faculty member's role to create and facilitate online courses that encourage interaction, participation and communication in the online learning environment (Johnson, 2003). Researchers at Columbia University analyzed longitudinal data from 23 online courses in two state community college systems and identified faculty behaviors that impacted online retention and performance. Their findings indicated that students placed a high value on the quality of interactions with their instructors and positive performance data correlated with higher levels of personal interaction (Jaggars, Edgecombe, & Stacey, 2013). These findings are consistent with NSSE data, emphasizing faculty-student interaction as key to student engagement (NSSE: From benchmarks to engagement indicators and high-impact practices, 2014).

Thirty years ago, Chickering and Gamson (1987) published *Seven principles of good* practice in undergraduate education, widely used to measure the quality of teaching, both tradition and online courses. These principles were used to develop the NSSE standards, which expanded on these practices and continue to be used today to measure student engagement. In 1996, Chickering and Ehrmann updated the standards based on the technology that was rapidly evolving at that time (Chickering & Ehrmann, 1996). Since that time, additional studies have been completed to measure the use of these teaching practices online. Zhang and Walls (2006) found that implementation of these standards varied among

the 107 faculty they studied. Barriers to implementing included being too time-consuming to implement and difficult to implement in a distance education setting (Zhang & Walls, 2006).

Tirrell and Quick (2012) surveyed online faculty in three Virginia community colleges to determine to what extent faculty had implemented Chickering and Gamson's teaching principles in their online courses. They found that faculty were largely unfamiliar with the principles but that those principles that promoted student engagement could have a positive effect on student attrition (Tirrell & Quick, 2012). Communicating high expectations was the mostly highly utilized principle and encouraging student-faculty contact was the lowest. They found no significant difference between full-time and part-time faculty use of the principles.

In the community college setting, Batts, Pagliari, Mallett and McFadden (2010) surveyed online faculty about Chickering and Gamson's best practices (1987) which were part of the "10 Principles of Effective Online Teaching: Best Practices for Distance Education" developed at Penn State's World campus (Batts et al., 2010, p. 23). They reported that 93% of faculty believed that best teaching practices could positively impact student learning. Some of the best practices reported by faculty were providing timely feedback (86%), providing a detailed syllabus (75%), using online assessment tools (74%), using discussion boards to facilitate interaction (71%), and providing introductory activities (68%). Nearly two-thirds of respondents indicated that they had not attended any off-campus training within the past year. The training they did receive focused on the teaching platform and technologies rather than best teaching practices (Batts et al., 2010).

Baily and Card (2009) evaluated the teaching practices of online faculty in South

Dakota using three theories of pedagogy and identified eight effective pedagogical practices:

fostering relationships, engagement, timeliness, communication, organization, technology, flexibility, and high expectations. Engaging practices included ongoing communication, discussions, multiple opportunities for students to interact with one another, and opportunities for students and faculty to explore deeper learning (Baily & Card, 2009). They recommended providing additional training to all online faculty in these areas and connecting faculty with one another to promote peer support (Baily & Card, 2009.)

Pelz (2004) described similar practices in his own account of best practices as an award-winning instructor of online teaching excellence. His recommended practices were included as part of an overall philosophy of keeping the student at the center of every aspect of the course. Pelz (2004) provided specific examples of how to promote interactivity by "having students direct and facilitate the discussions" (p. 104). His second premise included the promotion of overall student interactivity – with faculty, other students one-on-one, groups of students, text, course material and the Internet. Finally, his approach included ensuring the development of a sense of presence – social, cognitive and teaching presence throughout the course, as consistent with the Community of Inquiry framework. Discussion tools were used to develop each sense of presence with clear expectations for students about meaningful content of the discussions, as well as clearly conveying the topic of discussion for all (Pelz, 2004).

Online teachers lack the ability to use verbal and nonverbal cues to evaluate and reinforce learning, as well as provide feedback (Simpson, 2012). Offir, Barth, Lev and Shteinbok (2003) measured specific types of online student and instructor interactions within one online course and provided a "map" of interactions as feedback to the instructor in each course lessons. They found that when the instructor's social interactions correlated with

learning assistance interactions, students' self-evaluations of content comprehension improved. While this study supported the importance of a combination of interactions, it is difficult to measure for multiple courses and instructors teaching a variety of subjects. (Offir et al., 2003).

Gaytan and colleagues have evaluated online instructional and assessment strategies in multiple studies (Gaytan & McEwen, 2007; Gaytan, 2015). They developed their own framework which happens to fit into the teaching presence category. In an early mixed methods study, Gaytan and McEwen (2007) collected data from students and faculty asking about the types of teaching techniques and assessments that were found to indicate quality online instruction and effectiveness. "The top five indicators of quality instruction according to faculty and students were 1) continual, immediate and detailed feedback 2) online course was as rigorous as conventional courses 3) e-mail was used to aid in the instruction process 4) a variety of instructional strategies were used and 5) a good rapport and collaboration with students was established" (p. 124). The primary assessments found to be most effective were "1) having a wide variety of clearly explained assignments 2) Student work is evaluated against learning outcomes 3) continual, immediate and detailed feedback" (p. 126). They summarized their work by recommending that online instructors become more familiar with a variety effective teaching strategies and assessments, give timely and meaningful feedback, and provide clear assignment explanations and rubric (Gaytan & McEwen, 2007).

Online Faculty Communication and Tools

Online student-faculty communication is one piece of the student engagement puzzle and critical to success. There are advantages of written communication as the primary mode of connection, as in online education. Written communication provides time for reflection and connection to critical thinking (Harasim, 2000). When writing is reflective and explicit,

this encourages more disciplined and rigorous thinking. Researchers have sought to determine what features of the written language promote critical thinking (Garrison et al., 2000). Allen et al. (2012) reported that "75.4% of online faculty surveyed reported that digital communications had increased student-faculty communications and only 4.1% believed that the impact had been negative" (p. 25). The number of daily e-mails from students contributed to faculty workload, with one-third of online faculty reporting 11-25 e-mails per day (Allen et al., 2012). Online education has created a sense of urgency for both faculty and students to respond to electronic communications (Conceicao, 2006). In their analysis related to the urgency of responding to these student e-mails, 60% reported that they try to answer nearly all e-mails within 24 hours (Allen et al., 2012).

Swartzwelder (2014) studied the impact of the integration of mobile phone text communications in a distance nursing program on student outcomes, as well as faculty perceptions. These researchers divided 117 nursing students into a control group (no text) and an experimental group (text-incorporated). She found that learners perceived a higher level of learning when text messaging was incorporated into the course, however, grades were not impacted. Faculty improved a higher perception of student learning for the text group. Follow-up focus groups of students and instructors identified that texting increased interactivity, improved critical thinking and engagement, and faculty were surprised at the ease of use (Swartzwelder, 2014). Although this study was narrowly focused, it does provide some initial insight into the expansion of communication within online courses.

Multiple studies have evaluated the quality of online faculty-student communication.

Research conducted at Columbia University about two state community college systems discovered that online students perceive a lack of "caring" from their teachers. This led to

feelings of isolation and having to teach themselves (Jaggars et al., 2013, p. 2). They found that the quality of personal interactions was the most important factor in predicting online students' grades (Jaggars et al., 2013). Sitzman (2016) focused on caring interactions between online instructors and nursing students. She uncovered conditions and situations that led to caring interventions and how instructors conveyed a sense of "caring" to students. These included academic struggles, appeals for help, concerning behaviors, withdrawal, personal issues, and positive events (Sitzman, 2016). This is one of the few studies that have explored instructor perspectives and provides insight about the dynamics of faculty-student interactions.

Meyer (2014) conducted a qualitative study of 11 faculty members in different fields and disciplines to determine factors that can improve student learning, focusing on online teaching tools. These included seven approaches to improving engagement: six course structuring tactics to focus student attention on learning, assessment techniques and pursuing a passion for online teaching. All instructors used discussions, but used them differently. One specific online tool was used in several ways. Experienced faculty were more positive about continuing to find new ways to reach students using these tools. "Faculty are often the best advocates for innovations as they share what they are doing, stimulate further experimentation among faculty members teaching online, and lure some faculty members into exploring these tools" (p.585). These conclusions support the importance of faculty in determining student outcomes, collaborative learning between faculty, using tools in different ways, and that more experienced faculty were more positive (Meyer, 2014).

Summary

This literature review provided an overview of the evolution of online education and its impacts on the role faculty. As financial constraints continue in higher education,

retaining students, especially those enrolled online, has been a critical outcome of quality institutional measures and financial viability. Student engagement has been shown to promote retention and improved student outcomes. A plethora of literature supports continuing to better understand the faculty role in promoting student engagement online. Many have measured students' perceptions of online engagement, faculty perceptions of online education and teaching, and applied the Community of Inquiry framework to evaluate higher learning. Based on this review, there is need to compare previous findings through exploration of faculty perceptions of engagement and how those perceptions impact teaching practices as part of the Community of Inquiry framework.

CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY

This chapter provides a description of the survey research methodology and data analysis completed in this quantitative study. "Survey design provides a numeric description of trends, attitudes, or opinions of a population by studying a sample of that population" (Creswell, 2014, p. 155). Several types of data analysis were employed in this study. First, descriptive analysis was completed to describe members of the sample. Comparative analysis measured and compared the significance of the relationship among variables. Regression analysis was used to analyze the predictability of the independent variables on the dependent variable. Finally, qualitative data analysis of two open-ended questions was completed to triangulate with the quantitative findings and provide detailed, descriptive text about online faculty perceptions of student engagement and practices.

Research Questions

This study answered the following research questions:

RQ1: What are the demographic characteristics of community college faculty teaching online who participated in the survey?

RQ2: Among survey participants, to what degree of engagement do community college faculty rate their students in the online courses they teach?

RQ3: To what extent are community college faculty encouraging online student engagement through teaching practices supported by the Community of Inquiry framework?

- RQ4: 4a. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring online faculty perceptions of student engagement?
 - 4b. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote teaching presence?

- 4c. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote cognitive presence?
- 4d. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote social presence?

RQ5: Are there any significant differences among survey participants in reported student engagement based on full-time or part-time employment, highest degree attained, orientation to online teaching, or training in student engagement practices?

RQ6: Among survey participants, to what extent do the demographic characteristics and online teaching practices predict perceived online student engagement?

RQ7: How do online community college faculty define online student engagement in their courses?

Hypotheses

Descriptive analysis was used for research questions one, two and three. Qualitative analysis was used for a portion of research question three and research question seven. Null hypothesis statements were written for research questions four (a, b, c, d), five and six for hypothesis testing.

- RQ4: 4a. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring online faculty perceptions of student engagement?
 - 4b. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote teaching presence?
 - 4c. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote cognitive presence?
 - 4d. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote social presence?

RQ4a. H_1 – Among survey participants, there is no significant inter-relationship among variables measuring online faculty perceptions of engagement.

RQ4b. H_2 – Among survey participants, there is no significant inter-relationship among variables measuring strategies that promote teaching presence.

RQ4c. H_3 - Among survey participants, there is no significant inter-relationship among variables measuring strategies that promote cognitive presence.

RQ4d. H_4 . Among survey participants, there is no significant inter-relationship among variables measuring strategies that promote social presence.

RQ5: Are there any significant differences among survey participants in reported student engagement based on full-time or part-time employment, highest degree attained, orientation to online teaching, or training in student engagement practices?

 $RQ5-H_5-$ There are no significant differences among survey participants in reported student engagement based on full-time or part-time employment, highest degree attained, orientation to online teaching, or training in student engagement practices?

RQ6: Among survey participants, to what extent do the demographic characteristics and online teaching practices predict perceived online student engagement?

 $RQ6-H_6$ - Among survey participants, there are no demographic characteristics nor online teaching practices that predict perceived online student engagement.

Research Design

Setting

This study was conducted in four Midwest community colleges, part of a statewide community college system. Each community college is governed by locally elected boards ranging from five to nine members. The community colleges were situated in cities whose populations range in size from 25,206 to 133,127 (U.S. 2010 Census Data, 2010). Online

course lengths varied from five to sixteen weeks and were synchronous or asynchronous.

Three of the four community colleges used different learning management systems to deliver online courses to students.

Population and Sample

The population of interest in this study was community college faculty who were currently teaching at least one course online in one of the four participating community colleges. Based on information from the community college administrators, these online faculty may not reside in the state in which the community college is situated and some lived worldwide. Some online faculty were also employed in more than one institution but were asked to respond to the survey based on the primary courses taught within that community college. Community college administrators in each college reported current online faculty employment of 197, 177, 123 and 60 respectively, for a total of 537 full-time and part-time faculty teaching online courses in Fall 2017.

Survey Instrument

To collect data for this study, an online student engagement faculty survey instrument was created by adapting survey items from previously tested instruments developed for students. Teaching strategies were chosen based on the three components of the Community of Inquiry framework (Arbaugh et al., 2008; Garrison et al., 2010). The measure of online student engagement activities was adapted from an online student engagement scale developed for students (Dixson, 2015). Survey items were modified and framed for faculty responses based on their observations and perceptions of student participation and engagement in their own courses. Permission to adapt the items was granted from primary researchers who developed and published the instruments. Twenty-six items about Community of Inquiry practices and five items about online student engagement were

Likert-scale questions as well as two open-ended questions. The instrument was divided into three sections: demographic and teaching information, statements about current teaching practices and online student engagement, and open-ended questions including definitions of online student engagement and the most effective engagement strategies. The survey included 22 questions and 48 items. The survey can be found in Appendix A.

The first section of the survey included both demographic and teaching information. Demographic data included gender, age, ethnicity, employment status (full-time/part-time), highest degree attained, length of time teaching in higher education, and length of time teaching online. Teaching information included number of online course sections taught in an academic year, time spent each week responding to or giving feedback to students, previous orientation to teaching online, and previous training about student engagement teaching practices. This section also included questions about which communication methods (e-mail, phone, text, in-person meetings, web meetings, social media and other) and online teaching tools (assignment dropboxes, quizzes, discussions, interactive text, blogs, recorded videos/lectures, grade books, rubrics, calendars, announcements and other) were used in their primary online courses.

The second section included three sets of 5-point Likert scale questions asking participants to rate their agreement about statements that reflected their use of specific teaching strategies. These statements were based on the Community of Inquiry framework and items fell within the three forms of presence – teaching, cognitive and social. Questions were adapted directly from instruments developed and tested for reliability and validity by Arbaugh et al. (2008) and Garrison et al. (2010). The same 5-point Likert scale was used to

rate statements about student activities that reflect the level of online student engagement in their courses. These statements were based on a previously developed online student engagement (OSE) scale developed by Dixson (2010) and included affective and behavioral components based on the Community of Inquiry framework (Dixson, 2010; Dixson, 2015). These questions were originally written for student responses. Statements that could be adapted for faculty were included about observed and application learning behaviors. Student engagement activities included regularly logging in to the course (observed), timely assignment completion (observed), active participation in discussions (application), getting to know one another (application), and use of critical thinking (application) (Dixson, 2015). To capture increased variability among participants, one final question asked faculty to rate overall online student engagement on a scale from one to ten, with ten being the most engaged.

Two open-ended questions were included in the third and final section. These asked participants to define online student engagement in their own words and describe the teaching strategies they perceived to be the most engaging for online students.

Pilot Study

In July 2017, a pilot survey was distributed to a sub-sample of online faculty, community college administrators and higher education researchers for review. Feedback was obtained about the time to complete the survey, question sequence, clarity of the question terminology, as well as suggestions about language in the survey invitation that could promote faculty participation in the study. Because questions from student survey instruments were used, pilot participants were asked to evaluate the appropriateness of the engagement and teaching practice measures for faculty. The sub-sample of experts shared

valuable recommendations for improving the survey language, survey organization, and edits were made accordingly.

Reliability and validity

In quantitative research, reliability refers to the consistency and stability of the scores obtained through measurements and validity refers to items that measure the information intended to evaluate (Creswell, 2014). There was need to develop a unique faculty instrument, as previous surveys have surveyed students. In this exploratory study, the instrument incorporated two previously tested student engagement measures that gathered self-reported data from online students. Validity and reliability of a Community of Inquiry instrument was tested by Arbaugh et al. (2008) using Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) and findings confirmed by Garrison et al. (2010). Three factors loadings were identified as significant (> .80) across each of the three forms of presence (Garrison et al., 2010, p. 33).

The Online Student Engagement (OSE) scale was initially tested for reliability and validity using Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) with 19 of the items loading into four factors (.60 or higher), all measuring some form of online student engagement (Dixson, 2010). In a later study, Dixson used the same scale with a larger sample and paired outcomes with student interactions with the online learning management system (Dixson 2015). Dixson found a significant correlation between application learning behaviors observed in online course activity and the OSE scale, which further validated the survey items (Dixson, 2015). Five of the 19 items were used in this survey instrument.

Data Collection

Data collection was completed using the following procedures. Data collection occurred in August and September 2017. First, the community college administrators in distance education compiled a list of e-mail contacts of potential participants teaching in the

Fall 2017 semester. Next, a consistent cover letter was drafted and reviewed by the administrators, explaining the purpose of the study for potential participants. This letter was also included as the first page of the electronic survey (Appendix B). All four administrators distributed the e-mail invitation to eligible participants on the same schedule. After the initial e-mail, two subsequent notifications were sent to all potential participants as reminders to complete the survey. All participants were asked to indicate their consent to participate in the study on the cover page prior to beginning the survey. Participants could stop taking the survey at any time. All responses, including partial responses, were recorded in the Qualtrics system. There were no identifiers indicating the community college in which the online faculty was employed, nor any personal identifiers. All data were self-reported, and submitted anonymously by the participants.

After the survey was deactivated, data was exported from Qualtrics for data cleaning and analysis. The researcher deleted all 0 responses in the case that the participant opened the link but did not answer any questions. The survey response rate was calculated based on the cleaned survey data, treated as raw data and used to conduct descriptive, correlational, comparative and qualitative analysis.

Variables Used in the Study

Dependent variable

Student Engagement. This research studied the relationship between online community college faculty demographics and teaching practices and perceptions. Survey question five measured the dependent variable: Thinking about the online courses you have taught over the past year, for each of the following statements, indicate how strongly you agree with each statement as it relates to student engagement in the primary online courses you teach. Faculty were asked to report whether their students logged in to the course

throughout the semester, regularly completed assignments by course deadlines, actively participated in discussions by responding to posts in meaningful ways and routinely used critical thinking for solutions to proposed problems. Course grades were not included in the engagement items because the focus was on student behaviors rather than performance.

In addition, faculty were asked to rate the overall level of engagement in their online courses on a scale of one through ten, with ten being the most engaged. This question sought to measure an overall impression of faculty perceptions of online student engagement.

Independent Variables

Demographic information. Demographic variables analyzed in this study included gender, age, ethnicity, employment status, highest degree earned, experience teaching in higher education, and experience teaching online.

Table 3.1 presents the description and scale of the demographic variables.

Table 3.1 Scales of the Demographic Characteristic Variables in this Study

	Question	
Variable	number	Scale
Gender	Q20	1=male, 2=female, 3=another, 4= prefer
		not to answer
Age (years)	Q21	1=<30, 2=30-39,3=40-49, 4=50-59, 5=60
		and older, 7=prefer not to answer
Ethnicity	Q22	1=African American, 2=American
		Indian, 3=Asian, 4=Hispanic,
		5=Caucasian, 6=Multi-racial, 7=Other,
		8=Prefer not to answer
Employment	Q11	1=full-time, 2=part-time
Highest degree earned	Q13	1=PhD or EdD, 2=Master's,
		3=Professional degree, 4=Bachelor's
		degree, 5=Associate's degree, 6=Other
		credential
Experience teaching	Q9	1=1-3 years, 2=4-6 years, 3=7-10, 4=11-
		14, 5=15 or more
Experience teaching online	Q10	1=<1 year, 2=1-3 years, 3=4-6 years,
_		4=7-10 years, 5=11-14 years,
		6=15 or more

Teaching information. These variables included questions about the number of course sections taught in an academic year, time spent each week responding to students, methods used to communicate with students, online tools used in the learning management system, expectations of student log-ins, orientation to online teaching, and prior training about online student engagement.

Table 3.2 presents the description and scale of the teaching characteristic variables used in this study.

Table 3.2 Scales of the Teaching Characteristic Variables in this Study

	Question	
Variable	number	Scale
Number of courses	Q16	Text entry
Orientation	Q14	1= yes, 2=no
Training in engagement	Q15	1=yes, 2=no
Faculty interaction hours/week	Q18	1=1-4 hours, 2=5-8 hours, 3=9-12
		hours, 3=13-16 hours, 4=13-16 hours,
		5=17-20 hours, 6=21-30 hours, 7=31 or more hours
Expected student log-ins/week	Q19	1=daily, 2=3-4 times per week, 3=1-2 times per week, 4= less than weekly
Communication Tools	Q17	1=internal college e-mail, 2=phone,
		3=students' personal e-mail, 4=text,
		5=in-person meeting, 6=social media,
		7=other, 8=web meetings
Teaching Tools	Q24	1=assignment dropboxes, 2=quizzes,
		3=discussions, 4=blogs, 5=videos,
		6=gradebook, 7=rubrics, 8=calendar,
		8=announcements, 10=interactive text
		reading, 11=other
Total communication	New variable	continuous
Total tools	New variable	continuous

Community of Inquiry practices. These variables were grouped into statements that reflected those teaching practices described by the Community of Inquiry Framework and divided into teaching, cognitive and social presence (Arbaugh et al., 2008). Questions 2a,

2b, 3 and 4 were structured as the dependent variable agreement/ disagreement 5-point Likert-scale statements: Thinking about the online courses you have taught over the past year. For each of the following statements, indicate how strongly you agree with each statement as it relates to the primary courses you teach online. Teaching presence statements (Q2a and b) included timely feedback to students, detailed feedback, multiple instructional strategies, course organization, explanation of participation, corrected student thinking about concepts, expression of opposing views, establishing a sense of community, communication of availability and accessibility, communication using multiple methods, expressed passion for the course content, getting to know the instructor, and inclusion of personal photo or video of the instructor. Cognitive presence (Q3) statements included statements about the online course being as rigorous as traditional delivery, incorporation of thought-provoking questions, provision of course content that is relevant to real life, application of course contents to real life, and opportunities for students to develop solutions to proposed problems. Social presence (Q4) statements included students establishing good rapport with one another, opportunities for dynamic interaction between students, faculty expression of caring and attentiveness to students, active participation by the faculty in online discussion, opportunities for peer review, participation in group projects, multiple opportunities for student interaction, student academic or emotional support for one another, and encouragement for students to share opposing points of view.

Quantitative Data Analysis

Descriptive analysis, reliability analysis, comparative analysis (independent sample t-tests), missing data imputation, and multiple linear regression analysis were used to answer the quantitative research questions. The data were analyzed using IBM SPSS 25.0 software. (See code book Appendix C.)

Descriptive Analysis

For research questions one and three, background and demographic data listed above were analyzed using frequencies to gain a better understanding of online faculty teaching in community colleges.

Reliability Analysis

For research questions two and four, reliability analysis was conducted to determine how well sets of items in a scale is associated with the overall scale, using item-total correlation (Urdan, 2010). Reliability analysis was conducted for question items categorized into the Community of Inquiry categories of teaching, cognitive and social presence (Q2 a/b, Q3, Q4). The same analysis was completed for the reported student engagement practices (Q5). The Cronbach's alpha was used as a measure of reliability, with .70 or larger used as the cut-off point for acceptance of internal consistency between items.

Independent sample *t*-test

Comparative analysis was used to answer research question five. Independent sample t-tests were conducted to determine if there was a significant difference between means of the dependent variable and selected independent variables. In this case, the dependent variable (student engagement) was compared with independent variables of employment status (Q11), highest degree attained (Q13), orientation to online teaching (Q14) and prior training in student engagement strategies (Q15). Prior research supports a need for further study to compare these variables and online student engagement. Only the highest degree earned was recoded as PhD, MS, professional degree at "1", bachelors/associates degree/other as "2". The assumption of equal variance was analyzed using the Levene's test for equality of variances. A significant (p < .05) result of the Levene's test indicates that the variances of the dependent variable of significantly different and the assumption of equal

variances is violated (Urdan, 2010). Assumption of normality was evaluated based on the skewness of the ordinal variables with arrange of -1 to 1 has deemed to be appropriate to accept. For each test, *t* values were analyzed to determine if previous assumptions were met.

Multiple Linear Regression

Multiple linear regression was used to test the hypothesis to confirm the relationship between the independent and dependent variables in research question six. This equation would be: $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \beta_3 X_3 + \beta_4 X_4 + \beta_5 X_5 + \beta_6 X_6 + \beta_7 X_7 + \beta_8 X_8 + \beta_9 X_9 + \beta_8 X_9 + \beta_8$ $\beta_{10} X_{10} + \beta_{11} X_{11} + \beta_{12} X_{12} + \beta_{13} X_{13} + \beta_{14} X_{14} + \beta_{15} X_{15} + e$. Y is the predicted value for the dependent variable (online student engagement.) Each β value represents the slope of the lines. β₀ represents constant where the X intercepts the Y axis. X represents each of the independent variables in this equation. The error (e) is the distance between the variable and the regression line. In this study, there were fifteen independent variables selected based on previous literature and the findings of the reliability analysis. The independent variables were categorized into five blocks. Block 1 included employment status, highest degree earned, gender, age, and ethnicity. Block 2 included years of higher education teaching, years of experience online, orientation, training, number of course sections, number of communication modes, and number of teaching tools. Blocks 3, 4 and 5 consisted of the combined Teaching Presence variable, Cognitive Presence variable, and Social Presence variable. The equation for this research questions is: Online Student Engagement = β_0 + $\beta_{employment} \ X_{employment} + \beta_{degree} \ X_{degree} + \beta_{gender} \ X_{gender} + \beta_{age} \ X_{age} + \beta_{Caucasian} \ X_{Caucasian} + \beta_{teachexp}$ $X_{teachexp} + \beta_{onlineexp} \ X_{onlineexp} + \beta_{orientation} \ X_{orientation} + \beta_{training} \ X_{training} + \beta_{numcourses} \ X_{numcourses} + \beta_{numcourses} + \beta_{numcour$ $\beta_{communication} X_{communication} + \beta_{tools} X_{tools} + \beta_{TeachingPresence} X_{TeachingPresence} + \beta_{CognitivePresence}$ $X_{\text{CognitivePresence}} + \beta_{\text{SocialPresence}} X_{\text{SocialPresence}} + e.$

Qualitative Data Analysis

Qualitative research is typically used to describe the experiences of the subjects. This quantitative study included two open-ended questions, (Q7) and (Q8) that asked participants to define online student engagement in their own words and list or describe the teaching strategy that was the most effective in engaging online students. These questions were included to answer research questions three and seven. For these responses, key words and ideas were identified. Similar terms were grouped together to identify patterns. The findings about effective student engagement strategies were used to compare with the quantified question in research question three.

Limitations/Delimitations

In the interpretation of the results of this study, there were several limitations to consider. First, self-reported data has its own set of limitations. Participants respond based on the totality of unique experiences and may have approached the survey thinking of their entire career teaching online, while others may have focused on one single course as specified in the directions. Each participant possesses a unique set of teaching skills which may impact their opinions of these strategies.

Second, this study was limited by the sample size and demographic characteristics of participants who completed the survey. The perceptions of faculty teaching in these community colleges may not be applied to other institutions with different demographic characteristics, specifically in another part of the country or in an institution with more diverse student and faculty populations. In addition, faculty in community colleges may have unique characteristics not generalizable to faculty nationwide. In this sample, a higher proportion of full-time faculty completed the survey and part-time faculty were underrepresented.

Third, the technological aspect of the online learning management systems was not compared or evaluated, although technology has been found to have an impact on faculty and student engagement (Coates, 2007). Previous research has been published addressing factors and outcomes related to faculty and student interactivity within learning management systems. Not all subjects in this sample were using the same learning management system. Based on the previous research about technical barriers with online education, these biases may impact faculty perceptions.

Fourth, there are limitations when asking questions about specific areas of basic job performance. Responses may be positively biased when reported behaviors are included as part of institutional employment or teaching requirements. For example, institutions may have minimum online course requirements for instructors which are imposed and influence teaching practices accordingly. Faculty may be implementing teaching strategies because they have no choice, despite truly buying in or believing in their success.

Finally, some questions in the survey were originally written for students and would seemingly be less accurate when faculty are being asked to estimate how they are impacting students than the opinions of student who are experiencing the outcomes directly. This concern was also identified in previous research which adapted student survey instruments for faculty use (Dixson, 2010).

Ethical Issues

Prior approve by the Iowa State University Institutional Review Board was required for this study since it involved human participants. The proposal for this research was approved on May 1, 2017. The approval document was sent to all four community colleges involved in the data collection. See Appendix D for approval letter. One of the community colleges required completion of its own approval, which was completed on August 2, 2017.

74

During the data collection, no personal identifiers (name, employer identification, social security number, date of birth) were collected. Anonymity of participants was maintained throughout the study. The primary researcher had no contact with participants other than in the introductory e-mail.

Significance of the Study

This study has theoretical, research and practical importance for all stakeholders impacted by online student engagement. From the theoretical perspective, this research provides insight as to how the Community of Inquiry may be applied to online faculty perceptions of engagement and their teaching practices. Understanding how faculty can impact online student engagement ultimately impacts retention and the success of the student and the institution (Morris, Finnegan, & Sz-shyan, 2005). This research fills an important gap in literature, as it focuses on the challenges with engaging with students learning in a virtual environment through the lens of online faculty. In addition, the finalized survey instrument could be used in other settings to evaluate factors that motivate faculty to act in other areas than engagement. In practice, this study can inform administrators, staff and faculty on how communication and teaching practices might be consistently implemented throughout the institution in a strategic way.

Summary

The purpose of Chapter 3 was to describe the methodology for collecting and analyzing demographic information, teaching information, teaching strategies and perceptions online community college faculty have about online student engagement. This study focused on the three areas of online "presence" using the Community of Inquiry framework to measure teaching, cognitive and social presence behaviors. As online faculty continue to be the primary institutional connection students have with an institution, it is

important to collect data from these stakeholders. There is need to explore the engagement behaviors of faculty as online course offerings continue to expand throughout higher education institutions.

CHAPTER 4. FINDINGS

This chapter includes a summary of detailed results, statistics and qualitative summary for all research questions in three sections using tables and descriptions. The first section contains the results of the descriptive analysis for the entire sample for demographic information, teaching information and practices. Also included are the results of reliability testing on the relationship between items measuring online student engagement and Community of Inquiry teaching practices. The second section includes the comparative analysis, summarizing the results of the independent paired t-tests. This section also includes the results of the regression analysis showing factor influence on student engagement. The final section includes a summary of faculty definitions of online student engagement and discussion of this open-ended question.

Missing Data Imputation

Some survey responses had missing data on specific items. For independent sample t-test and regression analysis, list-wise deletion was utilized. For the short-answer questions, some responses did not directly correspond to the question and were not included in the analysis and summary.

Descriptive Analysis

Descriptive analysis was conducted for demographic and teaching information about the sample of community college faculty teaching online using frequencies, means, modes, standard deviations, and ranges, where applicable. The total sample of usable survey responses in this study was 268, a 49.9% response rate. The results of these analyses are found in Tables 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3.

RQ1: What are the demographic characteristics of community college faculty teaching online that participated in the survey?

Table 4.1 Demographic Characteristics (n = 268)

Variable		n	%
Gender	Male	106	39.6
Sender	Female	140	52.2
	Another	1	.4
	Prefer not to answer	21	7.8
A ~ ((() ~ ()			1.5
Age (years)	<30	4	
	30-39	45	16.8
	40-49	68	25.4
	50-59	75 50	28.0
	60 and older	59	22.0
	Prefer not to answer	17	6.3
Ethnicity	African American	4	1.5
	American Indian	1	.4
	Asian	3	1.1
	Hispanic	2	.7
	Caucasian	231	86.2
	Multi-Racial	7	2.6
	Other	2	.7
	Prefer not to answer	18	6.7
Employment	Full-time	140	52.2
r	Part-time	128	47.8
Highest Degree	PhD or EdD	42	15.7
Earned	Master's	187	69.8
	Professional degree	6	2.2
	Bachelor's degree	21	7.8
	Associate's degree	7	2.6
	Other credential	5	1.9
Experience	1-3 years	13	4.9
Teaching	4-6 years	35	13.1
(n = 267)	7-10 years	49	18.4
	11-14 years	38	14.2
	15 or more	132	49.3
	Missing	1	.4
Experience	<1 year	5	1.9
Teaching Online	1-3 years	46	17.2
	4-6 years	67	25.0
	7-10 years	63	23.5
	11-14 years	53	19.8
	15 years or more	34	12.7

According to Table 4.1, slightly more than half of the participants in this study were female (52.2%). The most prevalent age group was ages 50-59, with 75% of participants

reporting ages 40 years and older and 22% reported 60 years and older. Most participants reported to be Caucasian (86%). Employment status was divided evenly between the two groups with 52.2% being full-time and 47.8% part-time. In the category of highest degree earned, more than 85% had a Master's degree or higher, with 69.8% having a Master's degree and 17.9% a PhD/ EdD or Professional degree when the two categories were combined. Participants reported years of experience in higher education, with nearly half (49.3%) teaching fifteen years or more and 81.9% of the sample reported at least seven years of teaching experience. Online experience was more evenly distributed between groups with 25% teaching 4-6 years, 23.5% 7-10 years, 19.8% 11-14 years and 17.2% 1-3 years.

Teaching information was analyzed similarly and data are reported in Tables 4.2 and 4.3.

Table 4.2 *Teaching Characteristics* (n = 268)

Variable		n	%
Orientation	Yes	177	66.0
	No	91	34.0
Training in	Yes	228	85.1
Engagement	No	39	14.6
	Missing	1	.4
Faculty Interaction	1-4 hours	61	22.8
Time Spent/Week	5-8 hours	87	32.5
	9-12 hours	52	19.4
	13-16 hours	34	12.7
	17-20 hours	18	6.7
	21-30 hours	10	3.7
	31 or more	5	1.9
	Missing	1	6.3
Expected Student	Daily	59	22.0
Log-ins/ Week	3-4 times per week	176	65.7
	1-2 times per week	32	11.9
	Less than weekly	1	.4
Student Referrals	0	52	19.4
Support Services/	1-5	176	65.7
Semester	6-11	26	9.7
	12 or more	14	5.2

According to Table 4.2, two-thirds of survey participants reported that they had received training in online teaching and an even higher number (85.1%) reported having continuing education or training related to online student engagement. In reporting time spent responding or providing feedback to students, one third of faculty (32.5%) spend 5-8 hours per week with the next most common report being 1-4 hours per week (22.8%) and 9-12 hours (19.4%). Because this question was not created as a continuous variable, the mean score for this question was not meaningful. Two thirds of participants (65.7%) reported that they expected their online students to log in to their online courses 3-4 times per week and 22% expect daily log-ins. A small portion require less frequent log-ins (11.9%) 1-2 times per week and only one respondent indicated students should log in less than weekly. Approximately 80% of participants reported referring at least one online students to support services per semester.

Table 4.3 Communication and Online Teaching Tools (n = 268)

Variables		n	% Using
Communication	Internal college e-mail	265	98.9
Modes	Phone	129	48.1
	Student' personal e-mail	99	36.6
	Text	85	31.7
	In personal meeting	78	29.1
	Web meetings	65	24.3
	Other	16	6.0
	Announcements	11	4.1
	Social media	10	3.7
	Discussions	6	2.2
	Online chat	4	1.5
Teaching Tools	Gradebook	255	95.1
C	Quizzes	237	88.4
	Announcements	224	83.6
	Discussions	220	82.1
	Assignment dropboxes	219	81.7
	Calendar	201	75.0
	Rubrics	159	59.3

Table 4.3 (continued)

Recorded video	134	50.0
Interactive text reading	57	21.3
Blogs	16	6.0
Other	16	6.0
Missing	3	1.1

Table 4.3 presents the types of communication methods online faculty reported that they use to communicate with students, as well as any of the tools used in their online courses. For this table, the percent of participants from the total sample (n=268) who reported using that tool or method is listed. Participants could select any options that applied. Three new options were created from multiple similar write-in responses: Discussions was coded as "9", Online_chat as "10", and Announcements coded as "11". With communication, nearly all online faculty participating report the use of the internal college e-mail (98.9%) and nearly 50% reported communicating with students by phone. The number of respondents reporting the use of students' personal e-mail (36.6%), texting (31.7%) and in-person meetings (29.1%) were more evenly distributed. Other methods listed by participants and not included in this list were forums, announcements and instant messaging within the learning management system.

The types of learning management tools are also listed in Table 4.3 and again participants could choose any options that applied. For this question, the responses were consistently higher than the communication reported. More than 80% of participants report using the gradebook, quizzes, announcements, discussions, assignment dropboxes, with more than 95% using the grade book tool. Additional tools faculty listed in the "Other" category included power point lectures, online chats, and videos.

To investigate the demographic data in a more meaningful way, the means, modes, ranges and standard deviations (SD) of selected teaching variables are shown in Table 4.4.

Three new variables were created for each response by adding the total number of course sections, total communication methods and total tools used into CourseTotal, CommTotal and ToolTotal, respectively.

Table 4.4 Means, Modes, Ranges and Standard Deviations of Teaching Demographic Variables (n = 268)

Variables	Mean	Mode	Range	SD
Number of Course Sections per Year*	5.02	2.00	44.50	4.87
Total number of communication methods	2.86	3.00	6.00	1.37
Total number of teaching tools*	6.50	7.00	10.00	1.77

^{* =} missing 3 responses in these two variables

Participants were asked to report the number of course sections they teach within an academic calendar year. The mean number was five course sections. It should be noted that the range in course number was 44, as one participant reported teaching 45.5 sections per year, and the least reported was one. To further analyze responses about communication methods, a new variable of "total number of communication methods" was created to quantify the number of different methods used per participant. As noted in Table 4.4, the mean total number of communication methods used was 2.86, with standard deviation 1.37, range of 6.0 and most common number of communication methods was three. As noted in the previous question, to further analyze these responses about online teaching tools, a new variable of "total number of tools" was created to quantify the number of different used according to each participant. The mean number of methods used was much higher than the communication methods with a mean of 6.50, standard deviation of 1.77, range of 10. The most common number of tools utilized was seven.

RQ2: Among survey participants, to what degree of engagement do community college faculty rate their students in the online courses they teach?

Items five and six on the survey instrument were used to answer this question by asking participants to respond to a series of five-point Likert-scale statements about online student engagement and then providing an overall rating from one to ten about how engaged their students to be in their courses. Table 4.5 presents to means and standard deviations of the responses to these questions.

Table 4.5 *Means and Standard Deviations of Engagement Variables (n* = 256)

Variables (Engagement)	Mean	SD
My students regularly log in to the online course throughout the	3.88	,910
semester.*		
My students regularly complete assigned work and assessments by course deadlines.*	4.12	.752
My students actively participate in online course discussions by responding to other students' posts in meaningful ways.*	3.81	.983
My students get to know one another throughout the course.*	3.35	1.123
My students routinely use critical thinking for solutions to proposed problems.	4.03	.779
Overall student engagement rating**	7.34	1.36

Note: *Responses in 5-point Likert scale, 1= strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3= neither agree nor disagree, 4= agree, 5= strongly agree **Rating scale for overall student engagement was 1-10, 1= least engaged, 10= most engaged

In comparing the five student engagement activity statements, regular completion of work and use of critical thinking received the highest mean scores. Participants reported that students were less likely to get to know one another as compared to the other statements, and this statement also had the highest standard deviation. The overall engagement scores ranged from as low as two and as high as 10, with 8 being the most common rating (32%) with 78.2% of participants rating their courses seven or higher and 17.6% rating online student engagement at nine or higher.

RQ3: Among survey participants, to what extent are community college faculty using teaching practices supported by the Community of Inquiry framework?

To better understand the extent to which faculty report using teaching practices supported by the Community of Inquiry framework, responses to statements about the three forms of presence are shown in Tables 4.6, 4.7 and 4.8. A total of 27 Likert-scale items were analyzed ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree.

Table 4.6 Means and Standard Deviations Teaching Presence Variables (n = 260, missing = 8)

Variables (Teaching Presence)	Mean	SD
I provide timely feedback to students on written assignments (within	4.63	.634
1 week of submission.) I provided detailed feedback that guides students toward learning objectives.	4.41	.641
I incorporate multiple instructional strategies into my online course (videos, web links, discussion).	4.24	.799
My course is set up in an organized way, using the appropriate tools within the learning management system.	4.59	.610
I provide explanation to students (in any format) about how to participate in the course and use of its components.	4.50	.687
I correct student thinking about concepts based on performance on assignments and assessments.	4.22	.755
I present opposing views about my course topics when appropriate.	3.99	.904
I work to establish a sense of community among students.	3.93	.861
I communicate my availability and accessibility to students throughout the course.	4.59	.623
I communicate with students in multiple ways (e-mail, text, phone).	3.98	1.054
I express passion for course content.	4.50	.610
Throughout the course, students get to know me as a person.	3.70	.977
I have incorporated a personal photo and/or video in the course so students can "visualize" their instructor.	3.49	1.436
Overall mean (all teaching presence items)	4.22	.471

Note: Responses in 5-point Likert scale, 1= strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3= neither agree nor disagree, 4= agree, 5= strongly agree

Based on the Community of Inquiry framework (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2000), teaching presence involves strategies about course design and organization, facilitation and direct instruction. Of the thirteen statements about teaching presence, participants reported most agreement with statements about providing timely feedback, course organization, explanation

about participation, passion for course content and providing detailed feedback toward learning objects (all with means of 4.41 or higher). Participants reported lowest agreement with statements about establishing community, promoting student getting to know the instructor as a person and incorporating a photo or video into the course. These items also had the highest standard deviations, indicating a greater variance in responses.

Table 4.7 Means and Standard Deviations Cognitive Presence Variables (n = 260, missing = 8)

Variables (Cognitive Presence)	Mean	SD
My online course is as rigorous as a similar course presented in a traditional lecture format.	4.38	.746
I provide thought-provoking questions as part of assignments and discussions.	4.42	.735
I provide course content that is relevant to real-life situations.	4.53	.597
I provide ways for students to apply course material to real-life situations.	4.39	.683
I promote ways for students to develop solutions to problems presented from course material.	4.21	.698
Overall mean (all cognitive presence items)	4.39	.519

Note: Responses in 5-point Likert scale, 1= strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3= neither agree nor disagree, 4= agree, 5= strongly agree

Cognitive presence involves strategies that trigger thinking, exploring new information, integrating the information and obtaining a resolution to proposed problems. Of the five items in this category, providing course content relevant to real-life situations was the highest and developing solutions to problems the lowest, although all questions scored 4.21 or higher.

Table 4.8 Means and Standard Deviations Social Presence Variables (n = 261, missing =7)

Variables (Social Presence)	Mean	SD
My students establish a good rapport with one another.	3.48	.962
My course provides opportunities for dynamic interaction throughout	3.61	.971
the course.		
I express care and attentiveness to students' needs.	4.46	.604
I actively participate in online discussions by responding to	3.86	1.017
individual posts.		
My students have opportunities within the course for peer review.	3.23	.779
My students have opportunities to participate in group projects that	2.58	1.184
involve problem solving.		
My students have multiple opportunities to interaction with one	3.69	1.161
another throughout the course.		
My students have opportunities to provide academic and emotional	3.29	1.120
support for one another.		
My students are actively encouraged to share differing points of	4.03	.966
view.		
Overall mean (all social presence items)	3.58	.726

Note: Responses in 5-point Likert scale, 1= strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3= neither agree nor disagree, 4= agree, 5= strongly agree

Social presence focuses on techniques that promote interaction and community with other students. These sets of statements have lower means that the previous two sets of statements about teaching and cognitive presence. Only two questions scored higher than four and those included faculty expressing care for students and encouraging students to share different points of view. One question scored below three (2.58) which asked about opportunities for group projects within their courses. This question also had the largest standard deviation. In comparing the overall means of each set of Community of Inquiry items, social presence fell below 4.0, agree or higher.

Participants also had the opportunity to write in their most engaging strategy and these results in presented in Table 4.9. Responses to this open-ended question were individually reviewed and coded, combining common terminology and themes. Then, these items were

categorized according to the form of presence consistent with the Community of Inquiry framework (Arbaugh et al., 2008).

Table 4.9 Summary of "Most Effective" Online Faculty Engagement Strategies (n = 212)

Online Engagement Strategy	Frequency	Community of Inquiry Presence
Discussions/student interaction/peer review/group work	39	Social
Clear, in-depth, timely, effective feedback provided by faculty	38	Teaching
Thought-provoking questions/ challenging, meaningful, engaging material/ promotion of critical thinking	32	Cognitive
Frequent, timely, personalized contact	26	Teaching
Course organization, structure, alignment with course goals	19	Teaching
Use of media/technology/videos	19	Teaching
Variety of teaching strategies/ delivery methods	18	Teaching
Relevance of course material to real-life, career, future	17	Cognitive
Faculty availability/ "presence"	14	Teaching
Clear objectives/ expectations	13	Teaching
Interesting, motivating course material	11	Cognitive
Sense of community/ students get to know one another	11	Social
Faculty engagement/ participation	10	Social
Self-expression/ Self-reflection	9	Social
Faculty expression of caring/support/ encouragement	8	Social
Reach to students when they fall behind, stop participating or are having difficulty in the course	8	Social
Faculty work to get to know the students/ students get to know faculty	6	Social
Personalization of the course information	6	Cognitive
Virtual meetings between faculty and students	4	Teaching
Learning focused on process/ progression	2	Cognitive
Texting	1	Teaching
Study guides	1	Teaching

 $\frac{\text{(Missing} = 56)}{\text{(Missing} = 56)}$

The three most common strategies reported by participants fell into each of the presence categories – social, teaching and cognitive (in that order). Clearly, there is no "best way" to engage students, with 22 unique response themes. Several responses included more than one strategy and these were added to the totals for that response.

Reliability analysis

Better understanding of Likert-type items is gained by analyzing multi-item measures instead of a single item (Gliem & Gliem, 2003). McIver and Carmines (1981) report that not only is single item analysis less accurate and unreliable, but sufficient information to estimate their measurement properties is lacking (McIver & Carmines, 1981). Reliability analysis was conducted to answer research questions four a through d.

- RQ4: 4a. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring online faculty perceptions of student engagement?
 - 4b. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote teaching presence?
 - 4c. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote cognitive presence?
 - 4d. Among survey participants, what inter-relationships exist among variables measuring strategies that promote social presence?

 Table 4.10
 Reliability Analysis for Student Engagement Variable

Variable	Corrected Item Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if item deleted
Student Engagement (n=254)		
$(\alpha = .800)$		
My students regularly log in to the online course throughout the semester.	.566	.767
My students regularly complete assigned work and assessments by course deadlines.	.558	.773
My students actively participate in online course discussions by responding to other students' posts in meaningful ways.	.734	.710
My students get to know one another throughout the course.	.642	.747
My students routinely use critical thinking for solutions to proposed problems.	.448	.800

Note: Responses in 5-point Likert scale, 1= strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3= neither agree nor disagree, 4= agree, 5= strongly agree

Table 4.10 reports the corrected item correlation and Cronbach's Alpha for the combined Student Engagement statements (Q5_1,2,3,4,5). The stronger the correlation between items, the closer the Cronbach's Alpha will be to 1.0. A Cronbach's Alpha of .70 or higher is considered acceptably reliable and .80 is considered to have good reliability (Urdan, 2010). This combined alpha for this construct (the dependent variable) was .800 and the deletion of items did not provide an improved result so all five items were included in the Student Engagement variable construct.

 Table 4.11
 Reliability Analysis for Community of Inquiry Presence Variables

	Corrected	Cronbach's
	Corrected Item Total	Alpha if item
Variable	Correlation	deleted
Teaching Presence (n=260)	Conclution	defeted
$(\alpha = .818)$		
I provide timely feedback to students on written assignments (within 1 week of submission.)	.399	.810
I provide detailed feedback that guides students toward learning objectives.	.536	.802
I incorporate multiple instructional strategies into my online course (videos, web links, discussion).	.519	.801
My course is set up in an organized way, using the appropriate tools within the learning management system.	.516	.804
I provide explanation to students (in any format) about how to participate in the course and use of its components.	.606	.797
I correct student thinking about concepts based on performance on assignments and assessments.	.586	.797
I present opposing views about my course topics when appropriate.	.399	.811
I work to establish a sense of community among students.	.550	.798
I communicate my availability and accessibility to students throughout the course.	.491	.805
I communicate with students in multiple ways (e-mail, text, phone).	.366	.815
I express passion for course content.	.591	.800
Throughout the course, students get to know me as a person.	.554	.797
I have incorporated a personal photo and/or video in the course so students can "visualize" their instructor.	.286	.839

Table 4.11 (continued)

Cognitive Presence (n=263) $(\alpha = .803)$		
My online course is as rigorous as a similar course presented in a traditional lecture format.	.443	.812
I provide thought-provoking questions as part of assignments and discussions.	.622	.753
I provide course content that is relevant to real-life situations.	.687	.740
I provide ways for students to apply course material to real-life situations.	.669	.739
I promote ways for students to develop solutions to problems presented from course material.	.546	.777
Social Presence (n=261)		
$(\alpha = .867)$		
My students establish a good rapport with one another.	.733	.841
My course provides opportunities for dynamic interaction throughout the course.	.694	.844
I express care and attentiveness to students' needs.	.333	.872
I actively participate in online discussions by responding to individual posts.	.371	.873
My students have opportunities within the course for peer review.	.621	.851
My students have opportunities to participate in group projects that involve problem solving.	.519	.861
My students have multiple opportunities to interaction with one another throughout the course.	.785	.833
My students have opportunities to provide academic and emotional support for one another.	.701	.842
My students are actively encouraged to share differing points of view.	.653	.848

Note: Responses in 5-point Likert scale, 1= strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3= neither agree nor disagree, 4= agree, 5= strongly agree

Table 4.11 reports the corrected item correlation and Cronbach's Alpha for the combined Community of Inquiry teaching practice statements for teaching presence (Q2a_1,2,3,4,5,6, 2b_1,2,3,4,5,6,7, cognitive presence Q3_1,2,3,4,5), and social presence (Q4_1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9). All Cronbach's Alpha levels were .80 or higher, with the highest being social presence at .867. The deletion of specific items in each presence variable only minimally improved the alpha

level. Each presence construct was accepted as reliable and used as independent variables to answer subsequent research questions.

Independent samples t-test

RQ5: Are there any significant differences among survey participants in reported student engagement based on full-time or part-time employment, highest degree attained, orientation to online teaching, or training in student engagement practices?

Research question five sought to compare how the means of two independent variables differ when measuring online student engagement. Previous research has been conducted about how the demographics of faculty such as employment status, education, orientation and training may impact online student engagement (Allen, Seaman, Lederman, & Jaschik, 2012; Batts, Pagliari, Mallett, & McFadden, 2010.) Independent *t*-tests were conducted to compare online student engagement with full-time and part-time employment, higher degrees of PhD/Masters/Professional and Bachelors/Associates/Other, orientation to teaching online and prior training in online student engagement.

Table 4.12 Independent Sample t-test Results Comparing Teaching Variables and Online Student

Independent Variable							95% CI
	n	Mean	SD	t	df	p	
Employment				.391	252	.696	[-0.13, 0.20]
Full-time (1)	129	3.85	.665				
Part-time (2)	125	3.81	.709				
Highest degree earned				1.95	247	.052	[-0.02,0.54]
PhD/Masters/Professional (1)	222	3.86	.686				
Bachelors/Associates/Other (2)	27	3.59	.684				
Orientation to Online Teaching				1.07	252	.286	[-0.82, 0.28]
Yes (1)	171	3.86	.703				
No (2)	83	3.76	.650				
Training in Engagement				2.73	251	.007	[0.09, 0.56]
Yes (1)	215	3.88	.687				
No (2)	38	3.55	.633				

(Significance = p < .05)

Table 4.12 reports the difference between means of the grouped independent variables for online student engagement. The analysis only produced a significant t value (t =2.73, df=251, p = .007) for the training in engagement variable. Examination of means indicated that those faculty who have training have a higher mean (M = 3.88) than those who have not had training (M=3.55). From this analysis one could conclude that those faculty who have had training in online student engagement reported higher online student engagement than those that had not had training.

Regression analysis

RQ6: Among survey participants, to what extent do the demographic characteristics and online teaching practices predict perceived online student engagement?

Multiple linear regression was used to answer research question six, about the extent that demographic factors, teaching factors and Community of Inquiry practices predict online student engagement. Based on the reliability analysis reported in Tables 4.10 and 4.11, the student engagement items were recoded to a new Student Engagement (dependent) variable and teaching presence items recoded into new variables Teach, Cognitive and Social (independent) variables. Table 4.13 represents the detailed results of the sequential multiple regression.

 Table 4.13
 Predictors of Online Student Engagement

Variable	В	β	t	p	Adjusted R^2
Demographics (Block 1)					0.000
Constant	4.246		14.358.	.000	
Gender	002	002	031	.975	
Age	040	0069	-1.036	.301	
Caucasian	022	011	154	.878	
Employment status	026	019	293	.770	
Highest degree earned	097	125	-1.931	.055	
Teaching Information (Block 2)					0.116
Constant	3.897		9.808	.000	
Gender	020	022	327	.744	

Table 4.13 (continued)

A ~~	026	046	622	520	
Age Caucasian	026 .028	046 .014	632 .206	.528 .837	
Employment status	.028 065	047	738	.837 .461	
1 0					
Highest degree earned	056	072	-1.129	.260	
Years teaching higher ed.	028	050	633	.528	
Years teaching online	.025	.049	.601	.549	
Orientation	054	036	562	.574	
Training in engagement	237	121	-1.882	.061	
Communication total	038	076	-1.220	.224	
Teaching tools total	.097	.246	3.765	.000*	
Number of course sections	.025	.170	2.427	.016	0.337
C of I Teach (Block 3)					
Constant	.768		1.553	.122	
Gender	022	024	414	.680	
Age	034	.060	945	.346	
Caucasian	003	001	023	.981	
Employment status	113	.082	-1.481	.140	
Highest degree earned	017	.022	398	.691	
Years teaching higher ed.	033	060	876	.382	
Years teaching online	.035	.067	.943	.347	
Orientation	.006	.004	.071	.943	
Training in engagement	028	014	248	.804	
Communication total	073	144	-2.652	.009	
Teaching tools total	0.58	.147	2.553	.011	
Number of course sections	.013	.091	1.491	.137	
Teach presence	.772	.518	8.881	.000*	
C of I Cognitive (Block 4)					0.364
Constant	.110		.209	.835	
Gender	027	030	533	.594	
Age	038	066	-1.062	.289	
Caucasian	020	010	-1.70	.865	
Employment status	087	063	-1.158	.248	
Highest degree earned	010	013	245	.807	
Years teaching higher ed.	028	050	741	.460	
Years teaching online	.020	.038	.545	.586	
Orientation	.022	.015	.268	.789	
Training in Engagement	.034	.018	.310	.757	
Communication total	073	143	-2.691	.008	
Teaching tools total	.052	.133	2.341	.020	
Number of course sections	.013	.092	1.525	.129	
Teach presence	.620	.417	6.360	.000*	
_					
Cognitive presence	.286	.211	3.271	.001	

Table 4.13 (continued)

C of I Social (Block 5)					0.571
Constant	023		054	.957	
Gender	.005	.005	.115	.908	
Age	034	060	-1.180	.239	
Caucasian	.177	.085	1.808	.072	
Employment status	067	048	-1.084	.280	
Highest degree earned	004	005	108	.914	
Years teaching higher ed.	005	009	157	.876	
Years teaching online	.035	.067	1.163	.246	
Orientation	.079	.053	1.178	.240	
Training in Engagement	*000	*000	001	.999	
Communication total	044	086	-1.955	.052	
Teaching tools total	.005	.012	.243	.808	
Number of course sections	.016	.112	2.267	.024	
Teach presence	.228	.153	2.579	.011	
Cognitive presence	.172	.127	2.370	.019	
Social presence	.560	.577	10.551	.000	

Note. n=268 p-value is significant at <.05, *value is <.001 See codebook (Appendix C).

The first block of independent variables included gender, age, Caucasian, employment status, and highest degree. Block two included teaching demographics which included years teaching, years in online education, online orientation, training in engagement, total number of courses teaching, total number of communication methods and total number of online teaching tools used. These were selected based on the literature review, however, this exploratory study fulfills a gap in the literature about the combination of these variables and the impact on online student engagement. Block three included the Teach variable, block four included the new Cognitive variable and block five included the new Social variable. Together, these predictors accounted for 57% of the variance in online student engagement. A significant improvement in the model was noted after Block 5 (social presence) was added, as the β value improved by more than four times. The only independent variables that were significant predictors were the number of course sections taught, and the Teach, Cognitive and Social variables. The

Community of Inquiry Social variable (β =.58) was the highest predictor and positively associated with online student engagement.

Qualitative Analysis

RQ7: How do online community college faculty define online student engagement in their current courses?

Qualitative analysis was completed on the final open-ended survey question, defining online student engagement. Responses were reviewed and coded by themes and common words. Of the total number of participants, 71% completed the open-ended question (n=211). Response themes were grouped together with similar ideas and when synonyms were used. The length of responses varied from one single word to a multiple-sentence paragraph that included a detailed explanation of that participant's definition of engagement and examples. Eight responses indicated that online student engagement could not be defined or not be achieved.

Table 4.14 Summary of Faculty Definitions of Online Student Engagement (n = 211)

Definition of Online Student Engagement	Frequency	%
Combination of frequent log-ins, timely completion, discussion/blog participation, asking questions /Active participation all course activities	75	35.5
Active learning /engaged in learning/motivation for learning/ excited or passionate about topic, seeks further understanding	43	20.3
Interaction with other students and instructor	42	19.9
Timely coursework completion	17	8.1
Evidence of growth as a learner/ culminating final course project	11	5.2
Evidence of application of information	10	4.7
Discussion participation	9	4.2
Depends on the course structure, students, limited engagement, can't be defined for a group, not accomplished	8	3.6
Sense of community established, get to know student personally	6	2.8
Doing more than the minimum/ put forth effort	6	2.8
Share, understand opposing viewpoint	4	1.9
Ongoing communication	4	1.9

 $\overline{\text{(Missing} = 57)}$

94

Table 4.14 lists the commonalities of statements in descending order. The most comment definition (n=75) included two combined similar responses about active course participation. These two were a listing of active participation in specific aspects of the course or a statement about being engaged in "all course activities." This definition was combined because both focus on activities and active participation. The second most common definition focused on aspects of learning (n=43) and the third related to interaction with other students and the instructor (n=42).

Examples of the diversity of responses are noted below. The first two examples are those responses that focused on the active participation and expand on aspects of learning and application. "Ongoing participation in the course activities as noted by their progress reports; timely submission of assignments and quizzes; their responses to the feedback that I provide to them once their completed assignments are graded; personal comments they may send as to how the course material is relevant to their life." "They log on. They check in. They talk to one another. They talk to me. They do the work. They ask questions. They check their grades. They improve based on feedback. I can see that they have grown. They show interest in what they are doing."

The third example focuses on the sense of community and learning as a group. "My students become excited about the topics we explore, encourage and communicate with each other, apply what they learn to their lives from the first week of class, and truly enjoy the overall experience, even though there is a lot of work. We are engaged in learning, exploring, and understanding as a group."

The fourth example includes a statement about the importance for the faculty to be engaged. "Active and timely participation to really understand the course material and content. This will come through active participation in the discussion threads and challenging students

through a myriad of means. Then, it's important for the instructor to be engaging and active in the class as well. This includes proper, timely and DETAILED feedback. You can't expect outcomes from the students that you, the instructor, are not willing to achieve yourself."

The final example includes a response about the skepticism of achieving student engagement in an online environment. "Online student engagement is a misplaced goal emphasizing clicks, likes, and interactions, rather than subject matter and real world tools or problem solving. By definition, online = second life, and thus "second life student engagement" inherently detaches a student from greater humanity."

Summary

This chapter presented the results of this study. Descriptive results illustrated the demographic characteristics of the faculty participating in this study and the extent to which they perceived online student engagement and implementation of the Community of Inquiry online teaching practices. Reliability testing produced a single factor to measure online student engagement and three factors corresponding with the Community of Inquiry forms of presence. Independent *t*-test results indicated that only faculty training produced a significant difference in online student engagement. The regression analysis model predicted an improvement in online student engagement based on the number of course sections taught in an academic year and the three forms of presence. Social presence contributed most to the predictability of the model. Qualitative results of open-ended questions were summarized. Discussion of the quantitative and qualitative results will be examined in more depth in Chapter 5, concluding with implications for practice and recommendations for future research.

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

This final chapter summarizes and discusses the results and significance of the seven research questions, as presented in the previous chapters. Based on this discussion, implications for practice and policy will be presented, followed by recommendations for future research.

Discussion

As identified in Chapter 1, the goal of this exploratory study was to address the problem of online student engagement and the need for better understanding about online faculty strategies used to achieve better outcomes. Chapter 2 reviewed literature describing the evolving role of online faculty, faculty perceptions on online teaching, characteristics of students, the Community of Inquiry framework, and the impacts of teaching practices. Online student engagement has previously been studied extensively to understand its impact on success, but the focus has primarily been on student data. A gap in literature identified the need to better understand faculty perceptions and teaching practices in this area.

There were four overarching goals of this study. First, there was need to understand how faculty perceive engagement of online students in their own courses. Second, using the extensively-researched Community of Inquiry framework, the extent to which online faculty have implemented teaching practices that support teaching, social and cognitive presence was measured. Third, independent variables were measured in the comparative and regression analyses to understand the impacts on online student engagement. The final goal was to capture how faculty define online student engagement.

Demographic Descriptive Analysis

The results of participants' demographic characteristics were used to answer the first research question. These data were compared with college, state and national demographic

faculty data in higher education. There is limited comparison data about online faculty, specifically. National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) data includes faculty teaching in all higher education institutions nationwide. The statewide community college annual report has some data which apply specifically to faculty but the report does not identify online faculty as a sub-group (*The annual condition of Iowa's community colleges*, 2016, p. 89). Additional national demographic data is also available from the Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2014).

Gender, age and ethnicity data reflected similar findings statewide. A slightly larger proportion of participants in this study were female. In this study, 52% of participants reported gender as female, 39.6% male, and another 8.2% did not disclose. According to NCES, in fall 2015, 49% of higher education faculty were female, 51% male (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017, p. 1.) The largest age groups in the sample were 50-59, 40-49 and 60 years and older, which was slightly older than the statewide averages. The mean age of community college instructors state-wide in 2016 was 49.5 years and median age was 50 years (*The annual condition of Iowa's community colleges*, 2016, p. 92). For ethnicity, the sample was less diverse than faculty nationwide, with 86.2% of the sample reported identifying with Caucasian. This was consistent with statewide demographics (U.S. 2010 Census Data, 2010). NCES data indicate that nationwide, 77% of faculty identify as Caucasian (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017, p. 2). This is not unexpected based on the demographic makeup of the state in the 2010 census was 91.4% (U.S. 2010 Census Data, 2010).

In comparing employment, the composition of full-time to part-time faculty closely aligned with national data about all higher education faculty but differed from the demographics in the four participating community colleges. NCES report indicates that 52% of faculty in all

higher education institutions were employed full-time and 48% part-time and this study produced a nearly identical result. However, statewide, part-time community college faculty far outnumber full-time faculty, with 30% employed full-time, 70% part-time (*The annual condition of Iowa's community colleges*, 2016, p. 94). According to the most recent (2015-2016) Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) data from the four participating community colleges in this study, 74.8% of faculty were employed part-time and 25.2% employed full-time (IPEDS Institution Profile, 2016). This indicates that a greater proportion of full-time faculty completed the survey than part-time faculty.

In comparing the highest degree earned for faculty participating in this study, 85.5% of participants reported having a master's degree or higher, which is higher than the current 65% of community college faculty statewide (*The annual condition of Iowa's community colleges*, 2016, p. 90). Previous data published about online faculty indicated that online faculty were more likely to have an advanced degree, however this was based on analysis of 2004 demographics when online education was less mainstream (Akroyd, Patton, & Bracken, 2013).

Participants in this study had teaching longevity in higher education, as nearly half of all participants had been teaching for 15 years or more. Data from the Center for Community College Student Engagement (2014) reported that 75% of full-time and part-time faculty combined had at least four years of experience teaching in higher education while in our study it was 95.1% (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2014). Of those participating in our study, 12.7% of the sample had been teaching online for more than 15 years and have experienced the transformation of distance education as previously described. More than 80% of participants had been teaching online at least four years.

Teaching Demographic Descriptive Analysis

Orientation and training are known to be a crucial part of faculty success in online teaching (Batts et al., 2010; Hoekstra, 2014; Meyer, 2014). Participants were asked to report whether they had received orientation to online teaching and prior training in student engagement practices. Two-thirds of participants reported being oriented to teaching online and 85.1% reported having prior training in student engagement practices. This may indicate that training is a priority in community colleges. If faculty have been teaching online since its inception, orientation may not have been available at that time. There is little national data to compare other than institutional reports indicating that training is inconsistent and may not be strategic (Lammers et al., 2017). However, Lichoro (2015) found that community college faculty in this same population lacked preparedness to teach online. Previous data has indicated that part-time faculty may be less likely to receive training (Peters et al., 2011; Meyer & Murrell, 2014) yet in this sample, a slightly higher proportion of part-time faculty (86.6%) had received training than full-time faculty (84%).

Teaching demographic data were analyzed to provide a more in-depth description of the sample. Timeliness of teaching online has been identified as a challenge for faculty.

Participants in this study estimated the amount of time spent each week responding to and interacting with online students. More than half of the participants reported spending eight hours or less each week. It was assumed that time spent by online faculty would vary depending on the number of course sections assigned. Number of course sections taught in an academic year for this sample ranged from 1 – 45.5 sections, with a mean of five course sections per academic year. Published data about time spent on teaching activities has compared full-time and part-time faculty in all teaching modalities (Center for Community College Student Engagement, 2014). These reports indicated that part-time faculty spent just as much time preparing for in-

class activities but less time providing feedback and responding (CCCSE, 2014, p.10). It is unclear how this might apply to online faculty. In this study, the time spent per course section could not be calculated because weekly time estimates were set as ranges. In addition, the number of reported sections taught varied in the number of credit hours per course and number of students per section, both of which would impact the time spent by faculty.

One of the teaching descriptive questions asked participants to report expectations of the frequency in which online students needed to log in each week to be successful. Dixson (2015) evaluated her Online Student Engagement scale against the number of student log-ins and interactions within the learning management system. Responses from this sample indicated that nearly two-thirds expected students to log-in 3-4 times per week and another 22% expected daily log-ins. As noted by Dixson (2015) and others, these expectations were difficult to evaluate in this study because the frequency of logging in did not capture the quality of the interaction within the course itself.

Communication has continued to be a critical aspect of faculty-student interaction and influential on engagement (Young, 2006; Dixson, 2010; Huang & Hsiao, 2012). Young (2006) and Dixson (2010) concluded that an increased number of communication methods correlated with higher student engagement. Our study asked faculty about the different modes used to communicate with students. The mean number of total communication methods was three. Nearly all participants reported using e-mail communication and nearly half used phone communication. Nearly one-third of participants reported using text communication with students. In previous studies, texting has been found to improve perceptions of learning (Swartzwelder, 2014) and promote a sense of community among students (Kovalik & Hosler, 2010). Research about faculty-student communication indicates that is critical to use the

communication mode preferred by individual students and this may be more important than the number of methods used (Young, 2006; Huang & Hsiao, 2012).

Multiple researchers have analyzed how teaching tools of the online learning system impact student engagement (Coates et al., 2005; Revere & Kovach, 2011; Jaggars et al., 2013; Meyer, 2014). Participants indicated which tools within the learning management system they used in their primary online course. More than 80% of all participants reported using at least five online tools, with the mean of 6.5 total tools used. There was a higher number of teaching tools utilized than communication modes. This is expected as the teaching tools encompass the entire course, while communication is one aspect of course delivery. Coates et al. (2005) concluded that tools with the learning management system are only effective if used in optimal ways to promote learning and engagement. Evaluating the types of tools used only provides a small piece of the engagement puzzle. Teaching strategies utilizing these tools are explored in more depth in the comparative analysis of the Community of Inquiry framework later in this discussion. Meyer (2014) reported that online faculty have experienced improvements in student learning through employing a variety of approaches. Her findings indicated that "although the same online teaching tools were available, faculty used the tools differently, depending on the subject and course" (Meyer, 2014, p. 584-585).

Student Engagement Analysis

Research question two sought to discover how participants rated their online students in activities of engagement, as well as overall engagement in their courses. Based on the Likert-scale ratings, two activities rated four or higher ("Agree"). These were completion of assigned work and assessments by the deadlines and routine use of critical thinking for problem solving. The lowest rated item on the scale was students getting to know one another in the course. This is not surprising, as the challenges of online student-student interaction and building a sense of

community have been extensively studied (Garrison, 2017) In the overall ranking, participants rated online student engagement as 7.4 on a scale from one to ten. Previous research has not rated student engagement in this way. However, Bolliger and Wasilik's (2009) survey of online faculty reported, "The majority of faculty believed that their online students are actively involved in their learning, participate at a good level, and communicate actively with course instructors" (Bolliger & Wasilik, 2009, p. 113). This finding also concurred with Berger's (2014) unpublished data about overall positive faculty perceptions of online student engagement.

Community of Inquiry Analysis

Research question three was answered by the Likert-scale questions in the three areas of presence within the Community of Inquiry framework. These faculty were more likely to have implemented teaching presence and cognitive presence practices within their courses than social presence practices. All the cognitive presence ratings averaged a 4.0 (agree) or higher and many of the teaching presence ratings were 4.0 or higher. The two lowest teaching presence items were interrelated in that they focused on the personal aspect of students getting to know the professor as a person and having a personal photo or video within the online course.

As noted above with the student engagement scale items, the social presence activities were less likely to have been implemented. Of the social presence items, faculty-student interactions such as expressing care for the student or encouraging differing points of view were more likely to be implemented than activities promoting interaction with, support for or getting to know other students. This is consistent with the findings of the Carlon et al. (2012) study in which the Community of Inquiry instrument produced two factors within social presence: social comfort (instructor-driven) and social experience (student-driven). Faculty have more influence and ability to impact student-instructor interaction than to student-student interaction.

Group projects that involved problem solving had the lowest score and the highest standard deviation, indicating that faculty either had these activities in their courses or they didn't occur at all. Morgan et al. (2014) collected data from online instructors' perceptions about group work and concluded that while faculty believed in the importance of online group work, more support was needed to implement them into their courses (Morgan, Williams, Cameron, & Wade, 2014).

Discussion of Independent t-tests

Research question five sought to determine if significant differences in online student engagement existed between groups based on employment status, highest degree, orientation to online teaching and training in online student engagement. All null hypotheses were accepted except for training in student engagement. A significant positive difference was found between those faculty who had prior training in student engagement. This finding is consistent with previous citations that faculty training can improve online teaching and impact online student engagement (Wolf, 2006; Meyer & Murrell, 2014; Bigatel & Williams, 2015). Our study did not inquire about the extent or content of the training and this could impact this finding. We would concur with the conclusions of Bigatel and Williams (2015), that other faculty attributes (beyond training) may also contribute to higher student engagement.

Discussion of Regression Model

Research question six was answered by determining to what extent the independent variables of faculty demographics, teaching characteristics and the three forms of presence established in the Community of Inquiry framework predict online student engagement. As reviewed in Chapters 3 and 4, five blocks were added sequentially to the model and findings reported in the previous chapter indicated that the number of courses and each of the forms of presence were positive predictors of online student engagement. Based on the R-square of .571,

this means that more than 57% of the variation in online student engagement was explained by the final model. The findings of the model are consistent with previous Community of Inquiry research that supports these strategies in improving student learning but the first study to support faculty perceptions of higher student engagement. Hostetter and Busch (2006) found that social presence in online and face-to-face courses did not have a significant effect on learning outcomes.

Number of courses

Number of course sections taught was grouped with block two and was the only teaching descriptive variable to be a significant predictor of higher student engagement. There is research to support that online faculty with more experience teaching online were more positive overall about online education and teaching (Windes & Lesht, 2014). The finding that more course sections taught led to increased engagement supports the general theory that "practice makes perfect." Previous literature has described the unique characteristics and skills for successful online teaching (Conceicao, 2006) and teaching more sections may allow faculty to hone these skills. Perhaps those faculty teaching full-time online have had the opportunity to implement consistent pedagogies that support engagement if this is their primary teaching modality.

Teaching presence

Teaching presence activities had a significant and positive effect on student engagement score. Teaching is the backbone of the Community of Inquiry model (Garrison, 2016) and is defined as a type of online instructional orchestration (Shea et al., 2010). Participants in this study readily reported implementing teaching practices that established teaching presence. These findings are consistent with previous studies supporting teaching presence and increased perceptions of higher learning and satisfaction in online courses (Garrison, Cleveland-Innes, &

Fung, 2010; Garrison, 2016). In our study, student learning could not be assessed, but increased teaching presence predicted higher perceived student engagement.

Cognitive presence

Cognitive presence variable also had a significant and positive effect on student engagement. This variable encompasses activities of deep thinking and learning that are established by the instructor. These survey items had the highest overall mean, indicating that participants reported implementing cognitive presence strategies more than the other two forms of presence. In terms of predictability, there was little improvement in the model when the cognitive variable Block 4, was added. This supports the interconnectedness of the forms of teaching and cognitive presence from an instructor's perspective, as those measures of cognitive presence were implemented by the instructor.

Social presence

Social presence had the most significant and positive effect on student engagement scores. A marked improvement in the final model was shown when the final social presence variable Block 5 was added. Social presence has been deemed to be a mediating factor in the Community of Inquiry framework (Garrison et al., 2010; Garrison, 2016). Previous researchers have concluded that social presence was the most important factor within the framework but difficult to isolate since it is innately embedded in cognitive and teaching presence (Armellini & De Stefani, 2016). Many have concluded that social presence and its relational aspects are complex and the impact of high instructor teaching presence increases students' social presence (Shea et al. 2010). This study would conclude that the impact of social presence activities within an online course are a key determining factor in predicting online student engagement.

Qualitative Summary Analysis

Two open ended questions were included in the survey instrument and both questions received a nearly 80% response rate among those participating in the survey. This is perhaps a testament to the engagement of faculty about this topic. The first item asked participants to list the teaching practice that they believed had the most impact on student engagement. Nearly every strategy listed has been evaluated and promoted in previous literature. As reported in Chapter 4, the top three answers were divided between each of the three forms of presence. The most common answer fell into the social presence realm, where participants listed discussions, group work or activities that promote interactivity with one another. The second and fourth most common answers were related to timeliness of feedback and frequency of faculty interactions. The third most common answer was in the cognitive category and included posing thoughtprovoking questions, providing challenging material or promoting critical thinking. The findings of this open-ended question consistently mirror the Community of Inquiry statements, however, there is certainly no consensus about "one best way" to engage students. This supports the theory that learning tools must be individualized to meet the unique needs of the students and a variety of strategies must be employed (Chakraborty & Nafukho, 2014)

The final survey item answered research question seven to understand how online faculty define online student engagement. More than one-third defined engagement as active participation in all of the course components including items such as discussions, learning activities, and assessments. This definition is consistent with Cole and Chan (1994), that focused on involvement and participation in learning activities. Approximately 20% defined engagement within the cognitive category, focused on active learning and seeking further understanding about course material and concepts. Nearly 20% defined engagement strictly as interaction with other students and the instructor. Few participants provided a definition that

encompassed all aspects of presence specifically, but the most common definition included some component of social interactivity, such as online discussions. Eight participants indicated that student engagement couldn't be defined or was not achievable in an online setting. It is logical that faculty would report micro-level definitions of engagement rather than definitions that encompassed institutional outcomes such as Kuh's (2003) definition.

Implications for Practice and Policy

Based on the findings of this study, there are numerous implications for practice that can impact all community college stakeholders.

First, implementation of teaching strategies that promote social presence should be the focus of online courses. In our study, online engagement activities that promote social presence were the least likely to be implemented yet had the most impact as a predictor of online student engagement. It was not clear as to why social presence activities were not as readily included in these online courses but the problem may be multi-faceted. First, faculty may be unaware of the impact these teaching strategies have on student engagement and may lack practical knowledge of ways to incorporate them into their courses. Second, online faculty may have previous barriers from their own experiences or anecdotes from other facility in which the social interaction didn't seem meaningful or perhaps found it too time-consuming to coordinate and moderate. In this study, faculty were less likely to incorporate a personal photo or video into their online courses, which may indicate hesitancy in promoting their own social presence.

Identifying barriers and providing faculty with practical ways to incorporate interaction between students, moderate group work and promote community would be most impactful. In previous literature, online faculty expressed concern about the time involved in reviewing and communicating via written text. In a Gates Foundation survey of approximately 4,000 higher education faculty in 2015, barriers to implementing teaching strategies included perceptions

shared by colleagues, lack of time and resources, lack of knowledge of techniques and known benefits (FTI Consulting/ Gates Foundation, 2015). The 2015 FTI/Gates Foundation survey identified that faculty are goal oriented and driven by student success. Faculty training about social presence techniques should address these barriers and include course goals which include social presence activities with proven outcomes. In addition, social presence should be promoted through faculty learning circles, support from course designers and continuing education offered in college and university teaching and learning centers.

Second, training in online student engagement is crucial, as affirmed by this study and previous researchers. Previous data about online faculty training indicated that online faculty are woefully undersupported and that implementation has not been strategic nor consistent (Lammers, Bryant, Michel, & Seaman, 2017). However, in our study 85.1% of participants reported receiving prior training in student engagement practices. The extent, quality or focus of the training is unclear. A significant improvement in perceived online student engagement was found in those participants who reported having received training in engagement practices. In addition, utilization of the Community of Inquiry framework teaching practices predicted an increase in student engagement. These findings support the case for ongoing emphasis on training about the Community of Inquiry strategies but should also include general background of online pedagogy and learning theory, as noted by Mandernach et al., (2015).

Third, orientation and training for both full-time and part-time faculty should be implemented consistently for all. Part-time faculty outnumber full-time faculty within community college settings so it is critical that training be conducted consistently. Because the number of course sections taught in an academic year was a significant predictor of higher online student engagement in this study, those faculty who teach only a few online courses or teach

part-time should be a priority for training and course audits. Orientation and training should be scheduled at times that meet the needs of all faculty through a variety of training modes. Part-time faculty can provide valuable insight into teaching approaches based on their diverse experiences and these ideas should be incorporated into the training curriculum.

Fourth, online course standards along with faculty expectations for teaching online should focus on building relationships with students. As noted throughout the literature, connectivity, interaction and open communication were all key to engaging online students. Successful engagement appears to require the right set of teaching skills and instructor attributes. In addition, with the myriad of learning management system tools readily available, the key is to utilize them effectively to accommodate a variety of learning styles. Through support of course designers, centers for teaching and learning, and faculty mentoring, online courses should be built and revised with relationship-building as a priority. Pre-course checklists should be utilized to audit online courses to determine how standards for interactivity, communication and sense of presence are met through tools, course policies and pedagogy. Review of student feedback should also be used to coach faculty in trending areas that may be lacking.

Finally, institutions and academic programs should embody and promote a consistent definition of online student engagement both on the macro and micro level; one that encompasses all aspects of online presence so faculty have a clear mission to engage online students. Faculty have been found to be goal oriented and long-term goals should be aligned with the global institutional mission and support teaching strategies that promote online success throughout all disciplines. A clear understanding of online student engagement course and program outcomes promotes those critical connections with students that impact course success and ultimately retention.

Recommendations for Future Research

This exploratory study sought to evaluate online student engagement through the community college faculty lens. The findings of this study contributed to existing literature in the areas of online teaching practice, the Community of Inquiry, and an understanding of factors that may impact online student engagement. There are several implications for future research in this area.

First, the survey instrument used in this study should continue to be tested, particularly in estimating online student engagement. There were only five items used to estimate online student engagement and did not include student performance. Additional items measuring students' online activities should be added for improved reliability. In addition, comparing online faculty perceptions with actual student outcome data would further validate this instrument as recommended by Dixson (2015).

Second, part-time faculty in community colleges outnumber full-time faculty as much as three to one and continues to be the highest growth sector of higher education employment in Iowa community colleges (*The annual condition of Iowa's community colleges*, 2016). In this study, a higher proportion of full-time faculty responded to the survey. Additional study should further analyze the training and attitudes of part-time faculty, as their perceptions and behaviors may differ from full-time faculty. Emphasis could include orientation and training since training in online student engagement was found to impact online student engagement in this study.

Third, further analysis should focus on teaching strategies that promote social presence as described in the Community of Inquiry framework. Participants in this study were less likely to report social presence strategies in their courses yet these activities were a significant predictor of online student engagement in our model. In addition, interactive student engagement

activities in other areas of the Community of Inquiry framework also received lower scores.

Further study is needed to understand barriers and challenges in implementing these social presence activities, particularly group work and peer-to-peer interactions that move beyond online discussions. It is unclear if faculty understand the impacts of online social presence and interaction, as well as how to implement and assess these strategies efficiently. Faculty attitudes about the goals, outcomes, and moderation of student-student interaction may impact how readily these activities are implemented.

Fourth, the work of Arbaugh (2008) and Carlon et al. (2012) applied the Community of Inquiry framework to business students and healthcare professions. Both reported that online student engagement is highly dependent on the course topic or program discipline. In this study, all online faculty throughout the community colleges were invited to participate. Data were not collected about course subjects or career pathway programs. The subject of the course may impact students' ability to interact, particularly in online social engagement. In addition, students in remedial courses have been found to be at higher risk of stopping out. It is important to understand how teaching strategies focused on these specific courses might impact online student engagement.

Fifth, faculty perceptions and beliefs about online student engagement were uncovered in this study but it is unclear if the definition of engagement led to practices that aligned with their definition. Online faculty reported definitions that fell into each area of the Community of Inquiry framework. Further analysis of the current data from this study could investigate whether those faculty who believed that engagement was contingent upon social presence and interaction between students as a community of learners led to increased teaching strategies in this area.

Finally, this study captured faculty perceptions of student engagement. Additional research should include a student outcome component that could connect engagement activities with online course retention and academic success. In this study, faculty readily reported being trained and using teaching strategies that promoted engagement. However, the critical question is "do they really make a difference?"

Conclusion

This study set out to determine how online community college faculty perceived student engagement in their own courses, the extent to which they had implemented engaging teaching strategies, factors that impacted perceptions of online student engagement, and faculty definitions of online student engagement. The goals of the study were achieved and provided evidence that online faculty were engaged in this topic, as shown by the high participation in the study. Overall, faculty believed that their students were engaged in their courses, as evidenced by reported participation and interactivity by their students. Most faculty had received training on online student engagement practices and had implemented strategies that supported the Community of Inquiry framework of teaching, social and cognitive presence. All three presence factors were positive predictors of higher perceived online student engagement, as were the number of online course sections taught in a semester. Social presence strategies were found to be more significant than any other factor. Training was also found to have a significant correlation with higher perceived engagement. These findings provide insight for higher education administrators for continued training and online teaching standards, and need for further study to compare these findings with student outcomes in online course retention and success.

The path forward may best be described by Meyer (2014) in her own recommendations for future research in online student engagement, "Despite its many years of development, online

learning is always new to someone: new instructors, new legislators, new parents and new students... the work of researchers in online learning - and those who communicate findings to the public – will never be done" (p. 101).

REFERENCES

- Akyol, Z., & Garrison, D. R. (2008, Dec). The development of a Community of Inquiry over time in an online course: Understanding the progression and integration of social, cognitive and teaching presence. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*.
- Akyol, Z., & Garrison, D. R. (2011). Understanding cognitive presence in an online and blended community of inquiry: Assessing outcomes and processes for deep approaches to learning. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *42*(2), 233-250. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2009.01029.x
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2011). *Going the distance: Online education in the United States,*2011. Retrieved from Babson Survey Research Group:

 https://www.onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/goingthedistance.pdf
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2014). *Grade change: Tracking online education in the United States*. Retrieved from Babson Survey Research Group:

 https://www.onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/gradechange.pdf
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2015). *Grade Level: Tracking Online Education in the United States*. Retrieved from Babson Survey Research Group:

 http://onlinelearningconsortium.org/read/survey-reports-2014/
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2017). *Digital learning compass: Digital education enrollment report 2017*. Retrieved from Babson Survey Research Group:

 https://www.onlinelearningsurvey.com/faculty.html
- Allen, I. E., Seaman, J., Lederman, D., & Jaschik, S. (2012). *Digital faculty: Professors, teaching and technology, 2012*. Retrieved from Babson Survey Research Group: https://www.onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/digitalfaculty.pdf

- Allen, L. E., & Seaman, J. (2003). Sizing the opportunity: The quality and extent of online education in the United States, 2002 and 2003. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED530060.p
- Anderson, E. F. (2016). Student engagement in online academic courses in a community college system (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest. (10103943)
- Astin, A. W. (1975). Preventing Students from Dropping Out. (1st ed.). San Francisco:
 Jossey-Bass. Arbaugh, J. B., Cleveland-Innes, M., Diaz, S. R., Garrison, D. R., Ice,
 P., Richardson, J. C., & Swan, K. P. (2008). Developing a community of inquiry instrument: Testing a measure of the Community of Inquiry framework using a multi-institutional example. Internet and Higher Education, 11, 133-136.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2008.06.003
- Armellini, A., & De Stefani, M. (2016). Social presence in the 21st century: An adjustment to the Community of Inquiry framework. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(6), 1202-1216. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12302
- Astin, A. (1984). Student involvement: a developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 25(4), 297-308. Retrieved from http://www.kvccdocs.com
- Astin, A. W. (1975). *Preventing students from dropping out*. (1st ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Baker, C. (2010, January). The impact of instructor immediacy and presence for online student affective learning, cognition and motivation. *The Journal of Education Online*, 7(1), 1-30. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ904072.pdf

- Baker, C. (2010, January). The impact of instructor immediacy and presence for online student affective learning, cognition, and motivation. *The Journal of Educators Online*, 7(1). Retrieved from https://www.thejeo.com/archive/2010_7_1
- Batts, D., Pagliari, L., Mallett, W., & McFadden, C. (2010). Training for faculty who teach online. *Community College Enterprise*, *16*(2), 21-31. Retrieved from http://www.schoolcraft.cc.mi.us/cce/
- Bawa, P. (2016, January-March). Retention in online courses: Exploring issues and solutions
 a literature review. *SAGE Open*, 1-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2158244015621777
- Berger, A. E. (2014). *Views of student engagement among students and faculty* (Doctoral dissertation, Pepperdine University). Retrieved from http://pqdtopen.proquest.com/doc/1625430700.html?FMT=ABS
- BestColleges.com. (2016). 2016 Online education trends: Tracking the innovations and issues changing higher education. Retrieved from http://www.bestcolleges.com/wp-content/uploads/2016-trends-in-online-education.pdf
- Bettinger, E., & Loeb, S. (2017). *Promises and pitfalls of online education* (Evldence Speaks Reports, Vol 2, #15). Retrieved from The Brookings Institute:

 https://www.brookings.edu/research/promises-and-pitfalls-of-online-education/
- Bigatel, P., & Williams, V. (2015, Spring). Measuring student engagement in an online program. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, *XVIII*(2). Retrieved from
 - http://www.westga.edu/%7Edistance/ojdla/summer182/bigatel williams182.html

- Bolliger, D. U., & Wasilik, O. (2009, May). Factors influencing faculty satisfaction with online teaching and learning in higher education. *Distance Education*, *30*(1), 103-116. http://dx.doi.org/1080/01587910902845949
- Brewer, E. W., DeJonge, J. O., & Stout, V. J. (2001). Online learning: A historical perspective. In *Moving to online: Making the transition from traditional instruction and communication strategies* (pp. 27-36). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Carini, R. M., Kuh, G. D., & Klein, S. P. (2006). Student engagement and student learning:

 Testing the linkages. *Research in Higher Education*, 47(1), 1-32.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11162-005-8150-9
- Carlon, S., Bennett-Woods, D., Berg, B., Claywell, L., Leduc, K., Marcisz, N., ... Zenoni, L. (2012). The community of inquiry instrument: Validation and results in online healthcare disciplines. *Computers & Education*, 59, 215-221. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2012.01.004
- Carlon, S., Bennett-Woods, D., Berg, B., Claywell, L., Leduc, K., Marcisz, N., ... Zenoni, L. (2012). The community of inquiry instrument: Validation and results in online healthcare disciplines. *Computers & Education*, 59, 215-221. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2012.01.004
- Cassidy, E. D., Colmenares, A., Jones, G., Manolovitz, T., Shen, L., & Vieira, S. (2014).

 Higher education and emerging technologies: Shifting trends in student usage. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 20(), 124-133.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2014.02.003

- Center for Community College Student Engagement. (2014). Contingent commitments:

 Bringing part-time faculty into focus (A special report from the Center for

 Community College Student Engagement). Retrieved from

 http://www.ccsse.org/docs/PTF Special Report.pdf
- Center for Community College Student Engagement. (2015). Engagement rising: A decade of CCSSE data show improvements across the board. Retrieved from www.cccse.org
- Chakraborty, M., & Nafukho, F. M. (2014). Strengthening student engagement: What do students want in online courses? *European Journal of Training and Development*, 38(9), 782-802. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/EJTD.11.2013.0123
- Chickering, A. W., & Ehrmann, S. C. (1996). Implementing the seven principles:

 Technology as lever. *Accounting Education News*, 49, 9-16. Retrieved from https://case.edu/ucite/media/caseedu/ucite/documents/seven_principles.pdf
- Chickering, A. W., & Gamson, Z. F. (1987). Seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education. *AAHE Bulletin*, *39*(7), 3-7. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED282491.pdf
- Clark, L. (2012). When nontraditional is traditional: a faculty dialogue with graduating community college students about persistence. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *36*, 511-519.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2012.664090
- Coates, H. (2007, April). A model of online and general campus-based student engagement.

 *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 32(2), 121-141.

 http://dx.doi.org/1080/02602930600801878

- Coates, H., James, R., & Baldwin, G. (2005). A critical examination of the effects of learning management systems on university teaching and learning. *Tertiary Education and Management*, 11(1), 19-36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11233-004-3567-9
- Cole, P. G., & Chan, L. K. (1994). *Teaching principles and practice* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Prentice Hall.
- Conceicao, S. C. (2006). Faculty lived experiences in the online environment. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *57*(1), 26-45. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1059601106292247
- Cuseo, J. (2010). Fiscal Benefits of Student Retention and First-Year Retention Initiatives

 [Position Paper]. Retrieved from https://www.ohio.edu/fye/.../retention-fiscal-benefits.pdf
- Czerkawski, B. C., & Lyman III, E. W. (2016). An instructional design framework for fostering student engagement in online learning environments. *Tech Trends*, *60*, 532-539. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11528-016-0110-z
- Dabbagh, N. (2007). The online learner: Characteristics and pedagogical implications.

 *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education, 7(3), 217-226. Retrieved from http://www.citejournal.org/volume-7/issue-3-07/general/the-online-learner-characteristics-and-pedagogical-implications/
- Dennen, V. P., Durabi, A. A., & Smith, L. J. (2007, May). nstructor-learner interaction in online courses: The relative perceived importance of particular instructor actions on performance and satisfaction. *Online Learning*, *28*(1), 65-79. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01587910701305319

- Dixson, M. (2015, September). Measuring student engagement in the online course: The online student engagement scale (OSE). *Online Learning*, *19*(4). Retrieved from https://olj.onlinelearningconsortium.org/index.php/olj/article/view/561/165
- Dixson, M. D. (2010). Creating effective student engagement in online courses: What do students find engaging? *Journal of Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *10*(2), 1-13. Retrieved from http://josotl.indiana.edu/article/view/1744
- Dumais, S. A., Rizzuto, T. E., Cleary, J., & Dowden, L. (2013). Stressors and supports for adult online learners: Comparing first- and continuing-generation college students. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 27(), 100-110. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2013.783265
- Faculty Survey of Student Engagement (FSSE). (2017). http://fsse.indiana.edu/html/findings.cfm
- Fisher, K. (2010, May 17). Online student engagement: CCSSE finds enrollment status and online experiences are key. *Community College Week*, 22(20), 7,9. Retrieved from http://npaper-wehaa.com/ccweek/2010/05/17/#?page=7&z=100
- FTI Consulting/ Gates Foundation. (2015). *U.S. Postsecondary Faculty in 2015*. Retrieved from http://postsecondary.gatesfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/US-Postsecondary-Faculty-in-2015.pdf
- Garrison, D. R. (2003). Cognitive presence for effective asynchronous online learning: The role of reflective inquiry, self-direction and metacognition. In J. Bourne & J. C.
 Moore (Eds.), *Elements of quality online education: Practice and direction*, pp. 47-58). Needham, MA: The Sloan Consortium.

- Garrison, D. R. (2016). *Thinking Collaboratively: Learning in a community of inquiry*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Garrison, D. R. (2017). E-learning in the 21st century (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Garrison, D. R., & Arbaugh, J. B. (2007). Researching the community of inquiry framework:

 Review, issues, and future directions. *Internet and Higher Education*, *10*, 157-172.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2007.04.001
- Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2000). Critical inquiry in a text-based environment: Computer conferencing in higher education. *The Internet and Higher Education*, *2*(2-3), 87-103. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu/science/article/pii/S10967516000 00166
- Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2000). Critical inquiry in a text-based environment. *Computer Conferencing in Higher Education*, *2*(), 87-105. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1016/S1096-7516(00)00016-6
- Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2009). The first decade of the community of inquiry framework: A retrospective. *Internet and Higher Education*, 13, 5-9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.10.003
- Garrison, D. R., Cleveland-Innes, M., & Fung, T. S. (2010). Exploring causal relationships among teaching, cognitive and social presence: Student perceptions of the community of inquiry framework. *Internet and Higher Education*, *13*, 31-36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2009.10.002

- Gaytan, J. (2015). Comparing faculty and student perceptions regarding factors that affect student retention in online education. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 29(1), 56-66. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2015.994365
- Gaytan, J., & McEwen, B. C. (2007). Effective online instructional and assessment techniques. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, *21*(3), 117-132. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08923640701341653
- Gliem, J. A., & Gliem, R. R. (2003). Calculating, interpreting, and reporting Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient for Likert-type scales. *Midwest Research-to-Practice Conference in Adult, Continuing and Community Education*, 82-88.
- Gonyea, R. M. (2006, May). 46th Annual Association for Institutional Research Forum.

 Paper presented at the Association for Institutional Research, Chicago, IL. Retrieved from nsse.indiana.edu/pdf/research_papers/Gonyea_AIR2006.pdf
- Goldrick-Rab, S. (2010, September). Challenges and opportunities for improving community college student success. *Review of Educational Research*, 80(3), 437-469. http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0034654310370163
- Hagedorn, L. S. (2012). How to Define Student Retention: A New Look at an Old Problem.
 In A. Seidman (Ed.), College Student Retention: Formula for Student Success (The ACE Series on Higher Education) (2nd ed., pp. 1485-1868). Retrieved from Kindle edition
- Halverson, L. R., Graham, C. R., Spring, K. J., Drysdale, J. S., & Henric, C. R. (2014, January). A thematic analysis of the most highly cited scholarship in the first decade of blended learning research. *Research and Higher Education*, 20, 20-34. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2013.09.004

- Harasim, L. (2000). Shift happens: online education as a new paradigm in learning. *Internet and Higher Education*, *3*(), 41-61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1096-7516(00)00032-4
- Hoekstra, B. (2014). Relating training to job satisfaction: A survey of online faculty members. *Journal of Adult Education*, *43*(1), 1-10. Retrieved from http://digitalcollections.dordt.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1067&context=faculty _work
- Hostetter, C., & Busch, M. (2006, October). Measuring up online: The relationship between social presence and student learning satisfaction. *Journal of Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *6*(2), 1-12. Retrieved from https://josotl.indiana.edu/issue/view/150
- Jackson, L. C., Jones, S. J., & Rodriguez, R. C. (2010). Faculty actions that result in student satisfaction in online courses. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, *14*(4), 78-96. Retrieved from http://onlinelearningconsortium.org/read/journal-issues/
- Jaggars, S. S., Edgecombe, N., & Stacey, G. W. (2013). What we know about online course outcomes. Retrieved from Community College Research Center, Teachers College, Columbia University: http://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/what-we-know-online-course-outcomes.html
- James, S., Swan, K., & Daston, C. (2016, June). Retention, progression and the taking of online courses. *Online Learning*, 20(2), 75-96. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1105922.pdf
- Junco, R. (2011). The relationship between frequency of Facebook use, participation in Facebook activities, and student engagement. *Computers & Education*, *58*(), 162-171. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.08.004

- Kahlenberg, R. D. (2015). *How higher education funding shortchanges community colleges*.

 Retrieved from The Century Foundation: https://s3-us-west
 2.amazonaws.com/production.tcf.org/app/uploads/2015/05/28074131/Kahlenberg_Fu
 ndingShortchanges-2.pdf
- Kentnor, H. E. (2015). Distance education and the evolution of online learning in the united states. *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue*, *17*(1 & 2), 21-34. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.du.edu/law facpub
- Kirkwood Community College. (2016). http://www.kirkwood.edu/site/index.php?p=30199
- Kovalik, C. L., & Hossler, K. A. (2010). Text messaging and the community of inquiry in online courses. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, *6*(2). Retrieved from http://jolt.merlot.org/vol6no2/kovalik 0610.htm
- Kuh, G. D. (2003). What we're learning about student engagement from NSSE. *Change*, 35(2), 24-32. Retrieved from http://eds.b.ebscohost.com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu
- Kuh, G. D., Kinzie, J., Schuh, J. H., & Whitt, E. J. (2010). *Student success in college:*Creating conditions that matter (2nd ed.). Retrieved from Proquest Ebook Central
- Laird, T. F., & Kuh, G. D. (2005). Student experiences with information technology and their relationship to other aspects of student engagement. *Research in Higher Education*, 46(2), 211-233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11162-004-1600-y
- Lammers, E., Bryant, G., Michel, L. S., & Seaman, J. (2017). *Time for class: Lessons for the future of digital courseware in higher education*. Retrieved from http://tytonpartners.com/tyton-wp/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Time-for-Class-_-2017.pdf

- Lane, L. M. (2013, Jan). An open, online class to prepare faculty to teach online. *Journal of Educators Online*, *10*(1). Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1004897
- LaPadula, M. (2003). A comprehensive look at online student support services for distance learners. *American Journal of Distance Education*, *17*(2), 119-128. http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/S15389286AJDE1702 4
- Lichoro, D. M. (2015). Faculty preparedness for transition to teaching line courses in the

 Iowa Community College Online Consortium (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from

 http://lib.dr.iastate/etd/14376
- Lloyd, S. A., Byrne, M. M., & McCoy, T. S. (2012, March). Faculty-perceived barriers of online education. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 8(1), 1-12.
 Retrieved from http://jolt.merlot.org/vol8no1/lloyd_0312.pdf
- Lorenzo, G. (2011). The revitalization of American community colleges: A synthesis of current initiatives, programs, issues & challenges [Technical Report]. Retrieved from EdPath: http://www.edpath.com/index_htm_files/CCPaperFinal.pdf
- Ludwig-Hardman, S., & Dunlap, J. (2003, April). Learner support services for online students: Scaffolding for success. *International Review of Research in Open & Distance Learning*, 4. Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/131
- Mandernach, J., Register, L., & O'Donnell, C. (2015, Spring). Characteristics of adjunct faculty teaching online: Institutional implications. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, *18*(1). Retrieved from wp.westga.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/.../mandernach_register_odonnell181.pdf

- Meyer, K. (2014). How community college faculty members may improve student learning productivity in their online courses. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *38*, 575-587. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2012.676501
- Meyer, K. A. (2014). Student engagement online: What works and why (ASHE Higher Education Report). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Meyer, K. A., & Murrell, V. S. (2014, April). A national study of training content and activities for faculty development for online teaching. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 18(1), 3-18. Retrieved from https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/read/journal-issues/
- Mitchell, L. D., Parlamis, J. D., & Claiborne, S. A. (2015). Overcoming faculty avoidance of online education: From resistance to support to active participation. *Journal of Management Education*, 39(3), 350-371. http://dx.doi.org/DOI: 10.1177/105256291454964
- Mitchell, M., Leachman, M., & Masterson, K. (2016). *Funding down, tuition up*. Retrieved from Center on Budget and Policy Priorities: www.cbpp.org
- Moore, J. L., Dickson-Deane, C., & Galyen, K. (2011). e-Learning, online learning, and distance learning environments: Are they the same? *Internet and Higher Education*, 14, 129-135. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2010.10.001
- Moore, R. L. (2014, March/April). Importance of Developing Community in Distance Education Courses. *Tech Trends*, *58*(2), 20-25. Retrieved from http://http://link.springer.com/journal/11528

- Morgan, K., Williams, K. C., Cameron, B. A., & Wade, C. (2014). Faculty perceptions about online group work. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, *15*(4), 37-41. Retrieved from

 http://eds.h.ebscohost.com.proxy.lib.jastate.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer/vid=1&si
 - http://eds.b.ebscohost.com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=1ce88d3f-d4cc-41f1-a0a1-ad4c513cba56%40sessionmgr101
- Morris, L. V., Finnegan, C., & Sz-shyan, W. (2005). Tracking student behavior, persistence, and achievement in online courses. *Internet and Higher Education*, 8, 221-231. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2005.06.009
- Mueller, B., Mandernach, B. J., & Sanderson, K. (2013, September). Adjunct versus full-time faculty: Comparison of student outcomes in the online classroom. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, *9*(3), 341-352. Retrieved from http://jolt.merlot.org/pastissues.html
- Nagel, L., & Kotze, T. G. (2010, January). Supersizing e-learning: What a CoI survey revealed about teaching presence in a large online class. *Internet and Higher Education*, *13*(1-2), 45-51. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/jiheduc.2009.12.001
- Nandi, D., Hamilton, M., & Harland, J. (2015). What factors impact student-content interaction in fully online courses. *International Journal of Modern Education and Computer Science*, 7, 28-35. http://dx.doi.org/doi:105815/ijmecs.2015.07.04
- National Center for Education Statistics [The Condition of Education Indicator Report].

 (2015). Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_csb.asp

 National Center for Education Statistics. (2014). http://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/datacenter/

- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). *The condition of education: Chapter 4*Characteristics of postsecondary faculty (NCES 2017144). Washington, DC:

 Government Printing Office.
- National Survey of Student Engagement. (2017). http://nsse.indiana.edu/html/origins.cfm#background
- Nicolle, P. S., & Lou, Y. (2008). Technology adoption into teaching and learning by mainstream university faculty: A mixed methodology study revealing the "how, when, why and why not". *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, *39*(3), 235-265. http://dx.doi.org/10.2190/EC.39.3.c
- NSSE: From Benchmarks to Engagement Indicators and High-Impact Practices [NSSE Reference Report]. (2014). Retrieved from http://nsse.indiana.edu/html/engagement_indicators.cfm
- Offir, B., Barth, I., Lev, Y., & Shteinbok, A. (2003). Teacher-student interactions and learning outcomes in a distance learning environment. *Internet and Higher Education*, *6*, 65-75. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1016/S1096-7516(02)00162-8
- Otter, R. R., Seipel, S., Graeff, T., Alexander, B., Boraiko, C., Gray, J., ... Sadler, K. (2013).

 Comparing student and faculty perceptions of online and traditional courses. *Internet and Higher Education*, 19, 27-35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2013.08.001
- Ouzts, K. (2006). Sense of Community in Online Courses. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 7(3), 285-296. Retrieved from http://http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu

- Park, J., & Choi, H. J. (2009). Factors influencing adult learners' decision to drop out or persist in online learning. *Educational Teaching & Society*, 12(4), 207-217. Retrieved from
 - https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/152d/86fbe09ce4d476277b2dfacc38f85b2e2754.pdf
- Pelz, B. (2004, June). (My) three principles of effective online pedagogy. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 8(3), 33-46. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ909855
- Peters, K., Jackson, D., Andrew, S., Halcomb, E. J., & Salamonson, Y. (2011, April). Burden versus benefit: Continuing nurse academics' experience of working with sessional teachers. *Contemporary Nurse*, *38*(1-2), 35-44. http://dx.doi.org/10.5172/conu.2011.38.1-2.35
- Pittaway, S. M. (2012). Student and staff engagement: Developing an engagement framework in a faculty of education. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *37*(4), 37-45. http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2012v37n4.8
- Prensky, M. (2001, October). Digital natives, digital immigrants. *On the Horizon*, *9*(5), 1-6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/10748120110424816
- Quality Matters. (2017). http://www.qualitymatters.org
- Quaye, J., & Harper, S. R. (2015). Student Engagement in Higher Education. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Redmond, P., & Lock, J. V. (2006). A flexible framework for online collaborative learning.

 Internet and Higher Education, 9, 267-276.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2006.08.003

- Renard, L. (2005, April). Teaching the DIG generation. *Educational Leadership*, 67(2), 44-47. Retrieved from http://www.journalofleadershiped.org/index.php/issues
- Renes, S. L., & Strang, A. T. (2011). Using technology to enhance higher education.

 *Innovations in Higher Education, 36, 203-213. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10755-010-9167-3
- Revere, L., & Kovach, J. V. (2011, Summer). Online technologies for engaged learning: A meaningful synthesis for educators. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 2(2), 113-124. Retrieved from http://www.infoagepub.com/quarterly-review-of-distance-education.html
- Richie, S., & Hargrove, D. S. (2005, October 1). An analysis of effectiveness of telephone intervention in reducing and improving grades of college freshmen. *Journal of College Student Retention*.
- Robinson, C. C., & Hullinger, H. (2008, November/December). New benchmarks in higher education: Student engagement in online learning. *Journal of Education for Business*, 84(2), 101-109. http://dx.doi.org/10.3200/JOEB.84.2.101-109
- Rovai, A. P. (2003). In search of higher persistence rantes in distance education online programs. *Internet and Higher Education*, *6*(), 1-16. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1096-7516(02)00158-6
- Rovai, A. P., & Wighting, M. J. (2005). Feelings of alienation and community among higher education students in a virtual classroom. *Internet and Higher Education*, 8(), 97-110.
- Ruffalo Noel Levitz. (2016). 2015-2016 national online learners satisfaction and priorities report. Retrieved from http://www.learn.ruffalonl.com/rs/395-EOG-977/2015-16OnlineLearnersReport.pdf

- Santos Laanan, F., Compton, J. I., & Friedel, J. N. (2006). The role of career and technical education in Iowa community colleges. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *30*(4), 293-310. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10668920500479184
- Schindler, L., Puls-Elvidge, S., Welzant, H., & Crawford, L. (2015). Definitions of quality in higher education: A synthesis of literature. *Higher Learning Research*Communications, 5(3), 3-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.18870/hlrc.v5i3.244
- Schreiner, L. A., Noel, P., Anderson, E., & Cantwell, L. (2011, May-June). The impact of faculty and staff on high-risk college student persistence. *Journal of College Student Development*, *52*(3), 321-338. http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/csd.2011.0044
- Sener, J. (2012). The seven futures of American education: Improving learning and teaching in a screen captured world. North Charleston, SC: CreateSpace.
- Shea, P., & Bidjerano, T. (2012). Learning presence as a moderator in the community of inquiry model. *Computers and Education*, *59*, 316-326.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2012.01.011
- Shea, P., Hayes, S., Vickers, J., Gozza-Cohen, M., Uzuner, S., Mehta, R., ... Rangan, P. (2010). The re-examination of the community of inquiry framework: Social network and content analysis. *Internet and Higher Education*, *13*, 10-21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2009.11.002
- Shea, P., Li, C. S., & Pickett, A. (2006). A study of teaching presence and student sense of learning community in fully online and web-enhanced college courses. *Internet and Higher Education*, *9*, 175-190. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2006.06.005
- Shelton, K., & Saltsman, G. (2005). *An administrator's guide to online education*.

 Greenwich, CT: United States Distance Learning Association.

- Simpson, O. (2012). Supporting Students for Success in Online and Distance Education (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Stanford-Bowers, D. E. (2008, March). Persistence in online classes: A study of perceptions among community college stakeholders. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, *4*(1). Retrieved from http://jolt.merlot.org/vol4no1/stanford-bowers0308a.htm
- Stavredes, T. M., & Herder, T. M. (2015). Engaging Students in an Online Environment. In S. J. Quaye & S. R. Harper (Eds.), *Student Engagement in Higher Education* (2nd ed., pp. 257-269). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Stenard, L. (2005, April). Teaching the DIG generation. *Educational Leadership*, 62(7), 44-47. Retrieved from http://www.journalofleadershiped.org/index.php/issues
- Stewart, B. L., Goodson, C., & Miertschin, S. L. (2010). Off-site faculty: Perspectives on online experiences. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, *11*(3), 187-191.

 Retrieved from

 http://eds.b.ebscohost.com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=7bc1

 9369-e5ab-4cb5-b81e-cd934c0d190a%40sessionmgr102&vid=5&hid=112
- Stott, P. (2016). The perils of a lack of student engagement: Reflections of a "lonely, brave, and rather exposed" online instructor. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(1), 51-64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bjct.12215
- Swartzwelder, K. (2014). Examining the effect of texting on students' perceptions of learning. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *35*(6), 405-407. http://dx.doi.org/10.5480/12-1012.1

- Tabata, L. N., & Johnsrud, L. K. (2008). The impact of faculty attitudes toward technology, distance education, and innovation. *Research in Higher Education*, *49*, 625-646. http://dx.doi.org/DOI 10.1007/s11162-008-9094-7
- The annual condition of Iowa's community colleges 2016 [Iowa Department of Education

 Annual Report]. (2016). Retrieved from

 https://www.educateiowa.gov/sites/files/ed/documents/2016%20Condition%20of%20

 Community%20Colleges.pdf
- Tinto, V. (1987). Leaving college. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Tinto, V. (1993). *Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Tirrell, T., & Quick, D. (2012). Chickering's Seven Principles of Good Practice: Student attrition in community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *36*(8), 580-590. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10668920903054907
- Trowler, V. (2010). Student engagement literature review. Retrieved from The Higher

 Education Academy: Lancaster University:

 http://www.new2.heacademy.ac.uk/assets/documents/studentengagement/StudentEng
 agementLiteratureReview.pdf
- U.S. 2010 Census Data. (2010). https://www.census.gov/2010census/data/
- Urdan, T. C. (2010). Statistics in Plain English (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routlege.
- Wallace, R. M. (2003, July). Online learning in higher education: A review of research on interactions among teachers and students. *Education, Communication, & Information*, 3(2), 241-280. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1463631032000092046

- Windes, D. L., & Lesht, F. L. (2014). The effects of online teaching experience and institution type on perceptions of teaching online. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, *17*(1). Retrieved from www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/spring171/windes lesht171.html
- Wingo, N. P., Ivankova, N. V., & Moss, J. A. (2017). Faculty perceptions about teaching online: Exploring the literature using the technology acceptance model as an organizing framework. *Online Learning*, 21(1), 15-35.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.10.24059/olj.v21i1.761
- Wolf, P. (2006). Best practices in the training of faculty to teach online. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 17(2), 47-78. Retrieved from https://link-springer-com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu/content/pdf/10.1007%2FBF03032698.pdf
- Workman, J. J., & Stenard, R. A. (1996, Oct). Student support services for distance learners.

 *DEOSNEWS, 6(3). Retrieved from http://www.ed.psu.edu/acsde/deos/deosnews/deosnews6_3.asp
- Young, S. (2006). Student views of effective online teaching in higher education. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 20(2), 65-77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15389286ajde2002_2
- Zhang, J., & Walls, R. T. (2006). Instructors' self-perceived pedagogical principle implementation in the online environment. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 7(4), 413-426. Retrieved from http://eds.b.ebscohost.com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=fed6377a-8e50-4179-bcef-9ea67d2c2f96%40sessionmgr102

Zhao, J. J., Alexander, M. W., Perreault, H., Waldman, L., & Truell, A. D. (2009). Faculty and student use of technologies, user productivity, and user preference in distance education. *Journal of Education for Business*, 84(4), 206-212. http://dx.doi.org/10.3200/JOEB.84.4.206-212

APPENDIX A. ONLINE STUDENT ENGAGEMENT SURVEY

Online Faculty Student Engagement Survey Instrument (8/17)

Demographic Information How long have you been teaching in higher education?

9.

	1. First year	
	2. 1-3 years	
	3. 4-6 years	
	4. 7-10 years	
	5. 11-14 years	
	6. 15 years or more	
10.	 How long have you been teaching online? Less than one year 1-3 years 4-6 years 7-10 years 11-14 years 	
	6. 15 years or more	
11.	. Employment status at your primary institution:	
11.	1. Full-time 2. Part	-time
13.		
		ter's degree
		essional degree (MD, JD, PharmD)
	5. Associate's degree 6. Other	r
14.	. Did you participate in an orientation geared towa	ard online teaching? 1. Yes 2. No
15.	. Have you received continuing education about h environment?	ow to increase student engagement in an online learning 1. Yes 2. No
16.	. On average, how many online courses (sections)	do you teach each year?
17.		h online students? (Check all that apply)
	1. Internal college e-mail	
	 Student's personal e-mail Phone 	
	4. Text	
	5. Personal meeting	
	6. Social media	
	7. If using social media, which platforms?	
1.0		
18.	about any aspect of the online course?	n-day week do you spend giving feedback to students
	1. None 5. 13-16 2. 1-4 6. 17-20	
	2. 1-4 6. 1/-20 3. 5-8 7. 21-30	
	4. 9-12 8. 31 hours	or more
	7. 7-12 0. 31 nours	or more

Vance Aguiar 11/19/2017 1

19. 1	How frequently (minimum) do you expert 1. Daily 2. 3-4 times weekly 3. Once a week 4. Less than weekly	ect students to log in to your online course?
24.	What online teaching tools do you re 1. Assignment dropboxes 2. Quizzes 3. Discussions 4. Blogs 5. Recorded lectures/ video	eadily use in your online courses (select all that apply) 6. Gradebook 7. Rubrics 8. Calendar 9. Announcements 10. Interactive text reading 11. Other
20.	Gender: 1. Male 3. Another	2. Female4. Prefer not to answer
21.	Age: 1. Under 30 years 3. 40-49 5. 60 and over	 30-39 50-59 Prefer not to answer
22.	Ethnicity: (Check all that apply) 1. Hispanic/Latino/Latina 3. African-American, non-Hispanic 5. Asian/Pacific Islander 7. Other	 White, non-Hispanic American Indian/Alaskan Native Multi-racial Prefer not to answer

Teaching, Cognitive and Social presence

Think about online courses you have taught during the past year. For each of the following statements below, indicate how strongly you agree with each as it relates to the primary course you teach.

	Faculty Engagement Behavior	5	4	3	2	1
#2	Teaching Presence	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neither	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
1	I provide continual, immediate feedback to students (within 1 week of submission)	rigice				Disagree
2	I provide detailed feedback to students about all areas of learning assessment.					
3	I incorporate multiple instructional strategies into my online course (videos, web links, virtual discussions)					
4	My course is set up in an organized way using the appropriate tools within the learning management system.					
5	I provide explanation about how to participate in the course and its components					
6	I clarify student thinking about concepts based on assignments and assessments.					
7	I present opposing views about my course topic when appropriate for students to analyze.					
8	I work to establish a sense of community among students within the online course.					
9	I communicate my availability and accessibility to students throughout the course.					
10	I communicate with students in multiple ways.					
11	I express passion for the course content					
12	Students get to know me as a person.					
13	I have incorporated a personal photo and/or video in the course so students can visualize their instructor.					
#3	Cognitive Presence					
1	My online course is as rigorous as a similar course presented in the traditional format					
2	I provide thought-provoking questions in online discussions.					
3	I provide course content that is relevant to real-life situations.					
4	I promote ways for students to apply coarse material to real-life situations.					
5	I promote ways for students to develop solutions to problems presented from course material.					
#4	Social Presence					
1	My students establish a good rapport with one another within my course.					
2	My course provides opportunities for dynamic interaction throughout the course.					
3	I express care and attentiveness to students' needs.					
4	I actively participate in online discussion.					
5	My students have opportunities for peer review.					
6	My students have opportunities to participate in group projects that involve problem solving.					
7	My students have multiple opportunities to interact with one another throughout the course.					
8	My students have opportunities to provide support for one another.					
9	My students are encouraged to share differing points of view about course topics.					

Think about online courses you have taught during the past year. For each of the following statements below, indicate how strongly you agree with each as it relates to student engagement in the primary course you teach.

#5	Perceived Student Engagement	5	4	3	2	1
		Strongly Agree	Agree	Neither	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
1	Students regularly log into the online course throughout the semester					
2	Students regularly complete assigned work and assessments by course deadlines.					
3	Students actively participate in online discussions					
4	Students get to know other online students					
5	Students use critical thinking to provide solutions to proposed problems.					
6	Students perform well on quizzes and tests.					
7	Students receive good grades.					

Overall Engagement Question

6. Thinking about overall engagement with your online students this past semester, how would you rate their level of engagement on this scale, with 10 being the highest/most engaged and 1 being the lowest/least engaged. Slide bar to rating.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Open-ended Questions

- 7. In a sentence of two, how do you define online student engagement?
- 8. Briefly describe what you believe is the most important teaching strategy you use to engage online students.

11/19/2017 1 Vance Aguiar

APPENDIX B. SURVEY INTRODUCTION

Dear Online Faculty,

Community College is participating in some very applicable education research, conducted through Iowa State University School of Education. The study focuses on online student engagement in Iowa Community Colleges. The research is being conducted by a long-time distance education instructor at Kirkwood Community College, Alicia Vance Aguiar.

As the busy Fall 2017 semester begins, we are asking that you take **about 10 minutes** to complete a survey regarding your current online teaching practices and how engaged you estimate your online students have been in your recent online teaching experiences.

This research will guide how we orient and train faculty by gaining a better understanding about teaching practices that engage students and hopefully improve course success and ultimately, online student retention. We will to send a summary of the results later in the semester so you can review the findings.

Your responses are confidential and there are no college identifiers associated with the survey. Please visit the following link to complete this brief survey.

<u>Link to Online Faculty Engagement Survey Iowa Community Colleges</u> Thanks so much for your time!

Alicia Vance Aguiar, PhD Candidate Iowa State University

APPENDIX C. SURVEY VARIABLE CODE BOOK

Variable Label	Description	Format	Variable Name/Values	Purpose
Experience teaching in higher ed.	Demographic	Numeric, ordinal Width = 1	YrsExpEdu 1 = "1st year", 2 = "1-3 years", 3 = "4-6 years", 4 = "7-10 years", 5 = "11-14 years", 6 = "15 years+"	Descriptive
Experience teaching online	Demographic	Numeric, ordinal Width = 1	YrsExpOE 1 = "<1 year", 2 ="1-3 years", 3 = "4-6 years", 4 = "7-10 years", 5 = "11-14 years", 6 = "15 years+"	Descriptive
Employment Status	Demographic	Numeric, categorical, binary Width = 1	Fulltime 1 = "full-time", 2 = "part-time"	Descriptive, correlation, regression
Highest Degree Attained	Demographic	Numeric, categorical Width = 1	Degree 1 = "Doctoral", 2 = "Master's", 3 = "Bachelors", 4 = "Professional", 5 = "Associates", 6 = "other"	Descriptive, correlation, regression
Online Orientation	Demographic	Numeric, categorical, binary Width = 1	Orient 1 = "yes", 2 = "no"	Descriptive, correlation, regression
Engagement Training	Demographic	Numeric, categorical, binary Width = 1	Train 1 = "yes", 2 = "no"	Descriptive, correlation, regression
Number Course Sections NEW	Demographic	Numeric, continuous Width = 2	Courses (Code number of course)	Descriptive, regression
Communication with Students	Demographic	Numeric, categorical Width = 1	ComMethds 1 = "College e-mail", 2 = "Personal e-mail", 3 = "Phone", 4 = "Text", 5 = "Face-to-face Meeting", 6 = "Social media", 7 = "other", 8 = "Web Meetings", 9 = "Discussions", 10 = "Online Chat", 11 = "announcements"	Descriptive
Total Communication Modes NEW	Demographic	Numeric, continuous Width = 2	CommTotal (Code number of total modes)	Descriptive, regression
Student Log-in Frequency	Student Engagement	Numeric, ordinal Width = 1	LogInFreq 1 = " <weekly", 2 = "1-2 times/week", 3 = "3-4 times/ week", 4 = "daily"</weekly", 	Descriptive
Online Teaching Tools Utilized	Demographic/ Faculty Engagement	Numeric, categorical Width = 1	Tools 1 = "assignment drop boxes", 2 = "quizzes", 3 = "discussions", 4 = "blog", 5 = "video", 6 = "grade book", 7 = "rubrics", 8 = "calendar", 9 = "announcements", 10 = "interactive text reading", 11 = "other"	Descriptive

Total Teaching Tools NEW	Demographic	Numeric, continuous Width = 2	ToolsTotal (Code number of total tools)	Descriptive, regression
Gender	Demographic	Numeric, categorical, binary Width = 2	Gender 1 = "male", 2 = "female", 3 = "another", 4 = "not answered"	Descriptive
Age	Demographic	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2	Age 1 = "30 or under, 2 = "30-39", 3 = "40-49", 4 = "50-59", 5 = "60 years or more", 6 = "not answered"	Descriptive
Ethnicity	Demographic	Numeric, categorical Width = 2	Ethnic 1 = "African American/non-Hispanic", 2 = "American Indian/Alaska Native", 3 = "Pacific Islander", 4 = "Hispanic, Latino/Latina", 5 = "white, non-Hispanic", 6 = "multi-racial", 7 = "other", 8 = "not answered"	Descriptive
I provide timely feedback to students on written assignments (within 1 week of submission)	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP1 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I provide detailed feedback that guides students toward learning objectives	Teachin g Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP2 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I incorporate multiple instructional strategies into my online course (videos, web links, virtual discussions)	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP3 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My course is set up in an organized way, using appropriate tools within the learning management system.	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP4 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I provide explanation to students (in any format) about how to participate in the course and	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP5 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression

use of its components.				
I correct student thinking about concepts based on performance on assignments and assessments	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP6 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I work to establish a sense of community among students.	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP7 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I communicate my availability and accessibility to students throughout the course.	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP8 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I communicate with students in multiple ways (e- mail, text, phone)	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP9 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I express passion for the course.	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP10 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
Throughout the course, students get to know me as a person.	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP11 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I have incorporated a personal photo and/or video in the course so students can "visualize" their instructor.	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP12 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I present opposing views about my course topics.	Teaching Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	TP13 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My online course is as rigorous as a similar course	Cognitive Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	CP1 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither	Frequency, reliability, regression

presented in a traditional lecture format.			agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	
I provide thought- provoking questions as part of assignments or discussions.	Cognitive Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	CP2 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I provide course content that is relevant to real- life situation.	Cognitive Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	CP3 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I provide ways to students to apply course material to real-life situations.	Cognitive Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	CP4 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I promote ways for students to develop solutions to problems presented from course material.	Cognitive Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	CP5 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students establish good rapport with one another with my course.	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP1 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My course provides opportunities for dynamic interaction throughout the course.	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP2 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I express care and attentiveness to students' needs.	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP3 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
I actively participate in online discussion by responding to individual posts.	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP4 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students have opportunities	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP5 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither	Frequency, reliability, regression

within the course for peer review.			agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	
My students have opportunities to participate in group projects that involve problem solving.	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP6 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students have multiple opportunities to interact with one another throughout the course.	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP7 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students have opportunities to provide academic or emotional support for one another.	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP8 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students are actively encouraged to share differing points of view about course topics.	Social Presence	Numeric, ordinal Width = 2 Decimals = 2	SP9 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students regularly (3-4x/wk) log in to the online course throughout the semester.	Online Engagement	Numeric, ordinal Dependent variable Width = 2 Decimals = 2	OE1 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students regularly complete assigned work and assessments by course deadlines.	Online Engagement	Numeric, ordinal Dependent variable Width = 2 Decimals = 2	OE2 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students actively participate in online discussions by responding to other posts in meaningful ways.	Online Engagement	Numeric, ordinal Dependent variable Width = 2 Decimals = 2	OE3 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
My students get to know other online students in the course.	Online Engagement	Numeric, ordinal Dependent variable Width = 2 Decimals = 2	OE4 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 =	Frequency, reliability, regression

			"Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	
My students routinely use critical thinking to provide solutions to proposed problems.	Online Engagement	Numeric, ordinal Dependent variable Width = 2 Decimals = 2	OE5 1 = "Strongly disagree", 2 = "Disagree", 3 = "Neither agree nor disagree", 4 = "Agree", 5 = "Strongly agree"	Frequency, reliability, regression
Overall Engagement Scale	Engagement Scale	Numeric, continuous Width = 2 Decimals = 2	OESCALE (Number 1-10)	Descriptive
Most Effective Engagement Strategy	Online Engagement	Text Entry Width = 2000	EngageStrat	Qualitative
\Definition Online Student Engagement	Online Engagement	Text Entry Width = 2000	Definition	Qualitative

APPENDIX D IRB DOCUMENT

IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Institutional Review Board Office for Responsible Research Vice President for Research 2420 Lincoln Way, Suite 202 Ames, Iowa 50014 515 294-4566

Date:

5/1/2017

To:

Alicia Vance Aguiar

1448 Parkwood Drive SE

Cedar Rapids, IA 52403

From:

Office for Responsible Research

Title:

Faculty Impacts on Online Student Engagement in Community Colleges

IRB ID:

17-185

Study Review Date: 5/1/2017

The project referenced above has been declared exempt from the requirements of the human subject protections regulations as described in 45 CFR 46.101(b) because it meets the following federal requirements for exemption:

- . (2) Research involving the use of educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey or interview procedures with adults or observation of public behavior where
 - o Information obtained is recorded in such a manner that human subjects cannot be identified directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects; or
 - Any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research could not reasonably place the subject at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to their financial standing, employability, or reputation.

CC: Dr. Linda Serra Hagedom

E262 Lagomarcino Hall

The determination of exemption means that:

- You do not need to submit an application for annual continuing review.
- You must carry out the research as described in the IRB application. Review by IRB staff is required prior to implementing modifications that may change the exempt status of the research. In general, review is required for any modifications to the research procedures (e.g., method of data collection, nature or scope of information to be collected, changes in confidentiality measures, etc.), modifications that result in the inclusion of participants from vulnerable populations, and/or any change that may increase the risk or discomfort to participants. Changes to key personnel must also be approved. The purpose of review is to determine if the project still meets the federal criteria for exemption.

Non-exempt research is subject to many regulatory requirements that must be addressed prior to implementation of the study. Conducting non-exempt research without IRB review and approval may constitute non-compliance with federal regulations and/or academic misconduct according to ISU policy.

Detailed information about requirements for submission of modifications can be found on the Exempt Study Modification Form. A Personnel Change Form may be submitted when the only modification involves changes in study staff. If it is determined that exemption is no longer warranted, then an Application for Approval of Research Involving Humans Form will need to be submitted and approved before proceeding with data collection.

Please note that you must submit all research involving human participants for review. Only the IRB or designees may make the determination of exemption, even if you conduct a study in the future that is exactly like this study.

Please be aware that approval from other entities may also be needed. For example, access to data from private records (e.g. student, medical, or employment records, etc.) that are protected by FERPA, HIPAA, or other confidentiality policies requires permission from the holders of those records. Similarly, for research conducted in institutions other than ISU (e.g., schools, other colleges or universities, medical facilities, companies, etc.), investigators must obtain permission from the institution(s) as required by their policies. An IRB determination of exemption in no way implies or guarantees that permission from these other entities will be granted.

Please don't hesitate to contact us if you have questions or concerns at 515-294-4566 or IRB@iastate.edu.